
ETC I J
g-- - - r-

- - - i

r RHHHr m SKKBEKKw jflHHv JIHJIJr M Jm

.F mamgmgmgmm MHMBBT MKKJ jjammmmf h fZ!!r
Br 4 v i

" y r

VrAIr am m m m m m

Br r V ? m My HfbSB



' fflKFifr&"'
StPfoi

1 izjTFst'it0- - -

'Hem

K&-JH- .'
Up pi

I If DEL
'"

. .
'" ' 'St k. ' '- -' '

"-'.'-

:''' ' .HlWitness. Direct , Gross Re-D- ;f 'RerO
"

T2h(

PRIEDA, MIIOVIT2, - 2 18

MRS. MARY MAHONEY,
'

60 ...'':'
ROS& CORlIEIrL, .

' 62

PRIEDA SMIIOVITZ ,'(Reo ailed) 65

MRS. GUSSIE WEINER, 71 - 80

MRS. PAULINE -- NUS SB AUM, 100 10? 108
"

MISS -- ANNA COSBY, '.
'

109

JAMES DALTON, 111 111

MINNIE SMITH. 115 '121 132 ,M; ,,

'!P-- '

jtefe'.W8HIW"ltft'S''
.

7,7



,-- Vv t H''

MarbVl2tn, 1914. '$pf
wszniHi ivii

IN D E X,

'" --
.-- IfWitness, Direct Cross's, Re-D- Vj Re-- C.

. v. .V.T '

. .
'

ERANK ROSS, .

'j'j I

'HARRY COHEN, '

CLARIES WEINTRAUB , 193

MAX GURIEN,.

HARRT ROSEN,
y

'
:-

-f

' '''
.FRIEDA SMILOVITZ;;

i ? .. . -- yi
, iENA EEINBERG,. C' 211

"

'te
' " 'M

f SAMUEL GOLDBERG,

t. ERIEDA SMIIOVITZ, k15

J- - V'-4-
"



jit w
OF GENERAL SESSIONS OF THE PEAQE,

iy and Oounty, of New York, Part III. ma r22&0 t IP E
PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MEW YORK, Before t,

0" ? Jwt
--v If

HON. CHARGES 0'. NOTT,,' f.$V;v!
ft

CHARGES WEINTRAUB . And a duryi

if i

JtW fir .JEflifc3W
4 xr'jaamwik

New York. March 11. 1914.
--- '--

,1 Indicted for seduction under promise of marriage

Indic-tmeirrmrdFetrua- ry , 3rd 1914 .

Appear an c .e s:
: For People: MILIARD H. ELLISON, ESQ.; Deputy Assistant

' District Attorney.

For Defendant: BERNARD SANDIER, ESQ.

A jury is duly impaneled and sworn.
..

.i-.iBd&-

fl

Mr. Ellison-proceed- s to open to the, jury in behalf of" r '

the People.

During 'his opening address Mr. Ellison says, speaking
Jv of "the del "aidant', MHe told her he wanted her to go on the

Pr
" EXistreets --- -"

r

4 MR,. " SANDIER : Objected to. He is beingtried for

seduction, not for white slavery.
"3 I

THE OOURT: I will reserve my decision on that. It
may be admissible on the question, of his motive.

MR. ELLISON; That is just what I wint to show.

MR. SANDIER: Exception, i

OURT: " Well, wait until that praof is offered; f

- jS
4



Hferir nSHHH -- '. --2t
EIWSlM t refer tb it noww The'O'ury are "instructed for the presentrai.M - '' "..' IL .,' ' ."" ..

1st' 7' l3 d i s regard-any- -a tat emeht madp-- aa jboyia . the jiefendant wished

complaining witness to do- - Ho such statement can be considered;
4S8& r ' '

. .. . -- '"
-- ! A i t' 1 i n 4 Vh j-l- 44 - 4 tr)Ni f f 14 uMToaAitAM1 . nttii&? ,u,yyuu uiiJ-o.u-o out? c v iucnvc xu , uuuu v ucu ouuoouoiiox uy wio vuuio

Bps- -
f ,

'""' r ''...' ' ' '

fflp r
" ''' (Mr. Ellison concludes 'opening address to the Jury.)

'' " ' "
' '

('" '.-- . -
.

- -
MR. ELLTSOtt: ,A.t this-stag- e of the case I ask that the witnesses

.

on both
,
sides be excluded from the Court room, my witnesses as well

i ' w

' ' ' .
'i - - '

':.(

. ks the" defendant's witnesses...''' '.'.- -

. ''. '''.'.-.,!.'""''-
'

' '

,--
.' ";:. :

MR. SAIiDLJlR: Also some of the witnesses who may not be witness

but agents, of the complainant. .,"

UR. ELLISON: There is no agent. Miss Perlman of the United
'.'".-- "

' ' ,'

Hebrew Charities, if you want her to leave, I' am satisfied.
. ' ''' :'.' '. ..,"' .-.-

.',

.-

- ."
....--

'; a
THE COURT: I--wil-

l only exclude the wi tries ses. '

"' ' ":"':' ':
.

'';--
. '.'. ': "':'.

'

:-

- ": --

'

.

'
C

F R I E D A II I L 0 V- - I T Z ..--

., called as.a, wj-tnes- s in behalf ' of thef

People , being-fi'- f s t duly sworn , tas tif i es S3 . follows :.

DIRECT EXAMIIIATJOWY-IIRv-LLISOl- T: r

Q Yhere do you live? A I live at 260 West 143rd St.,
' - -...,-'"- '

'

.
''--

-
J'--

ie i

.with, my sister.4 -

Q How long have you been -- living in this country? A Three

and a half years.

Q When did you come over here? A 1910; August 16th,

the steamer came; on the 17th my sister took me of-f- i the steamer,

Paula ITusfehaum. "t
Q "Where did you come from? A Efom HOhgary.

M.-C'- S yea have been in this country for three and a half



tf '

years, -- what have you been-'doin- g for a living? A- - Well, I havei"5,! i . . . . , i . j . wiri-- f I '

i Vm

ip.been doing living-ou-t "work-- in a place.. . -- , ',

"

- ,'Y. 1 1Q You mean working as a servant? A 'As g servant girl; 1
' 1-- - it II

. --A"
arid I worked in a fao-tror- y too a couple of months.

Q You have supported yourself "by hard labor, you mean? A
i

w ' 1Yes, sir I ff

Q Do ycu know this defendant, Charges Weintraub? A ,Yesjsir VmM

B
Q' Vhen and where did you meet him for the first time? ,A

r-?- bi 'jotWrnsB

i

.This summer I met him in Classon Point.
I ft " Do you remember what month it was, whether July or Augus?"H vsfjs

A - It was August, the 24th, on a Sunday. ,
i

Q And with whom were youiAt Glass on Point?- - A I have been
M ."

wixh my sister and bro'thex in law and some more friends.
Q A family outing party, .is that.it? Yes, sir," we

went ail bathing. 'V

f , Q And while you were there you met the jefndant? A YeB,sir.
Q, Had you ever seen him before' that day? A Yes,sirL I had

"
. ' - -- n v 7"

m 1

seen him two years ago around my house. -
,

Q Did he join the party then with your brother in lav and

your sister? jA Yes, air. .

i- -t.

Q Did "he remain with" you? A Well that night he took me home,
A- - over

he took meto a party in 122nd St. and that party told --me that I

sHould go and .stay with her over night because she was a lib alone.

Q Well, anyway, he took you, over some place? A Yes, air,
-

he took L.e home. , i

f

Q From that time in August id yorWfcinue to see him?



''4-tJ&-
& A

i ?

1 , - s.,

Very often. -- - '' ", "j1 ' ' "" .ii.itlllpli l .I, virt;,.!)! I

,Q 'And at 'that time where were youf,lying? ,. A ,Well, T have',g 65? KT

.been living at that'- - tine -- - I suppose ivraa 119-o- r '219 - 130th Qt.fW
i , . "

my sister was living there. '"'tSI
BY TEE COURT:

Q ' You were living with your siaterfs that it? A -- Yes,,. ojT:$
hXdSr

that time 1 was out of work when I met him.
Y .

, .
; :

f s-
- IKn&BiH .41 y ,

0 And vnur.aiBter's name is utfi&t Y A Mrs. tussle weinerw wsegsag-- - ' k

)
BY MR. ELLISON:

Q And you were living with your sister and he called there to''

see you, is that so? Yes, air, very often.

Q Where did you' go?, to work after living with your sister, lirsir c:
j. 11.TfclJg

Gussie Ve'iner? ," A I went to work, 850 East .161st St., by BEST 7 v
1& a

uosoy. . - ?

-- i

0 Were vou workinc for Mrs . Cosbv as a servant? A. A servant
- 1 --" fgirl, yes, Bir.

t

f
N

' Q While you were living at Mrs. Cosby s did this defendant

call on you, or call you up or anything? A- - .He called me up Borne- -

times, twice a 'day; very often. .

' - - jlf' 0, lfoW I want you to tell the jury about how frequently from
' ' ' . i

,

. ,-
- y .

the time that you met him oh Augydtj24th until the time you left
i. . -

.
' - . T''- - - -

M &

Cdsbv's? A August.' the 24 ih? .

' (i '

Q I' say -- from-Augut the 24th until., the time that' you left' ! .

, Gbsby'a, 'how often did yo.u see the defendant, or did he call you up?
,used to call me up sometimes during the week,

' f
.j k eL'li m



&,', -- ",' I

A .r '.

, ....,' ':i-- 5

-- .and, i'n
r , the evening I used .

to meet
,

him, 'and every Week I , have keen
; f f f&CS Mb. .

$ out, but sometimes he uaed to -- - I used to meet him in 122nd St., oryon m .

W&StM HLTLi
a hv

he uaed to make a date with me oh the corner sometimes and I used td

meet him and once he called me up I should me.et him at' 124 th St. and

Third Ave. n&ar his' house, so I methim.

Q You 'used to seeraim very, frequently, is that right?" ' A4 Yea-- : . J
" a
' $Q And you used to go out with hlra too? A Yes, sitf."

J
'

f r
-- rJKanK

9. Did you go cut to theatres with him, or movincr
--'

--nlcturea V A- - 1 '
:m

T --V

,
r

--Rwf

Ho." 1

At
Q Did you go out walking with him A Yes, kometiifies, but

once he took me out to the College Inn,ro a cabaret ahow, with

another very goodfriend of his, and after we came out from that

cabaret show. " .

Q Do you, remember the time that you left, Cosby' o, what' date

that was? A That was October the 27th. '.',-- ,

Q Can you teilTlhls jury when, if at all, he ever spoke to

,you about the subject .of marriage? A Well, the first day he met me

" in Classon Point he says to me,
' "I think you wi 11

" be jusi-th- e- xight
- r i

i -- -

girl for'' me and, I will marry" "Would you marry me?1 I said "I

don't know, I don't know "you so very well, I couldn't promise you." ki ,' '

And then he made a date with me for Wednesday night.".- -

Q The following Wednesday, .after August 24th? A After

August 24th he made a.date with me to meet him by he theatre! in 125th

St., by Prootor's TfcWtre, and 1 was. supposed to go the 27th, but
that llonday when I i&at him I went to Kiss Cosby1 s to work, sol



SsC 'iWi
vITouIcLrt1 1 jfleet hiraon Wednesday, beaouse Wednesday was ; the 27th.'

EST?
' . , , j

Q, Vhat did he say to you on that ooension at Classen Point?. C -- ?

j Ht" -

MR. SANDLER: Objected to- -
t

m

&'' Q What if anything did" he say
ft

to you?
.

,--
m!!

MR.- - SAiTDLER: In view of the fact that she has- - left Claoson 1

Point some time ago and we "are not? over to October 27th. he takes
' f t;t'.J; L

r
1'

us back there and asks her what he"S"aid w
j

t
THE COURT: He ha3 now gone back to the subject of the j1

T;
?-5- 8 ggKt

i . .

proposition of marriagey I will allow it 31b
"JOB

MR. SAEDLER: . Exception. ,
'

1 '
' '-

MR; ELLIS01T: I want to show the relations of the parties. --
s

THE COURT: You can bring out By the witness what was J
1 9
i

said first as to the marriage between these two people. .

3
- Q" What was said the first time at Classon Point? sJust tell

us what you". said and what hesaid. A He said to my sister "Why

don't you introduce me to your sister?" He don't remember me from

two years ago, and my-siete- r didn't want to introduce me because she
i

o

seen he was a kind -- - -

j

MR. SAHDLER:"- - I move to strike that out.
4

- THE .COURT: Yes. Just put your mind on the question and
i i

f
answer.'. only that.q-.u- - . '!. .

L... '

Q .What dide say to you? A' Well? ne told me, I should go
"

out wit him and then' he says "I think you are just the right girl
i

for me; would you marry rae?M" I says "I don't know; I don't know

you so very well, I couldn't promise you."



i
""

, '" 'y
Q And was thatlat. about all that todk plice,'the first time? A, ,u

. .i ' i 'ajuI "couldn't remember any more. vJ"

'5i Hkf
" . ' .4o&vt I

. . i ' . iI4 VinBan-- '

q When-di- d he talk to you . again about the. .subject op. marriage jjSS,
HEH t

after the first time? A .Well, every time he seen me he always.
, f

spoke .about it. ' t
Q, He- - Erlyays told you he wanted to marry you? - v $. Jl47Wffefi

...Jk-.r:i- ai

MR.- - SAHDLER: I.object to the. recapitulation of the tfes'timonvj
-- .T"

- , V,$by the District-Attorney- . . .

THE COURT: I will allow it to stand.

UR. SA1TDLER: I move to strike it from the record. "

illHotion denied; exception. i .

Q Did he say anything to you definitely on or about the 27th or
B

28th day of October, 1913? Did he say anything ,at that time afobttV

k.
carriage? Yea, air.

Q What 'did he say? A Always spoke about marriage.a
Q, What did he 3ay that time? A He -- -

f

i

BY THE COURT:
i

f( . That iB the time you left your place? A The 27th?

Q After iira . Cosby' a.1 What did he tell you then about

getting married? A That time he says tome--!lNo- wt I think we are

going to get married tomorrow." So we were sitting on the carriage

when he took me away, -- r, "But Idpnjt want you to work hard, don't
i

work hard; I will take you to my friends and you staysta: vith ray friends
don't

until Imarry you. " And then he says "We will go out West and I

will wake very good business out there, I will be very successful out
. . . .. .. . ...fVlo-r- a an1 T .4 1 " n Mivwx, wt " fflrxy yc. xr.sfi nrs naia nema3v-m-e out

.

I



Wast; . I said "The nerve vau cot to talk
. . thii way-J'STherL- Hi -- said . :$- -- ,. -- 7. - - -- .. i - i"- - - srv, .. ' 1 ' .- - tew

1 ,
" "" . "" ' ll!l ' "" " i'- -li. 1 ' inn .. I iily. 4 , m ., 1

11 ijwii'i

"We will get married tomorrow, do not worry." .,
BY MR. -- ELLISON - !. V' V

.'. .'; '.. .' ' " .2 HH
Q He said "We will get married tomorrow"? . A. Yes. sir.
A Did you have a talk with Miso- - Cosby then?' A Well"'-- - .

Q After the defendant told you this did you talk vTih.lli'B8

Cootaf? A Well, I told her very often.
fv-- r ,'.. hsBHE,

$f Did-you- " AV-T'iarry-
es surely. .;.- - - . fi&

OL"M

- ,."' v" .'.'. -- fe-r
V. i''SX'

ivq
'

.-

-
'Dii.:--u7'the"3h'''''ieave''th-

e

irM;,-- ,.
Cosby' 0 house after he had r this tallSj .

'' '

' '''' ...'.
with you about promising to marry ;you -- --did you leave the Cosby ',s? - V --m

...1 - ..','"" ' '.'.' . ."" f-- ' t t
1Jr!S5

- '. ' . j . " -

A yes 'sir.
Q, What' day? A Well, the 26th,- - he told me he, wants to-marr- y

,B:....- -
. ;.'w

J. HI1UL1X11 J lHi V CI LiilB bll.' ,f.MB
Q And did you leave? A I did leave, and Miss Cosby took me --

1

but to the carriage.

q Did the defendant come up there with the carriage to bake you

pway? A Yes, sir. '.

i Just tell the jury whereHhe topk 'you? A He took me to

71 West 100 th St., "to Corson1 s, his very best friend. , t''' '..-.- .'
' -

.
-- f,'

To. whom? A Phillip Corson. ; "

Q What happened? . A And theh I slept the re one night and thn
he told me I should stay there till he don't marry me, and I said "All

sx-faX- - I. bagged hi he should let me go and tell ray sisters about

. It ind m objected and said "No , I don t want you ttell your sisters ,

I don't mxfc your sifcr to knowl w.-.gaiij- g to marry; they Should



.0. EmO
t holTkhbw about it bef pre w get 'rarrled, beoelciic our

slaters don't like me and I. kha' taey will '
object? .. The next day

"- -
.

' ' '
: -'- V ::-- . :

hse was supposed to come and marry me and he didn't show-U- p at ail
l V4 sua --,rr rr 1n a- - 1. ? J&l!'.l, I'!

. . - . Twj

0. Do vou remember what day that was? A That was ..the 28th- - ." 1
' ''. Urr" him i1 " '

of October; that was on a Tuesday.' ...

Q .Then what happened? A .-- And then aone of his friends came,!1? Sf'SSi

' ":.' ,''Phi li.it),' Abe and Fanny Die kman -- - Abe Dickman and Eanny Tfcbh&i --- or V.

' ''- - ...' . h-'s- ;. r

whatever her name is, his friend, the 28 th of (jctabe r, and we ail4atel
supper in that restaurant of 'Phillip Corson, all four of .us..

Q You all had dinner in Phillip. Corson's restaurant? . A

Supper, at night. t .

Q Vas the defendant, there? A Yes, he came there.
Q. what took place at the dinner? was anything said about&.TJl

-- ---
'

.
.-

-' SgfcAM i -
-- cflp

. . jfcff awisi vfi
the marriage? , ." ,'..

MR. SANDLER:
.

Objected to as leading. r....' . . .

Objection overruledr
.

exception.
.

A Always about marriage, he. always , spoke .
v.

BY THE COURT:

Q Vhat was said in the restaurant about marriage by the do-fenda- nt?. 79A Well, 'they wished us lupk, they thought we were going

to get married the next day.

Q Tell the jury what the people said and the defendant said

at the doorV A 'lntsy told me I should not worry, he is going to

marry me,- - 1 enou.ld go ana visit sozie of his friends, some of his



','1 10 III"
"1

Xrindoround 100th St . ; and he said "I will show you the apartment "

wViftro wa are coiner to live." . So after all fourJ of us' Va went in' av " ...,'fS mgr

the house, I didn't know .where I was 'going and I asked them wheth'er
1 W- - A I"' 'he objected to answer ire. ,

W MR. ELLI80IT: t

Q What did you ask him? A I says "Where are you' going,?" '

r rsiiAsK

Well, he says -- - he didn't answer me, he just spoke, to the other;
v

.. Jtt
. JkjgaHH

girl and fellow. So I didn't ask him any more, and we vent fcJwy

the fourth floor and we went in the, house?

Q What number? A 143 Wes .100th St. " We went In, the- -

house and then I begged him he should let me go out, that he should --'j
. fi

not keep me in there, and the other girl went away. I begged hii

he should let me out, but he begged ma that I should not befo.6lifs&J

I should stay in the house, I am' sure that he is going to marry raelp

and .1 should be sure because if he wuld not want. to marry me he

would not take me away, and he' liked me and he thinks I vail be the BskETHB

only girl thcit makes a man out of him, because he is nothing else

but an independent bum, and he says he is nothing else but a horse
i

thief and I will make a man out of him; and then he starred to beg

me I shoula stay in the house, I should not go down, and that is the

time I begged him as I started. to.
Q Whvt tiue was this? That was around nine o'clock.

1

Q At night? A At night, t,en o'clock.
i

Q Wo--
b

t-- it in an-- apartment? A An apartment, two rooms on
the fourth floor. i

Q Whu.t ere they? Were they bedrooms or- - parlors? A One



kr4 llffjjfl

'Uivaa'La kitchen and. the next, one was-- a bedroom. ...4 ,,m' r ' ' " ' - '
'

-- fe: ;
.

;.. . .,,:JL.uiLiiJ-- . "
.

:,., :'
i i'xia'you,.ajitAy wi&ii xiira yxiu--t nintrTir XQ37 ana;i;ttTrwas f

1 . , -
P V

the night he ruined me w
.--

I
--: :

r--V,
V--.- Q Did hd have intercourse with you that night? .A Yes sir;vf?

KZA

Q Was that the .first time you had intercourse with any man iri" MjlMvvMMBrMtoMwM

, ? "t '

your life? A The first time; that was the night he ruined ae
V'3

Q. Did vou'then continue to live there with the defendant?. A,"! V, TSm
' ' '. ft '.'-;"- -. v .''': X."'" 'tC

Well, after I was ruined I had tk live with him. I promised him --It
.

, 9W
3

.:'
7 MiHK " '

Q iio.v longr.did you-live-
, the be with him? A v Yes, sir.

For hbwni long? A One week.

Q A few days after did the defendant take you any place? A .' " 1

Well, the few days after, on a Monday, November; '3rd, he says "Well,

you see, you say always there 1 would not marry you. Now we are
' .-- '.' .

'- '

going to get married, fre' are going t;o City Hall. " I was very "glad ,

I was ruined already,. I was terribly ashamed of ray sisters, so we n
7"''...'"...''' v'

went to City Hall to. get married, and then there the man started to

question U3 some things; he says to me "How old are you? " And .then

I told him I was eighteen. . He' said "Don' t say you are eighteen,

because. you wouldn't gefy your marriage paper; say that you are

twenty-one- ". ; ; .,. ..

Then I says "Must 1 say a lie?" He says "YOu have to, because.'.' '-

- . ''."':' ' "
,'.' "

.-

-.',

'

you urauldn' t get our marriage paper.".

I told him I, was eighteen, and they questioned me -- - where I was
' ''- - j

born, Midi how long I am in Jjhis country, and what I am working at,

and tfefet's all-- - and whers I jwas living..'.".'' -
'

.-

-';

'

.

H was right tbjtra with you when the dart if io&te was taken,

n! H? A Tes, Pir. .



.' '
. v

K iPVMMp
-- , i--

'
' & .:' i ' il1 -- r-i .- - , , .,

.

.i I
H x snow you who ueriinoaie Ana asjc wne ine r max is iftt: r -

M
the certificate? A That is the-paper- , yes. Ml T

4

THE COURT: Certificate orlicense?
j MR. ELLISON: Thi--s is the certificate. r offer tihlo'; in7&IKra S!

s J i r & rrt K ' v . l.'SfsPffirbSSft? if?P?w liHMMlHMK.evidence.

MR. sAlTDLR:- - Objected to.
.& fc P t - - ,Bt-.- . J'

ITR. ELLISON: Then I will have to get the City HdllsClefl.1
f '" " ' iM

LIR. 'BABBLER: Oh, all right; I am not objecting ttt it; lf
- 1 t

because it is a certificate,- - bt ijfc is incompetent.
" iff v!j3s9I

MR. ELLISON: i Counsel does 'hot obj'ect to it on the ground! 8

that it is not. an original document, he objects on other
v

grounds, as to the materiali-t-y .

THP COTmT: Is this the paper that is actually given, to ?'lll
:i

the parties? , -

MR. ELLISON: That" is an original ceStificate from-th- e ft H6

City Clerks office --- an qtitflnlU. duplicate.

THE COURT: It is, not tefJEarri,age license?
f

MR. ELLISON: No, sir; it is a certified copy from the
' 'City Clerk's office.

THB COURT: How can she tell whether it lis a copy of the1

paper that wjia givn.
-

BY TH1 COURT:

Bil ou see this paper tha"Ehe- - got there? A He got it
in Rti nv'lop that tim

fit

I You did not lee it? Well, I did see it rlfff



" M? i

13 fTs?

I l'. &,Did yoa read it?" A'" Well, I could not" read' English, I

couldn't understand much, about It'- - . & -

THE COURT: You will hare to prove it thensjfrom the City. i&bhe I

r- -

Clerk's office. .., 1

IR. SANDLER:' I do not object to it on technical' grounds, '
?,re

v4i
.

that it is, not the exuot paper, I will consent to its admission
r J'jJb

if Your Honor will rule on the proposition of law. Excepting

on .the proposition that this was obtained after the alleged
i ,

seduction, it, i not competent.

THE' COURT: - You concede Athat" a paper, of which that is a4:
--- o

.l
ftfinv. was issued to the defendant, . but vou ob.laot to ia ad- - ' -- &&-- tri -- - ? S f

J
mission on the, ground that it is" irrelevant, immaterial and ' -

f

'';
5.

- ' rK,
. ii - li ffisnincompetent? .. &; jssc""sSfSySwra

.Tv '
. f;j4,-- T "jju V" Rfipaasw- rt --- &3i ,- - f

MR . .SAUDLER: x es , s ir .
j

THE COURT: Very well, I will overrule the objection. C J
1

v I

HR. SA1TDLER: Exception. w

(Received in evidence and marked People's Exhibi.t 1. )

4
-- People's Exhibit 1 in evidence is now read to the Jury

I
by i.lr. Ellison.)

BY MR. TCf.LISON: - . .

I

Q How, Frieda, you say that you then, remained at 143 West

100th St. for one week, is that right? A Well, we lived there

four weeks. .

L - .

q , I thought you said 'one week? A Jfa, the fourth floor"i-
-

.
-

. -
"-

-v . . - "

n xtm ra.po.i'wntoiiu.r
(J Pour Beks? . A Ymrn, sir. ,



,r i--"

v ,g,&&- -

Wefe you pred$nt when this defdefendante: rented th room; in'' 0$

J4 . : "" '"" iiu' "" nihil

that place at 143 West 100th St.? A , Yea,, sir j.y-- ; r k

'V V
f

Q Do you know who .the jani tress of that house is? A Well-f-i

rSiju,
I knovr her; out I- - don1 1 -- know her' name. ,

'

.
' r t n

Q Vhile you were living with this defendant at West 100th V JBJjfcsm
. . . . ,i

j

St. did you call with him to' 3ee anybody? A To ray sister, the'
- Xg

same .day when we got the marriage paper, .
J Ku

Q Oh November 3rd? A lfcvember-l32-d. ..
,t

a, cm.. whom. .did vou, call,, wnat BiBter A-- - ixiiaaie wairnTft?.,-- ,

and the next sister, Paula Nussbaum, "both of them, and we showed the!
t

mn(r. Firat of all he oh.leetad; he said "Thev have ant soma ' ''
x x-- r v t f v -- tes.. . . !

nerve noz zo Dexieve" mm, wnax ne- - says, xnaL ne is married zo m?

""1

They have got some nerve that he has to show the paper.- -

'vtf,

Q Your sisters wcotfct want to" see the evidence that you' were '" "'

1

raairied? A Yes, sir. """""
,

Objected toj objection sustained-- .

M. ELLISON: I consent to strike it out.

Q What day did you call' on them? A On November 3ra.
1

vi Jn November 3-rd- , the same day; what happened when you

called at Gussie Weiner's house? A We came andJj3aid "Gussie,

we are marriea;" and she began to cry, "What did you do?"

Q The defendant was with you, was he? . A Yes, sir.
0 This man (Indicating defendant) was right with you? A

ici. u ii 5U "- - I says "We are married, " and then she began

t- - ;ry, Sh aid, "yUami did you 'dot" and my otfcer sister' ' f ' ,
fc--' ..n., ii-i.-r-n'- rn-nll

. r



". i' ", V" ' '"'--
. t

tf m 15' ' ;;SlI
JT. ' 'f

rcttlao started toc ty7-she8ays-"Vtoat-did-you-do-

?4--iat--did

, 'i Mj
jr TTTftwyrfn b

?'
E you marry for without, us; knowing?" 8'ftId"3louldt-hil-J- i

it, it wasr too late,.'I had to marry him. Then he Bays ?We are
h

married"; he told them, "Oh we were, married. " So they wished '? "

U3 luck and they said bo long as I am, happy, they will be happy, &3K

VHb

let it be. already, so long as we aief.'naiied. .j

k

f r jilSfiBiiiiiH

- - ..fPI j

--V.V' '; Vrffl . !

. . 'i i
4 : --7 ' . I

' 1. ' ' I

, - I- -
7 4:.

it
.v '- - :

,. 1

; , ii.- -

K --,1f ,1 ,,.
u

I

.l--i
s Alfe'V'S
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. r f V7 ; ..
.jL- --r WMMm '

V. in"y3r fI?'. r'1-- h -

F' trOTfttliatlriWev anyTpWernghowno-yoursister- ?- - sit' Wi
5 s A Yes, sir. "

,

Q. You don't know whether it wavs the paper you got at the
1

City Hall or not? A I bouldn't swear, I don't know. --
'

Q, Did you call. on Mrs. Hussbaura that day? 'A The -- seme day j'..!- . .

and we had supper there.
Q And the defendant was with you? A He was with us. & ''mm

jFm&smfiSm

, Q Tell the jury what happened "when you called on Mrs. Nu,ssbaum?f

A We went up to my other sister, Paula Hussbaunijand he said
--8

also we were married.. v

BY THE COURT :Q Who is Mrs. Nussbaum? A --My oldest sister.
MR. SANDLER: I object as incompetent, immaterial

- and irrelevant to any admissions made by this defendant, --

after the alleged seduction, as to the marriage.

"Objection overruled. incept ibn. ""
i

. ,A- - He 'said we were married 'and then she wished .us luck, and

she says ""WeTl, I anftEe oldeB-taiste- r, IJicpli you wiljL show

us the "paper, show me the paper, the marriage paper; and then

he looked at me so cross and he says, MYhat the hell i Why
, ' r

don't they want tt believe me? I said, "Show her, show her;

she won't believe it if you don't, if jwe wouldn't show her."

s- -
" Then he took out the paper with the envelope and put it

on the table -- end she looked at it and she saidrshe-wa- s not

;married in cy Hall, she don't know what the paper has to be

like;- - so he says, "All right." She didn't say nothing else.
We had supper and the same night we went home.

v
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5 i

. rik fr.MjuaJ f--
4 Tfc

BY-lSR-r-IpajI- -SOll:: yjaiw "B'Sm
,w5ImIMw&

V 1n""WF"WM

. Q During the four weeks that 'yo:MYeU;-lnv7reBt--lpOth- '
.-

-

street with hji,- - did he' have intercourse with you? A Pretty r AM
f

near every night. One night --
,

v qfBM-wMM- M

Q. You: were living as man andwife? A . Yes, sir, I was: mar--
" Ai-- , . .4(1W;:- -

ried to him, I thought.

Q Has he ever .married you? A Well, on November the 3rd.
,V

.''' ! 7 '''WShHH
Q Yell. I mean outside or tnat going to City Hall has he .-

- ,j9Kj

ever married you? A No j sir. ., ,
'

Q -- You have never -- appeared before any Rabbi, have you?.' .

'

A Wo, sir. . .'.. .- -

....-;-

.

Q Or any judge? A Ho-,- , sir.' -- .'' -- -)-

SJJC

Q To be married, or by anybody,; else? A Ho, sit. ST'T
"i? fiB

.
. .

-- ! i' - ...... .-

-..,.. - -

Q Outside of going to the city Hall and getting a piece of'''. .
' ....

paper which you cannot read, has he ever married you? A Ho,
-"- .-4-

sir.'.
MR. SANDLER: I object to that. It is People's

'
'--

,",
K ''.'..:'.' '

.

'

Exhibit 1, at this time.
.1 ";-

- .'. --

f
'

-

.

'
' .'

'

,-

-

. "".
. THE;. COURT:1 I will allow her to answer whether or

not she has ever been married to this. man. '

.. .

n .

Q, Had you ever had anything to do with, or, any intercourse
'.' '

.
.

.".
'- - '' :; ' : ."

with any man in your life-- , before you had intercourse wirth Hj
this defendant? A No, sir, I can prove that "by my clothes.

T--- --Q I juBt asked yestor jib. 143 West 100th street is in the

county of New York, isn t' it? That is the plaae where he

first had intercourse wth you, isn't it? A Yes, sir.
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if M9M Q, , When did you see . this def endant the lasi, time?. A -- Well,"; iiy$

ik"V 54thatreet. when we came in front --

L'3' Q ..After youlived 143 West lOOtl100th street did you go: to4 1 1 $SKBk m

w& live --with him at any other place? --A Ho., sir, we just -- -
n 'fUnn AAA Vi , 11 1.., .. '

.i j j j i jl i. ,
v4 wij. W.XU. uo xj.itto..jr j-ctt- vc ou. or wneir u.ia you xeave mm

--fit ,

A November the 26th. f'a

A,. ,
Q 1Q1 3 9 A-

- .fon air.. , ,--... ,, -
K rmmmm

j "" Q, And at that time where were you living? A I have "been 'l
living- - with, my sisters.

s rL
CROSS; "EXAMINATION BY HR. SANDUER:

Q' You just said a few minutes ago, "No, sir, I can prove MM
M

that by my clothes"? A I could prove it by my clothes. ' "

ft--

Q Will you explain ta. the-j.u- ry what you mean by that? A Wel-lf-?

I mean that, that he was the one that ruined me. '

Q, What do you mean -- by your "clothes"? A By my clothes, he e

was the one that ruined me, and I got my clothes yet
Q You mean you have your underwear? A Yes, sir.
Q, From the night - A Yes, sir.

Q From October 28th? A Yes, sir.
"

Q You saved it? A Yes, sir.
$. And you have it today? A Yes, sir.
Q Did you show.JLt to the District Attorney? A I didn'tj -

bring it along. I didn't know it was necessary j but I can

send anybody over and get it, to. the house.

Why did. v&u save that from that, night? A Because he told
net fchftt XsE9UU'a?.o out and pick up men, and hustle for him, so'



..
ji P -- ,,Vv,

7 : f V""V Of
.... s. .' ':lexpected 'to'have troubled soIu"s!aved the clothes .

.

. ,
' '

"i "" ' ""
' ' niiumiiiui - ' - '; ' .' ' ' 1l" ; .'.,' ' -- r r--, " m r : -

- --:. Q You thought ydu vould save --the clothes in c'a'se you .were- -

" , ' ',1 ...'
arrested for picking up the men you could show them the.

&i

underwear?. A No, I expected to 'have him pinched, because he

told me," 'he begged me j not to have.Jhifa arrested "because he '',
'-

-.

, ''.'.' " ''-- ' .. '; .:''." .
'"' '

. .' .

--
l

,

.

'
--

. .

'
V' !'.

says'," "I know --that I deserve five or sx year's for punishing
' "7T

you 'for sending you picking upVmen and hustling. , That is -

the only purpose he married me for, he said; he --didn't need ;

me for any other. . iSflr

THE COURT: do not get to talking. Only answer the

questions that: are put to you, '"('' -
. ,' ' ' ft

Q I want you to give the --bet explanation you can to .this

jury ,why after the nijght of your ruin, as :yqu characterize it, V?f'

you saved your underclothes? Or what was in your mind then?
' '''

' '.' '. '
"

.

'

A Because it was on a Tuesday night,' and I did not have no

place to wash the clothes, and I didnlt have my clothes washed.,

out, and Monday,' it was just a couple of days after I was"

ruiried, we went to get married, and the same night he told
me that he. wanted me to go out arid pick, up men and huBtle for

' ''' ' ':' :
' '

L-- '.
:- -' .-

-

. . 1','lj'. .

him, , so I expected right away to have some trouble. .
, . .

V Q. That-.4.s:wh- y you saved your clothes? A That is'why I
"isj

saveTd them, and I gave them right away to .my sisteirjs Vto hold it,'''' J '": '.''' ' 'wt, :..
.--

'' r - "(
--X saia,rHere. hold this shirt M, arid she says, well, what is the

differenie, don' t wash it. : But 1t is very lucky"', she says,

"If you are a reap.ee table girl, and if you keep yfour underwear... . i '?''' ""
. . .

for a year," .
'

,

' ;

'''. ..i- -
:

. :" :...,
.

--
'

Q How long do you expect, to hod 11; no?r letter this trial?, .;".. x



As oo on as I wi!U. prove that he was the one thatmight ;

.
.

--,!:' . . . ... ,, . t. ..iiilMilllfarilitni iiii i iMiiiMim 1 ir'i, m -- .i ;.; i. ..mi i
1

murder over1 mjKiif e- -- .';.-.- " ..
'

' Q. Who was thee" vhen he murdered you that night, .as you

Jaave characterized it? A I with him. --"""'.- -- r -- ,.. : '': ..

Q Was there 'any other person he re? A Hobody else.
Q Did you call the defendant's attention to your .clothes

,that night?A T couldn't understand what you mean.
i. :'E

,'-a-
Q The night that you claim, on October. 28th, 1913, that this...:.,

t ' ' ' ' '.'..:.-- - , '''.-- . ,. .''"?' '"i?:
1

defendant ruined you, do you remember hat night, --that was the
- i

. .'" '. '.

first night? A Yes, sir.' '

Q Did you 'snow this? A He saw thatv ,""' "

Q Wait. Tou; don't know what I am going to ask. you. Did'

you show this defendant --the c.lothes, the underwear? A. He

saw it, even his underwear got alps 3tains on on his owmi

underwear.
'-

-.'.,

Q Quite a lot of. stains, weren't there? You mean blood, .

don't you? A Yes, that is what I mean.
- "' '

. .

Q let us be frank here. A lot of blood, wasn't' there??
'

'A. es.

Q Were youiaenstruating then? A I don't know what you mean..

Q' Vfcre you unwell? A No , .sir; That you ban find out- - by a

doctor when I am unwell, .and when I am hot.
BYT5E COURT:

, ff5
Q He means did you have your monthlies? A That is what

'I-mean- .
:

(-

-

.. ; '.'''': V:' .

'Q Vhat. time of the month did you have them? A I used to

have it on the 18th: and
'-'-

the 16th, and that was on the 28th.
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Hpij li'wpnu ipn iff!Q

BYMR SAllDLSfc:
' '

. . : "L
T- -

SPIV-- .

Q Did you tell some one -- - A (Into rioting) That?
"RPr1", '

N
&

Q That you had prepared thie blood or red paint for this

young man here? A I "beg your pardon, "there was no red paint, -- u
tt.-.''.!'Z-

?!

I. can prov&it.
Lftir' -

Q You are surevit was not? A- - I am gcrffigtgo' f or ten
' - -

'f 'imW

years if you find out it was paint
n

"

.
'

Q It waB' not paint? A No. - r -

Q Where are those drawers now? Will -- you bring them here

this afternoon? A Yes, sir; I 'can send right, away home my

sister to do it, , , - .

Q Will you do it? A Yes, sir. Just call in my sister, it ,

?!
A r. A v. Viv. Vniinn' - T ur 1 1 r fn v. fan vaexa 1 "P irmi mill f 1 nd" nil'lr ? . M

c . f

. --
V . .

thftt I was not respectable. Oh,' his gang can swear false .too. .

.. j

Q do you know Joe, an Italian boy? A llo. .

.Q. Hever met hirn' A Ho, sir; I know I had a girl friend,

she' had a.boy friend, but she was the one that
, THE COURT: You answer the questions. Please do

not talk- - after Jrou have answered the question.' You said no,

now'that settles it "'- ' '-

q do yo4i-kn- ov Minnie Smith? A Yes, I know her.

Q Who is Minnie smith? A Well,
'

she used to live in the
l

t

same house where my sister used-t- o live, and I had another girl

friend .
"

.

r Q Did'y oil ever go dut tfith'Hinnle Smith? A Yes, sir.'
.

Did you ever go to the Hotel leRoy with Minnie Smith??



Wfctr rt
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i bptii imi'if i ii n f m m iwi .in.

r y

rv.v.v A No', sir. '

. .:r - v i -- f-K''l5 ' Q' What? A Ho, sir.
Q Did you ever go there with Joe? A-v- l don'jt know any Joe

''' ' ' .'j - -
". Q You don't know Joe then? A No..' -

.
"' -

Q Do you know Prank Ross? A I think.it isher -

0 Minnie Smith's fellow? A I think I do. .

i

Q, Were youeyer out together with Prank Ross and Minnie'

Smith ohe; night before, you met .this -- defendant? A. No, sir. -

Q Sure about that? A No, sir. . -

Q Are you sure about that? A sure.

q. Ho w old are you? A Eighteen. November 16 , 1913, I was
- .

-- ';,i.eighteen. "

. . ." . -- - 3

$ You remember that' very w'e 11, don't you? There .are two :

days you remember, and that is your birthday and the ' day you
' '

,
--.' '- - '

, ' --"

were murdered, or ruined, isn't that right?
MR. ELLISON: I have not objected, but I must object

to counsel in. a sarcastic''
way referring to the night of

'"..'-- . .''.- -
1. - : " " ' ' ,.' ; '''',' ..-.- "

:.'':-,- - the murder";.' I think we all know what this.ywitness, meant
.'

'

..

: "..." :'"' '''' '

.. v
.-

-

'.by that, i-'-

-' v-- ;." ' -- ,

THE WITNESS: Surely. :

THE QODRTj Yes, just
'

speak of it as. the ni'ght -
' -

-- ..'' i-1-

.'

"
.,

l
--THE WITNESS:. When he ruinede Vi

,

'''

" ,, . .'...'. - --- - r.- -

, -

Q These two dates are fixed in your. mind, one is your"
JTSkibrithday -- .' a I haei more dates fixed! I have a date fixed

when he was pulling me i,h' a hotel and got me. drunk. B got me

drunk. ,.



g xs-..- : rw ,m
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"7 Wiinofore-heWuitiod-youT-JV-i-That-jfyaaiLflepteiiil- iBr the. ,J
5th. : wk ,

.JT '
Q Did you toll that. to the District Attorney? A They didn't

ask me. ,

jtyid-'h- e pull you into the hotel? A He got me drunk in a.

cabaret show; he was going jrsith another good friend of his,
. fc

and he; pulled me iri a cabaret show and he. made me drink three

drinks" -- - twosherries with cocktail I don't know what it
was. and one was a port wine, aid then when I was all drunk he

told me if I will drink more I would not be so drunk. He was

pulling me at 124th street and Lexington avenue, In the hotel,
but I have beeni remembering something sol didn't want to go in

there, so he tried to pull me in the house where he used to live
"Xk

and he ttook me, in the hall and he put his hand to iny mouth "that'

I .should not scream, he wanted to take me up; so the" landlady
.

' Vcomes out and she says, "How dare you take this girl up in.

your house?" He says, "I may do anything I want in the house
l.

" I pay my rent," The landlady was down here too,- - she swears for

it.
Q You were born on the other side, weren't you, .in Europe? s

A Yes, sir.
-

Q, And before yoii came to this country you spent some tfme
.

-- -

. y ,
- j

in London, in England, didn't you? A In London?

Q What country did you come from? A Hungary.

. , Q Did- - you come direct from Hungary to the United states?
jV Yen , lir.



t r 'liH

QlYou-did-- no tetop-oveAn!fiond- on? A Hoy-sirY-- I-cd uldn1 t-;- --f

remember-,- , we didn't get off, probably-the- , stejuaer-- s topped, it'
stopped in three places.
Iq, You learned how to speak English in- - this couitry, didn'A

you? A Tee, sir.
A

- V
1 Q Do you know Mrs. Peinberg7XYe3Tsir. " iJk

(,

4 Mrs. "Feiriberg is the lady whe$e this defendant took ybii

the first day he met you? A" Yes, sir. ' " " ' C ,,
EStiSBKfc

'SBEBt
. Q Did you go home that night? A I stood there that night f

because she told me, she begged me I should go and Bleep with
her because she was all alone. - -

'Ha&fcil

Q Did you tell that to the District Attorney? A Yes, sir; v$

she was all alone, and he stood there until about, I couldn't
1

remember he didn't want to go home because I was there.
Q He remained there with you, didn't he? A He stood there.

Q Where did you sleep? A- - In the morning

Q Where did you sleep that night? A I slept with Mrs.
Feinberg. ...

You are sure about that? A Sure. I didn't sleep with him,
of: course.

Q Why not? A Because I couldn't sleep there? How in the
wor,ldd- o- I go to sleep with a man, not -- married to him?

h I

Q Oh, I see. But. this was the first time you met this man,

the first day? A "Well, I was not in my own house to take this
gentleman and' kick him out. '

Qifrs. Feinberg, of course, was a frisnd of yours? A- - Mrs.
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Just know her.
Q You Just walked in- - there-and8-pentthen-

ight in theraIL
didn't you? Yes,, or no? A Well, I used to sleop there very

t --
'

. .
v "often. t

Q Whenever yo'u were away fran the .place of employment,-i- s BpS

that correct? A 'Wo, when I was not working.
'

Q Whenever you had a night off you went up to. Mrs. Fein- - ;
"

"berg to sleep there? A No, sir, nobody could prove that. '
1

Q,' Why did you sleep there? su

MR. ELLISON: I must again object'. I think if Mr. Y

Sandler reduces the tone of his voice he will keep this '
f

witness calm, and we can get on much better but-heye- lls

at her and excites her and she yells back.
l

THE COURT: I cannot control counsel's voice, but I
suggest we can get -- on better of both counsel and witness

control their excitement. "

Q How often did you sleep at Mrs. Weinberg's house? A I"

suppose about three times.

Q Did you take anyi other men there? ; A No, .sir, I never had

to do with any other man.

Q Who to;ld you you were eighteen years of age? A Nobody.
I)

, i f y
Q How do you know it? A I know it. -- J)

Q Did yourBisjier- - tell yooi?l My relatives.'
Q Is your mother or our father IrT'trii a- - country? A No, sir,

I haven't a morhfer, ay mother died when I wab a kid, four years
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you are .eighteen years erf age to-da- y? A. Well, that ia the only,

proof you oan have. You could send for my birth certificate --f m m
.

-- 'at
t A Vjrtj

to Hungary. ,'

x .. tKWBHHHi
Q You .did )iot bring that over for tne District Attorney,-.;- .'

1 Cm?$&ymdid you? A No ,-
- I haven't "got it here.

Q How old were you when you came to this country?' Kf I f

0

was around fifteen -- - about fourteen and. a half. , Sa9iiV
Q How old are you now? A Eighteen, past .eighteen.

ivwm

Q, You are nineteen, aren't you? A Wo, sir. ;- -'

.

Q You have had various talks you know Miss Perlman

A Yes, sir.;
Q, Yho is Miss Perlman, do you know? A She is the lady:

that used to help me out .when I wa3 out of work. :
t

i '
MR. ELIISOIT: I will state that she is from the Jewish

O-ounc- il of Women.

MR. SANDIER: Never mind, I donft request it. I

will conduct my own case. j
'

THE COURT: He asked the witness, let the witness answer

Q How, we will go back when you first came over to this
i K'Hcountry; how soon thereafter, after you lantLed did you go tq

work? A Three weeks or four weeks. I suppose. One month over.
t

Q Weren' t --yououtofL work ovelr a year and a half? A No, sir M W ,. H

Whom did you work for? A In the beginning? I couldn't

remind rayself , I had a vry much positions I was Very home-sic- k,

I ccoidn't stay in on place very often, so X went.



-- - U sp4 f2p
Jhad about three places .and then . I couldn't, stay. Then I vent niPliife'--- ' ' JfpIP- - : vm

Br r ,t Aitf 1- - i to a factory, to Goodman Brothers In Wooster street; I stoo.d rv:

there Bix months or seven months, I suppose, and after I wont

again in a.placei-- - I ms a year in this country, I went to '. &3m JJBBBBBBBBBB&tfPPPl

'Mrs. Cosby, and I stood there a year. ' "-3-
m

f
" .

-

"

H Mrs. Cosby is here in court today?. Is that right? A Yes' -- f? yliieBre

r

Miss Cosby. w " " lit J fTB.C7BPT
--.- .' ' -- , yffoBff

Q, Did you 'bring her here?. A .1 didn't bring her.hereC "T'lmnprfa

r

she came, here herself. '
' ' Jif

Q You did not go downstairs with Miss Cosby, today, did you,

in the pen? A Ho, sir. -
.iS. soB

Q -- The, "day that you werlr introduced, to, this defoliant by--- I. jfcAjrfi I'TBnWaawWB- - -

i 'isMsmm

your sisjfcer Mrs. Weiner, do you rememberthat day?Ay'Yesi
t 1 B

& DDidn't Mrs. Weiner, your married sister, introduce-yb- u

to this-y- o ung- - man? "A Yesyrsirf V
) ,-

-, -

Q That was at- - clasasson PoinlfcFn-Jw- - " ytf

Q ,Xast summer? A last summer.

Q After you left classon's Point, you testified that before
'

you left hfeiasked you to marry him? A Yes. sir. ..

Q 'Right away? A Right away, as soon as we started - "

Q As soon as he met you, he said "Marry me"? A No, as

soon as we started to go oh those things
q. AH right he says ' 'A Yes, sir, he started to

propose to me, and he asked me would I marry hity that he, wants
I ' - . ,

to marry me. ,
"

--.' BAiBBm
i

? '
.

$ And you said.no,? A I. said no,. --v i I

' I
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BSSJpKr
r tIE

Tat

"?

Did you bid.ybur slater good bye? A, My --sister? Well, w?Ml
Kfir' j9lr .

,i WBKBPr-- i

E&f
4

ft-- -. ,

Wrf dok my sister home 'in a carriage
- .

Q Did your sister ask you where you were going after you

left? A Yes. Miss what's her name? That lady there,.
Q Who, Mrs. Feinberg? A Mrs. Weinberg asked my sister tFtH.

let me go and sleep with her and my si3ter said, "All right,,
si long as- - Frieda is willing to go .but please, Frieda,' come i

' It --

T

home next day early." And that night Mrs. Feinberg asked me

to go down to court with her, or she asked me the day before I
m should go. to court with he"r, that is why I slept with her, so

ill
that I should be able to go to court with her the next day;

she, went, to 'the Post Office, ,
-- f r9

Q That was the first time in your life that you1 met this
- i . --J iJ-'"-'"- " C- -'

defendant, that was at" Classon-pSint- Y, A' "ffoTTTmet him two

years ago.

Q Where?. In Harlem? , A In Harlem, around 121st or 122nd

fstreet-.- -

"

Q, Did he ask you to" marry him then? A Rot at that time, I
didn't pay no attention to such a gentleman as this one was,

Q What was there about him, the defendant, the day that, you
9

if met him at
f

Classon's Point that interested you to go home with
him? VA He didn't interest me a bit, but he startedTto bother

A ---- - i -
1

i - '
me, he wants to go withrme, and I should go with him: rhe

J -begged my sister she should let him talk to me. f

Q, Of course you did whatever your sfcBter told you? A
' Well,

if I tfould lave listened te y sister nothing would have
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', happened to it. j

Q Well, now, what" has .happened to you that ybtr think is eo t' '''if;
terrible? A It is terrible , nobody has no use for ae after
a thing like that.
.

Q Who has no. use for you? A None of my relatives
Q , Whioh one of your relatives has no use for you? A Well,

a whoelot of them.

Q' Who are they? Give me their names? A -I-can't-
-glve-you''' ' " -

.
'"- - :'their homes. 1

.

Q Give me the name of one relative that has no use for you

since that happenedbo you? Can you give me the name of one?

'.; MR.. ELLI SON : I object to that as immate rial. ,vf- -

'
. .

.
.

,. I - ' T ""'lift,

THE COURT r Question allowed, as long, as she has
'. .vv ' '- - - ,- -

, .
'

. . ' :i '

made the first statement. ' V
.

' "';'. ''"" v ',.'..'.'...'-- .

Q Give. me the name of one man or woman? A My own father
has no use for-me- , that is the main relative.

Q Where is your father? A In Hungary.

Q Hoj do you know he has no use foryou? A Because he

wroteto.me he Uon't warit to know me.-- .

Q You wrote him. a letter, what happened to 'you? A No

jsomebody' else did. I couldn't tell you who.
' ;'' '' ""

' ' ' ''.
:

I Have you got the letter from your father? A No, I don't
" .'"' '

know. He wrote to me he don't want to know me. He heard--
' '"" ''''--

'
' ''"

:

- Q That is enough. What time did this defendant leave' ilrs.
Fetinbergs house next morning when youslept there? A I couldn'tI "... ''"..' . .

; r
.

TalrVou. ' v:
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R,8 ! J&0$B$mmi''' ii ?--.' jwfter.Swrf-wff-i- ' ' . Xii ii ,iifnjiji.iriffii! " ' '"-.lJ"-

fwt--Wercfy:ouaaleep when ho' loft? Av I was also ep with Mrs '

c .- -.
' hsjsc njy, v :..

Weinberg in ted when' hoTi&ftS Up
Q What time did you get up? A Around seven ojclqak. We

.'' .'-.';:.- .

had to go to court she had to go to court.
IHKST

Q Has Mrs. Weinberg a husband there? A Her husband left
.

'A
' -there, he ran away. she was all alone and she asked me to

''.' ' '
--f

" " -- .' ' ':'

sleep with her .and she want's, to gonextlday to the court im
ftthe Post Office.

Q Did she have any children? A '1 don't know.

Q r Did'i you see any children there? A Ho. T

Q, How many rooms did Mrs. Weinberg have there,?' A Three.
Q How many bedroioma were there?. A One. :-j-

fiaH

Q How-man-
y rooms-i"ht- he apartment? A --T-

hreeT

Q How many be di were there? A Two beds. One was supposedr --
--

K. -- t o-t- re"' for me,' a sin? be i I couldn't sleeb there; be-- "
V:- -' r ' Tir - ,;iv- -

cause thJTgentleman didn't'
want to go home, so I went away from' " "'"' "NrF"'"-- . - '

the littjle' bed,Dfa andana Ix wexjtweiit :JLnin the-bi- gthe'big bedbed toto herher. to sleep, and

he slept there, I suppdse, ilS;':tHe; little' bed. "

.

'

!
"- --.-

. ... "' --
: ? :

Q How long a time before you went from the little, bed to
the big bed-- , were you with this defendant? A. r didn't sleep
in that bed. ' '

'.'.'-?'"'- "

Q Well, did. you sit there with hiin? A Yes, air.
Q Did you spoon and love? A Well, surely.

- Q iss? A Yes-- . 1 '. '. ..'..'. (--',-

',

Did you have your clothes off? & No', sir.
Q-.- . --.1. 'mean you had your coat off? A My coat, of course, yes
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but-17-d- idn ' thave-rayclothoa-- -of f-- -- s I'ep'.t-Lin-ngL-
a IcLtho sall.

night, V- - ,
' '':.

.

; .'
'

v '...'"'' .

'
.' ' "4?

FT '
.

, ."'" : ' ' 4
pp --- -"

9. -- Did you have', your corset off? A Only the' corset, because

I was supposed to sleep there, I had! my clothesoh.'-

-.

'r v-

- ; .:'- - '': : .'.'. "'.',.:.
,

; '.
. (I And this was long before October 28th, 1913? A That 4

was the' 24th of August. r - " ."
.

'T,
" Q And ydu tell this Jury here that you didn't have sexual"

--r

intercourse' with --the defendant, that night, is that right?

A '"'No.. .'
"

: --

"

.
' '' ' "'.'. .

'

Q Did you or. didn't you? A I didn't have nothing to do with.
" : '

'him. ".:'.
"

-
'

.

'
'.-- ' - .

.. j .

Q Did he try to have sexual intercourse with yo u? A Well.,
:. i....-'- : ; ;

,-..;-

,.

. .

'

.. . .. '. ; m. t
'he tried, of course.

' '
. ...-.':-

"

'--

.'

.-

-''-

- '
.t - )

Q You know what I mean by sexual intercourse? A He tried to

ruin me. ; " --Jl'

Q Do you know what I mean by sexual intercourse? A-- M Ho. You r

could explain me a little better, if you don't mind. '''
Q Did he try to have connections with ybu-AAY- es, sir.
Q You know what that means?-A- v Yes.

Q He' tried,r didn't he? A Yes . . '" '
Q Andvyou were there without your corset, sitting on a

be4 with this defendant? A Yes, sir
HHQ And he

'il;.
did not succeed? A No, he didn't do me no; thing.

If Did y oh. yell? Well, he was not so far tha't I would

have to yell.
)'l.v
'J: 1

(J Di d y ou oaH on Mrs . Feihberg to pro tec t' y o u?; A No . h

ui. "t
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Q WeiaTdid-yu-eet-anytliine-in-the-mornlnp-in-the-w-
ay-of

t

money from this1 dan? A No, sir. t W1

Q Didn't ho give you oomo thing in the morning? A Ho, he

just told me that night, all about -- we should, go and ge't a mar- --

r

riage license tomorrow. s 1

k Oh, he spoke about a. marriage -- license? A Yes,' sir, in J

th morning when he was -- supposed to go away, I think I ms up,,,

and I said, "How about" your promise?" And then he says. ?0h." oS
I thought to get a license for peddling, not-- a license with

you." .if'' ' -

; J HJW That ras the first day you knew him, and you had spent 'lll
a night there, and in the morning you7 said to him about the

promise, to marry, is tha't right? A Yes, sir
Q TChen you woke up in' the morning, did you get. any money

that morning? A Ho, sir, I. never got any money. off him;, he
' tried to get money off me. . .

Q Didn't " give you any money at all?. A Ho, sir, never.
Q. I mean that morning particularly? A No, no" mon-ey- .

f

'l Q Well A Why, should he?
I ' .

I

Q Well, I mean seventy-fiv- e cents, for .example? A Why should

he give me money? He didn't owe me no money.

' , O Wp.1T Hlrl "ho
. rTTJa ,,,. - . ,

--., .w. txc jiuu any juuuey r A aa , Sir.
i

- to

k-- :

(l Did he give you seventy-fiv- e' cents? A No.,' sir.
Q In Mrs. Peinberg's house? A Ho, sir.
ft Did you tell your sister that you slept there that -- night?4 i

-- , cVA-- Tea, air,
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- ""
Q ,

--Did you. fell, her what' happened? A Yes J sir.
. Q, i5id you tell her how this man tried to ruin you? A No,

"K air; I told her he hadf been pretty near,ly the whole night,
'H-- Jhut I didn't tell her he was trying to !ruin me.

il&fg"
---

wjJfilW iiwiiiiii i mrnw

Q". You were a good girl and rniETman the first time, and

here is a man trying to take advantage of you and trying to '

ruin you -- r didn't you tell that to any one? A No, I did not.-Hrs- .

t Feinberg-- started to explain me how to take-car- e of my- -
t

self only.- - i

Q, What did she tell you about taking1 care of yourself?
A Well, I couldn't' explain that;

Q Oh, you can tell the jury, that is all right, go on.

Tell the jury whatllro. Feinberg. ,told you about-takin- g care-o- f 4K"

yourself. ,.. '

MR. ELLISON: I object to it as immaterial, to this
issue liere, what Mrs. Weinberg told her. I object to that

T

as immaterial to this issue
THE GOURT: I will allow it in conjunction with what

happened.

Q You-ca- n speak up here, tell this jury? What did she say

to you about taking care of yourself after that night? A She

told me that I may sleep with a man, butJ I should only take
i

care of myself. I said, "I don't want to .efteep end I don't
,

-

want to take care of myself." T-1-

"tr

- ' d " 'I
Did you ask her what "taking care of" means? A No. . .

, Were you interested enough to know, to ask what "taking
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careBmeanB? A I was interested, but I didn t have the( nerve to
'., ' ' ' . . . .

) ...

ask what t I was aBhamed to ask, - v
L, It

Q'" But she did tell youyou could sleep with a man, but

you have got to take care of yourself? A Tea.

Q Did.-y.c- u follow her instructions, yes or no? .,,- -

MR. ELLISON: I object on the ground that the witr'
-- .'-..'". ,.

ness does hot understand the worjL w.instructions,,,. v u3am - if-
-

THE COURT: If she does not understand, at any 4 -

3 - .

' I

time you do not understand a question do not try to answer '
"' ' ', - :n , -- Si

it, but say:.yu do not understand it. A Ho, I didn't !' u

know what she meant with it. I was'-ju- Bt telling her
- -

that he was trying to sleep with me,, so that' is why I
came to her bedj she should' excuse me. ' Well, she said,

"It don't matter --if you' sleep with a man", she said;' "But
'

. ,. ;':
. .,. '

.. ." ;
'

. ; ...
'-

-. -

you-rhav- e got to take care of yourself."
f. '

, '..'"
Q When youwok up that morning, I want you to try to re-mem- ber

what --bed you were in? A Mrs. Peinberg's.
Q Did you look around, for this, defendant? A Ho

'':'". """
.

' i '.

4. Were you interested enough to find out where he was? A

Ho, sir, he came into the bedroom and he told me good bye' and

he told me ta meet him at Wednesday night at Proctor's Theatre,
. -

" '"' "
'

$ '

'.'-- "
.

':'" '' '"' .

"

.

125th street. . J. ' '

--

. ... lM--- : . .

Q A few minutes ago you said that when you woKe uphe. was
1 .:

v-- v. . . . lii V ' . , I

gone. Now you saylhe came over to the bed and bicl you good7

bye? A H said good bye arid told, me to meet him at 125th
--Jroc'ior'-s-he'aire,. Wednesday night, th '27th of
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Q You know everything you aire tellirig"here is under oath,

do you know that? do you know that you have been sworn here

to tell the truth? Do you know what it means to tell the truth?

A I knbwj I certainly do know. '
, .

''"--
'

' """

Q, And you .put' your hand on .the Bible there? A Yes, sixr. andy

I .swear for the God's honestKR-uth- . If you find out any lie "::$
.

.
. .

- '.,-- ' .- .-. v-...r:v-Tr-----
'- .....,; '

..-

-.-
- , ;': i'- - lifBT!t

I am "willing to go away foreverV ' mffM
3&t,-V- S

Q, For how long? A I wouldn't swear for a lie. My father
ancTmother is too. good, .

'

. T
$ Well, are you good? ""A Not rib more; I was good.

UWI
--o Onlv since the nieht of Octdber 28th ,that vou were no -

jWm

good, is .that right?" A .Yes. . .
-

.
;- -, --

.-

Q That is the night when there vas a lot of blood, is that

right? A Yes, ....'."'i . ..." ..-- .

MR. ELLISON: I must object to the sef sarcastic questions

that counsel is pasting our time with.
;: -

.-

-"

- . ..' -.-
-

i '

... ..
, .'

- "

TEKGOUBT: I will allow the question.

MR. ELLISON: He don .t need to rub it in, we all know

: l.tV- -
,--

' .:.'. ;' r .
Q Did you meet'''him that Wednesday night? A No. I was

'.

'
' ' t. .--

... '..- -

W::-- ! supposed to-g- o Wednesday night to work and Tuesday night I came

to him. to 122nd street with my sister, to tell him that he

should not meet me, on Wednesday, night because. I an going to

work by Cosby' s again; that was the second '. 'tfime'I went there.
-- ''f&kMfa

So that night h came end he took, us home and he br.ought us a



WSmk
box of fruit, to my si ster , and that whol e nXgEt he was in my LZLaMBM

Mti
slater's house with another friend of hie, Sp'he didn't want ' l ffiiilllw "

: to go awayaowj& stood up ,the whole night on accountrf-rKim-ii Tvsfl

- Q, You aay you Yere--i-ivour"S'ite- rf a house, Mrs. Weiner's?

.WA-- " Yea, sir. l ' ' '.. '

"r,; ; .' :.
' ''":

' ' '""""' '; ' .'."'
Q Where did --your sister live at that time?, A 130th streets

Q What number? A 119, -- East; ,, - .

Q And you fine t this defendant in your sister's house in' 119

'East 130th street? A Yes, sir. ' ;

Q What month- - was that in? A That was in the same month

when I met him. ,:. .:. '
.

' '
'.

' '
.

-

ft That was August?' A August 26th, it was supposed to "be ,the,t -.. ., '--- '.'; A&2B x.

27th, he. was supposed to meet me,' and the. 27th., that day I " it

had to go to work, so the' 26th I wsnt to tell him he. should not..
.-.- . ....-,- ,

.

.
4 r.WK4H

3H3

come and meet me in 125th street because I am going to work.

Q What day was it that you went to your sister' s house? .

' ": ' ""' :: '''.:' ' '
. 'V .- -.

A I have been in my sister's house all the time, '".'.'
'''

.

'

i .'..
. Q I mean when you met him in your sister's house? A No, I

didn't meet,, him that time in my sister's house.
" - '.": "... '.. . .. .

.

Q
' Or did you meet him in Mrs. Weiner's house? , A Many a

..
" '

.

'- -
- -

time.'

Q When did you come over with your sister. Mrs. Weiner.
. ' -

and invite this defendant up to Mrs. Weiner's-- . house? Vhen was
' ' ' ' ' " "' ' :r" '

'

-
- ."- -

that? A Oh, well, very often. We didn t invite him, he went

,es wf 0 wp w
i.

SSKaiCSS 3"':4 jv?

Q, feil I will direct yewr attention totHe night thafhe
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A That was the 26th; ho was sitting there near me.

Q What month was that in? A That was August --the, 26th .
- .

. ' ' ,vfSE2BKi3saEQ That was after you-ha- d spent the night at. Mrs, Fein- -.

berg's house? A 'Yes , sir. J " ii
r
' . 'J'

,1
iWiSHB
M3t -

ffgjs
JBMU.y 7s- -

.

tJL - "1 ITTM
t 's

I--
--v ra&&HE& IT1 (4v.t: kQ, On August 26th this defendant here was in your sisterrB2;

.

'dt
--;$

yrKMSH

nouse, Mrs. veiner, is tnat ttgnt? A Yes, sir. :lli8M .rl

i And where "was Mrs. Weiner's-husband- ? A Well, he was
a

'working. -

Q, What is he? A He is an iron worker.- -

i

Q Does he worl? at night? A Well', henever works at night,, .4 fdigmm

.only that night he had to work.

q --

:
-- g Was' 'ho t'hbme ' at "all? A Ho . '

Q So that night you were there arid this defendant was there
and Mrs. Weiner, your sister, was there? A Yes, sir

Q What was "the name of the other man who was there with
your sister? A I don't know that man's name, but my sister
and that other man was sitting right near, me .

Q Do you know the man's name? A His name is Sol.

. Q Is it Wishnick? A I don't know.

Q Can you describe him? A Yes. .

Q Is he in court, do you see him here this morning? A I
don't see him. "- -

Y
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'. , V a""I " ''"V '""' -- i '"t'liW3T'
Q What did. you do there tftst'Hight "- -- ;l't" and' tal-k-?

7 1"f'' '

Sitting and talking, that is all; I didn't sleep..- - ' 'lflf c
Q Did you sleep there that night'? A No, sir.si i &&UJQXF '

what time did you go nomev a i was in ray sister's nou

I mean in your sister (s house did you sleep in your sisterKs .MI

house? A 1 , they were there the whole night-Wher- e
--..i..fci

Alii J

did you go?, A No place..

You remained there, didn't you? A I remained there.
i

fin riMd this defendant remain there? A ves . '.".-- (
C;N

i

And vour sister was there? A Yes.

And Mr. Wishnick that strange man? j A Yes.

And her husband was not there that whole night? A He" was-- t nox

. "

home, he had night work.

Q
I

Whom did you sleep with? A Nobody? I was sleeping -- - I

didn't have no "bed -- - I had to sleep on the lcunge.

Q Didn't you sleep on the couch with this defendant? A No,sr.
"Q' ,Whora did your sister sleep with? A Nobody, she was sitting

near me with Mr.Wishnick ' I heard them every word they were talking.

Q While you were sleeping you heard them talk? A I didn't sleep.

I couIuia' t alee because he was in there.'

Q, This defendant was keeping company with you wasn't he? A Yes.

Q, Arx yoa .v ji - ,oth on the couch? A 'No, we were not. He was

sitting vr vie rockinp chair righinear the couch, and I was on the couohl

.'it!'1 ti lying0 A (Continuing). And my sister was sitt:
--

rf-
--

--

o '.i. man, 3ut they were talking so loud I
hear .

'- - A- - .f fili..; to aa tte aatoe,tie.
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V
' Vl T' Qr'How many b gdro omsror ethe r e ? A: JVheje? One. '

r
q One." Who 09 cupieU that bedrodni 'that night?' A ITobody. -- $;

Q Didn't your s&'tfer gV'to ."bed at aOg.e A" ifo, sir.' In

the. morning when they left, when they uent away.

Qv You tell this, jury. that you. oat Up all night long talking? '

1 -
' .'....' .' :'. . .. .:. ;:' "" --

.
" Jfa1

A Yes, air, all night lo& I sat up and was talking. X oven r t
.1

If

didn't take my clothes off at all. -- iwKv&H'

ft' r"Weir. you took 'your clothes of f -- in lira- - FerhhA-rc.?- . A'V-- i
&?3SSHM

". "
: .?..'. ....- - - .'"rm

-- ..". ' AW,,AV

I did not. .It'

?PHJB
Q You took your clothes off in Mrs. Fernberg' s house the--fi-rstnig- ht

you knew him?- - A No, sir. ', ',".,,- - "L -

Q Didn't you say you had. your corset off? A Only my

corset, but I can have my clothes -- on and ray corset off. I am
.

. ,... --,- -., "

- v'

dressed, even when I have got a corset of f if I "have clo.thes on.

,
Q Did youput on your house gown, a wrapper? A Ho, I had

my dress on that I; have been out ail day in.
Q And you threw your corsets off . Were you in the same con-

dition of undress that night in , your sis --terJ f-'hb- tTsT"as you were the
'

.
"-,-

."'' ,"
" .'

fir3 night you met this defendant? A Why, .1 didn't have' no

corsets. on;

Q Your corset was off again i wasn't itt A Yes.

Q Well, you were 'on a couch and this defendant was sitting on
'-- ..'

1.

a -- chair, is that correct? '. A 'Yes. '
.

.
'--

-'.' ... '.""

Q. How was your sister dressed when Mr. Wishnick was there? A
T- - . -

I don't. remnhi' i .v
q Did she have her corsets off? A You don'think she went' '--

"-

.

--

.

naked around?



J!""3

's,. 3 '3
r u --,$ Well,Jtjoflldn.itexgeot it, "but I would n't ba BurpiBtdVV'S:?

f . i "

wnat aia you say, now was sne aresaea, was sno nakedakod? Aa Ghojsjio 'wasiwas

..
not naked ; she had on also clothes, skirt and waikt ;- -

ftf 4

' Q Her corsets were of,f?t H-

- A Well, we did riot go around in fu!

the" house in corsets, we never go around in corsets, we work very '
1

. ' 'rSk1

hard r
.

Q, 1 know you work very hard.. -
Did

--- '" sno have. a.' wrat-me- r

.j. on?rw -- x.r:
t ,AJfa"r- -

- ,&?VM

tffcwn
I don't know! I think, she had a white waist and blue skirt.

Q Is this Mr.Wishnick a married man? A I don'tknow.

Q Do you know if he has a wife and children? A I don't know!

''JillQ Were you drinking anything that night? A Yes, coffee
r -

they brought up, and cake. x
'

Q 2To beer? A' Ho beer. -- yr p,
f

Q Did you fall asleep at all? A Ho .
w sir .

t

Q Were you up all nigh$ long? A All night 'long.
L

Q Why did you remain all night? A Because they was there -- -

I couldr ' t throw hem up.
H

Q Did you ask the def en&ant to go home? A I did, but he

said he has got to go right away to business" so he might -- -' I should

let him stay near me.

Q Well, he sat near you and he hugged you, didn't he? A Ye
I

Q Kiaaed you? A Yes..
"- '-& Loved you? A Yes. j

. 1

if .JA f7
Q Told you how iftueh he oapted forou? A He always told me

lot love.
, Q That night particularly, and then you laid down 'ion' the

u '

V 4 .. . (
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XL.,

SSHe'S'1 ;
v, couch, didn't you?

,
Didn' t you lay dotal at all?"A--wao-8lttfing- -

.'.-- . - ?'- -

this way. ' .,.'.'.. ,
-

Q Yes,- - leaning down thatway-Tffl- d.
--then this defendant .leaned

down too ;' didn't he?( A No, sir.. , '

. not- - '.-"- , ''''...- - ??
Q biSVou have-a- n aclrirf-xua- l. intercourse with that! defendant

.that night? What? m
Q Didn'.t you have connection with him that night on the couch?' ";

rM
A No, sir.rnever before the 28thof October. '.

,--

'V

Q That is fixed in your mind, that 28th' of October when the
. .

blood was there, is that right? That is the only night you remember ?v
' '"''' "ji"'' "; - a

A That IB the time when it was when it happened, and. I svjfear for it" S
Q Who told you to say that? A Nobody. f-- m

Q Are you sure about that?.; A 'Nobody, and I swear by it
'not once out one hundred times. I give my life away and 1 swear for

" '
, -- &

it. I .could have speaked with any fellow .and go any wheres , hut I

wtu a respectable decent child, just like a child that gets born.

Q You are as decent as an unborn child, or a child that is just'
' '

' "''- -"; '
; '

;.Vv. .: ...-- .

' born? A , I was just as decent as any of" your children or any of
'V'-- v- ''....

.

' '

. ';.
'

-- ';.:.' '''
somebody else's children, ; how would you feil

Q ' You were working that -- week, .weren't you, for Mrs. Cosby? A fc
I went to work that week. V

Q Yes, you had to go to work the next morning, is" that right?
A Yes, sir.

(I And vou tell this jury tifat you did not sleep all night and

you had tcJgcu.to work next mo mini? A Well, she has said so,
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"flPflMT'M8' Tunosllorr get along with the case. - -

I,
r- -

'

' ,
-

ni

HBP1

ft-- -

- .
HR. , SAJJ33LEU: All right, Your Honor .' i i

Q . "When you went down "to the marriage license bureau with this

defendant ' A Yea, sir.
Q Did you tell your siat'er --abdut it? A. After we came back.

-- 'h
"'jr1 ii r n't i--- I i T

Q I mean before you went down. A If o, sir.
Q You were asked how old you were at the marriage license ,

bureau, wliat' did you say? A Twenty-on- e. He told me to say it.,
""M

Q rDid you 3wear to that statement at the marriage license , t

bureau? I think so .

Q, Well you knew it was a clrime to swear falsely? A Well,
: $

he told me to.
r

nsKa,

Q When were you telling the truth --A thenor now? A Then I
,?

was nut telling then I had to say a lie, that I was twenty-6n- e: I (

was hardly eighteen. And nor I aay the truth. i

Q . Everything you say here is the truth? VA Yes, I have been

a respectable girl and I can prove it
.

Tins COURT: Just wait a minute, you have answered the-i

question.
i

Q, Where did the defendant ask you to marry, him after you ob
fc

tained the license? A No, we were married.

Q, I mean after you found out that the license was not a marriag

A I diun't find oat for --bout a day before I had him arrested.

Q - Did you go to him and say-"Mr- . Weintraub, you have deceived

me; I .viu;t you to marry me". ' A YeB, sir---

Q Did you goto him? A I asked him, I asaid "So you bluffed



sjffVfts' . ;43

metu iaaid-- -

3K? ' i

;.. Q What did ho say? A I says!"Now, you Ire going to marry'"
me'. " He" says "Like Hell I will, I wouldn't eupport you, I, didn't '4f

marryn you o support you, you ain't sick -- - tv:go out hustling for .
nip -

"me.

Q Where did this talk take place?' A In the house.
""gm

. 't.
. . , "

t V$B
. iv iBY THE COURT: f

O What. "hniiR? A TnntVi R. ,Vi.n urn ai.S:A- - Wv'. WW xw,91
W

--- -- - - r - -- - v ww w - ! w A HVi MWUW WW 'JV VO

"i '
W3Wm

BY MR. SA2TDLER: .:

Q "Was your sister with" you? A- - Ho,. 'sir .

".' '' '

''. ' " ''. .

' '; '' ':
. ; ''

Q, You had been informed by your sister or rather that the

..".'. a- - mpaper that purported to be a marriage license was not so. Did vou?
7 . .

' .... i - -- ,rrjse.

ask your, .sister to come and interview this def endant -- and compel him '

to marry you?. A When? '.- - l

t t. . !4. I
.;'; ;

Q After you found out that you hud been imposed upon. A-U6- ,

'": ,: ',-.,-. .
' ''

v
'"

f 't:''v .:'
I told my; sister the other thing, I told him he wants me to pick

up,men and hustle, and she says God forbid, I should have to

live -- 'with him . they don' t ..want- - me to become a bum, I am on the

bum enough, they
'

don't want me to. go and pick' up men, 'because' they
'

r.-L-

- V. '.'. -- ,'
.

"; .''. ' : :,: ::''' .- -' ....'- -
.

; .:
:

-;- !-have

got none of thos'e people 'in the family. They said I should not

live .with him, ..absolutely not..'"' . ''' '. ''' '

'.'. " : '.'' '
'

Q Did you agree to gpoutand-piT3k-up-me'- n? A Well I '

promisedmhim many times, but I didn't vant' to. .' I prbtirsed him

because I was afraid of the gun he had.

. - ..?' h? had a gun too? A Surely he had. He had r mmar,d a bottle .of poison or there?chloroform, or what it Wa
.. ..... .:

V
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Q 1513: you teiTThiU to . tiifei-afritrAtto'rneyV-AIilthe'- yi

ask me f.'a will tell them, and' show thciftfiorce more things which he ddne
KS

o me. He hit me

Q Tell this, jury, here is your chance A The 3rd of lJdv-ji- ii

WipHSi
ember when he married -- - wh'en ve went to get maEried he cane over, to Jsp.

my sister and he showea my si&ter the paper And my sister Uid not

understand much about it, she looked at it "but did not understand", t ft
much about it . ' v" ?

va
, I thought vou vere going to tell us something new, never

mind that. --y
A :

t if
J

s

THF FoRTS Ar: Vfe . onld like to hear that now. ,?'
H

i
TR. SANDLER: All right.

(Vitness continuing) The 3rd of llovember, Uie setane'V

evening when I came here frcn my sister with him, he went home to

100th Gt. So we laid aown to sleep and he says to me, "lTow,

Frieda, 1 "dnt to --isk vou a' favor." I "says "VSfhat is it?" And he

says "You kno.v ouamess is vary bad"; he says , "now, - arid- - I want you

to hel:; iuj oat in ouamess." I eays "Oh, I will be too glad to

help you out if I onlv could."

Ana 1 tixoar.t uc mo-- iit 1 should go to outside work, -- in places

aain the wa" I was, ac I says "Well, I can ge.t a position in a

f i ly fur v0. or io. ct jveek, and I will makje isy own living." He

said "Your ovn liiiifr, iflft-.- t the Hfll 4 fou tkink 1 enf going to do,
-- - star."1 t ',nn --

!-. i i.i vc on $$. a Tsreek." He says "I thought
..J ""MM

--
- t lfc U" M-- M"

4, J- -'

'( 0 r'..e :.. . '. .. - T ne ant to j'" wj-- - ip'jfoT"--9nnvpwwnKM- HhAIBHB vou kno.shat:ti
3Tto3
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means by marrying a woiaaitn wht ptirpot e I msfriud yott for- - id this,;:
""".,"- - " '

;

" ,,"'. i" " ''"" "" '""" ".
'

.-

-;"'-' - ' . ',. . . - Y , ,
' ,,,;EH"

3RV,
that-yo- u. should go and pick up men and hustle.." -- ; J

Mm

Q Tell the jury the exact language he -- used' go ahead L. . A

Then I said "You don't mean what you are" saying".. He said. "Yes, .V
i .. - ' . . Hi r .

do mean it; I want you to pick up men and hustle. If not. T will-.;-'- '
-- !ti i T

Vr V'

murder you." ';
.

,

V.'fl
P, -- ' !"..;' .:1

-- So I savs "I see, that is" the. purpose you married me for?." fi
. .

"- - ... r ' 1--. -- V;

He saio. "ies,A 1 aian'x; warn; . -- -. x aon'Ti want xo support you. .jlivA?

wanted to support I had my own sweetheart. which I loved and I could.: ?i
'3' .'.'.'.--

,
-

have married her. and supported her, I would not support you. Now.;,

I want. you t,p go out and pick up menand hustle."
And I began to cry. I says How in the world will I do it?

I never -- - I don', t.know how in the world, to start in and do it."
He well, he ;8uys then "We will make it different, I will make

vm

it easier for yov. "Phillip and Rosie Corson is over in a restaurant

71 West 100th St. , 'she used to-d-otr, she used to pick up men and

hustle, but she-wa- s very lucky, and we will give you a place where to
, - - " " . .

stay, a half a'dollar place. It is a dollar place but half, the

woman gets and half for me."

So he says to me "We will go out .tvvi 11 go with Phillip and n
look for a place andyou will stay in there in-- t that housaj " and then

he say3 to me .-
-- then I began to cry "How' in the world will 1 dp it?" im

AAd he says "You knew I asked you to go with, me out Weat and you

knew what, purpose people are going out West," and you acac answered me

"Wht will I ao; out est?" Then I told you, "Well, the same as
here, but vou knw wi-- t I meant by staging out West.

- v..i--- - .v :
"- -.

,



KR

4'6,
?lt

j,
So I Bays "So that is whatycrcr;hiean7 only-thatI-Bhould-hu- stle.-

4 -

for you." He says "You knew. I d'idn't love you, that I loved the .

other girl, and if I would have -- wanted to support the' girl I could
) '

have had' her for my wife." And he says -- - then . I began to cry veryv (RfcPb w?mmmm'zf

.t 1 . 3

bitterlv 'arid' I thought to myself, XKere it must take: and end there. i JsSt

.
. , f

,

m
n .

I had the night gown, the shir,t, I didn't have it washed yet, so " T3... . . . .. n :M
I thought .to myself, so there .must be trouble, I will murder that m

tSUSgSj

. :'j."man or that man promised to murder me let him murder me,-- I don!tM
r. jL

want to live. And then I to Id him flow jVboudAhat- -
,'A

we should go

h m.- - iM m? w ;ti'Ji "Mm
j

and ask my-aisjt- er for money "Probibjty fou wiLl go to. work, I will

ask my sister for money and you will go to work and you may make

good business." ,

So he says "All right". The next day I came to my sister &hdg

I ;ms crying texrible. I said ."Please, Gussie, help me .out, saye
i It

my life, help me out, Charlie has no money to go in business and he

would like to have a couple of dollars,, " J.we would lend it.
: f.JShe says "Sc long as it is ,for business (tf will lend it for you,

t

I have not much more but I will gwe you the lapt couple of cents."

So she could not go the same day, it was some kind of a holiday,

the 4th of Iiovecber, some Kind of a birthday, and she said the
k -

bank was closed, she to3dime to come the next day.

I cui-- e tue next day and I got $50. off' her, and as soon as he
v. .'Igot the $50. from me he went and gave half of it for Phillip Corson.

They were two partners. I. wa supposed to hustle for both of them.
"-

- PJicJi0V tJ-jpoae.ttftft-

ovhd as soon as he got tha money
pmUW-w'tU- t

he will gat tk monay, h. wouldn't MMb me out



"Hustlirrg pnd 30 cro n-- 3 he --g o t-i--th e --to ld-rfi- e-t e goifagal :nLandI
I i. 'went and got a couple of dollars of the bank that 1 savedfbrm my j f F

at' i
.

' 8
poor "brother -- - I var.ted to send to him to bring him out here. -

1 i

So he made me take out those couple of dollars too from the bank; ,

I had ill in Rivington St., in Hendel'B Bank, and I took out those '"

couple of dollars and he .took it away and 1 don't know viio he gave Jtdi
v m

to; but as soon as he had it,- - in a couple of days he sent me to-- -,

huatle and pick up men a.guin, and it kept on four weeks, but that V

he didn't stop bothering me. And then Sunday, the next Sunday

after he haa tne money, -- - that was. the 6th I suppose, we went to

a house alreay -- -.

"! ; Ji
MB. SAITDLFR: don't know whether I should stop it no,Jr

but it is getting immaterial.
i

Tin-- , .COURT: 1A.& is in answer to your question. f --i
&

IT. SAJTDLEP: Yes, I have no objection iTit don't-tak- e

tec long.

(Witness continuing) He wehjt' to Ilrs. Levinson, one of his

friends who keeps a good house, we came in 'there and they started to

tell me, Hose Corson and her, that I should please him, he will,mak-- e

up a good husband, and I should p"lease him,' and I should come to her,

and I vill be wsll protected there.- - She says Rosie calls in Mrs.

Levimsqn's house t .-

--

"", , . THU COURT: Eo not state what these women told you you

"' ' wtrt u1f asked what the defendant said .

f (WtneB. continuing) The same evening we went away from
that hous, and I uroly thought I will reaiain there, that he would
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-

WBmaMv &ckfaari'tt room the" way they a" id be?dr&j
, ,

IWg "W. -- "

011av -- T1- 7 7
MR. .SANDLER: t think, we have ha4 ehcuglvdf .that.

,

THE COURT: Stop now and wait for another question;

ST' BY MR. SAHDLER: .....
. Q Do you know 'Charley Hiroh? ' A Yes, sir.. , . .

Q, Who is. Charleu Hirsch? A "He is- - a-v- ery good' friend df A

ray brother in .law. ;jt.
'"? "

' wMQ Bldvyou ever receive any presents from Charley Hirsh? ,'pA- -

No, sir. ,
'

Q Have' you a ring on your finger now? A Ho, sir'.'
Q Did you have a ring?- - A .Ho, sir, not by him.

Q Whom did you have the ring from? .
A Well, I have a ring.

fromanother friend of zai ne, f&bn lr Katz,- -

Q Where does Mr.' Kats lives? A He comes .to visit me

every Sunday, and that --is the man that is going to, marry me.
I .

Q Oh; you have another man to marry you now? A That is

the man .1 supposed, but he iB too fine to put his gingers on me, he

never dares to shake hands with ice, that is how much respect he has

for me .

. Q Well, does llr. Katz know allrab out your career?' A Yes, sir
Q, You have told him everything? A I have, told hin

everything. No secrets in front of him.

Q How long did you know Mr. Katz? A Since he is here, in

this country He uaea to liv by my. sister, Paula Nussbaum.

Q Didn't you know Mr. Katz at the time you met this aefendaijt

at Claaaan JAf" A fea .
'i



KSVJS'-'''- - w ,.K3vfVr t 49 'VHKBiSsisSP" , sva

;"''' , Q ' Werert'i y mi keeping company with htm then? A No, sir.
Be?'PS?-- '

'

ft k Q Was ho calling on you? , A No sir, he used to live that .

'..''''"':''' ;:. '.- -

"'

. . '''
.time. 'in my sister's house; he used to live by the other sister ',s House.

. . ' --sf- :..' t

Q, You used to go to your sister's house to meet Mr. Katzfl. A 9 SlfcrSyajs:

43
No, sir.-- .

.

A. .-- ..'..

' .',Q 'Mr. Katz gave you a rinjg? A Yes, Bir, I have got it right-- :
Tifc
rt

''rfi

here with me, a little signet' ring, and this gentleman (Indicating
4'

defendant )'. was trying to take it away.; he says he needs a couple

6f cents.

MR. ELLISON: The defendant seems , to think this is a joke, "

I see him laughing. The defendant and' jhis counsel seem, to think:

this is a great joke.

MR .
'

. SANDLER: The re i s no . need for thes e side remarks .

TEE COURT: Well, Counsel will simply confine himself to .

trying the case. ;

..

'

P '
'

A (Witness continuing) He just gave me this rinjg a present.
Q, What did he give it to you for? A It was my "birthday.

Q What birthday?. A Seventeenth.

m
' ty Seventeenth birthday?- - A 'Yes, sir.

And he is a year in this country? A Yes.

Q When , were you 18? A 16th of llovember. m
: And you say he is one "year in this country? A He is more f

than one year in this country.

. Q H6w long is h in tJvii country now? A I ,supjipse J.,p is
two years. v .

'

Q A few years? A Two years A little &ver. ;
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iTtifi COURT; 18 it very materia! nlilphE'lie ynut- - in the ;

TU.Mnnp.il, I w

country?

m. SAT7DLER: Ifo, sir, excepting on a question of credibility- -

TH-- r COURT: Please expedite" your cross examination. We want ,

,

' ''' r' ..' : '". "'
.:t:";.v.-4;,- - ". : '..,; , tHJ

to make some progress. ' ',, V-
- '',:' .

!

Q Vou said on your direct examination that your sister said! ,
'

.

'

- -
.

. , , t

"I hope vou will show U3 the paper." Your' si3ter3. Were very anxious

weren't they? A" Certainly they were.

Q About the paper? A- - Certainly.
' '--

,

(I Why were, they ' ahai'ousv A. Because they wanted to see vthe
"

" '''." '

. jf
paper; they wanted to have it proved that we are married? Vouldn't ,sk

you be anxious to see? (.'.'' . -- . rs$w
-

"f j

Q When did you discover, that that paper which is PeoplerVsV -
'

- ."

Exhibit 1 was not a marriage license? ""
--

s-'' "'l V

-

THE COURT: It is a marriage license, . but not a marriage
i . . . .

certificate.
Q I mean not a marriage certificate? . A When one of his

i--' ..'.'"''.friends cw.-.- e up. "

Q When, -- when, -- give me the day. ' ;.
;-

-

'
?y the ccimT:

0 lic-- v long after you got the p&perwas- - --it before you found out?

A It flrub a day before I had hisft arresifed, one of his friends came ud

tc tnt :.ou- -j i-- ::a he was trying "to lay me down.

Y MR. SAKBiaR:. ..'

Q ', That wan Uovjnber 26 th, do you renember? A 25th.
sfs

,?ktn yeur dy to make a wedding, washt.she
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iHBranA V ;A'-J!yelltlbyth-

eBabbi, he said that It was natjlnecesaury, hV saiyd;4vf
MR' ffc.,

, i"""1 i ' ' 'ii ' nji'lfc'i

' r I U '

the main' thing is., in the Court.
,r '

Q And he was ready to marry you wasn't he? - fA He did marry ?

me in 'Court. , " "

.
-

JpHfBMBP1""
ylsB I

0. A-v- a ir v-v- -l Vi-fr- 9 . A f f fl... ! 1 ir - -- 1 Hf A V.l ,4-V,- 4- r . &P, k w wy w w luui i j, cu ww am. & wwj. w 4.kjr vvij. t
- wii w wco '

supposed tc ice be matried. ' '
.

'

Q I don't mean that. Did you marry him after you found out
I

.
-- s,

that paper was not a marriage certificate but simply a license? f r
A I didn't have no time and I didn't want to marry him no' more '"'&.

because I knew for what purpose he vaunts me and I didn't want to" TS

become a bum. , '

.il
Q, Didn't you have enough .strength to resist him? A .1

didn't want to marry him no more.
M

Q Didn't 'he. offer to marry.you in your sister's house? A"
-

Well, he told my Hsister before we ever got the marriage certificate v

that he is. going 'to marry you. '.

Q Did he offer to marry you one day before his arrest? -- A No..

Q Did he offer to marry you any time since he was .arrested?
A Well, I don't know. People came around and offered me money

'

that I should marry him.

Q, And you wouldn't do it? Ho , because I know what
V . V N

purpose he wants me for.
Q Vho told you to say that? A llobody.

Q Woula you marry him today?' A Ho, sir, how in the world

could I become a bum? .Ho in the world would I go uj and pick up

men . ' . -

v

0, Wall, h is tht'Mi&n thut'raini ysut . That's all rit,
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f rJiJLJCuijLejLjiie

hustle? i,t

THE COURT':- - The 'girl io.not compelled to "marry him if she- - --3

does not want to . i Tjumi k i
:-

-

A (Witness continuing)' I don't want to become a hum
. . ....

.k T

Q Did you ever have a criminal abortion performed on,y'5u;A- - "''v
' - '- - ,J. !" m'wtSB i

?Y THE COURT: bsbxhrIK l

Q Do you know what that means? A No, I dont know 'whatN?IH
f'irit inoMlmeans .

THE COU-- T: Explain it i . -

Y THE COTJRT:
--pj-

KMl

Q He means did you ever go to a-- doctor and have a babv takenSy
- , .

v-vy- r f
' - , k - , i"fn

trom you before, it was born? A Yhen. aft.r t iwh rH-v.nv,- o " "

v

. q At any time? A To, sir, no, sir, I vent to a doctor to

have myself cured when he got me --diseased.
t

"R7 MR. SAIJDLER:

Q When did he disease you? A ."When he lived with me.
f

Q Do yttu Kfiow Dr. Heinz? A' (1T0 answer.)
Q Ihuz was the ntune of your doctor-wh- o treated you? A

My doctor was from Bellevue Hospital, Dr. Loebenstein, in the out-

door' department . -J-- --
. ,

Q ' Did you have any other dpcjtox? A essir . '

q .7.a. t-
- to-- ' :.A narus? A That was 'in the Harlem Hospital,

Doctor.

Q What was his namee i I. dot remember his name, T3$u... un other doct$r" 41tho uo, oy memni$ W Mart ..and lungs. "'" rJJ L,



mZ&Jmty'.-- '
w ' " '

:'--
.

'

: :;..- -
. ,; ... .,

. ; , ..
: 53'

4

fig W,v i .
. t . -- . - ' ' -- . t .. . . . .

.q lnvon'tspeak-aboutydurhe'aiL- .t. JUtL&ou Juhd er go an

operation in the Harlem Hospital 'in the last six montho?1 , .A lIo,;
v-,.- . 1mBr '

sir, I had different-trouble- s but I never had-t- o do --- !. " mi
Q What troubles did you have? .A I had troubles frora

gall stones, so doctors were supposed to operate me on that- -
.. , '..' '..

' ; :. .'

Q Oh, it is gall stones? A Yes, sir. ;

Q, Did lira . .;Weiner ever have; a criminals operation performed? y A

MR.-- . ELLISOH: I object t'o that, as immaterial to 'this..d3sttel
nhw

THIS COURT: .. On Mrs. Weiner or- - on. this girl?

MR; SANDLER: Question withdrawn.

She had an operation this month in the Harlem Hospital;

MR. ELLISOH: That will do. . Answer questions that afe3

allowed.

Q, Will, you promise to send for those clothes af t er you get

pff this stand? A Yes., and any doctor should examine the

clothes, I suppose "tha doctor knows th difference.

MR. ETJISO?t: Wait a minute.
.;'- -

--SHE COURT: Please do not talk. Just answer the question.!

Q Did you ever go to any public school in this country? A

HSo7 air. ;'V J- -
, . '.; --

. -- .
" ..'

Did you go to ahyschool in the old country? A Yes,--" sir.
How old were you when-yd- U-' 'left school? A Eleven. m
'Can you read end write Bnglish? A JIq , sir1.

Are you suraabout that? A No, sir. I can read a

little, a couple of vorda, but if you give me a letter I couldn't
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m?&sWftM?',"" Q '. The -- District Attorney, asked you whether you .could read '

that People's Exhibit' 1. Just take it and look 'at it and see if you.' MBr
. ..'. i v -

can "read anything orr it . A 1 can read ray name here (Pointing)

Frieda ililovitz; and this is his name, Charlesf Weintraub. Ity name
.' '.. ''.' .

'
'.

'

I could read on it. -

yf'-r- .

Can you read the Engli'sh'i .printing? A
.--

Ho, I. couldn't;

read it.
Ls'.. .'- - --""-

.' " -- -..- ...' ,,.&
i ma you ever wrie any xe t:era in Jingiisnv a no, sir.;!

.... . , ... , . ,' . ' M t3Aty ..laa you ever wrn;e zo. your- - sister r a xo , sir in .
-

Hungarian .
r y

5 '--

$

.Q Did you ever write a postal card to your sister in English?
3KHi

A Ho , sir. ..''' '.''. 'lltli
L '"O' 1

Q, Who was the first person you made a complaint to about this l" ''''(I

---

.'
--.. ''.'' ''." ' ' .

defendant? A Mrs. Gussie Weiner. 1

Q '.xhut wa.3 your sister?- - A That was my sister.. ' "i

Q
, Then when you made a complaint' to .Gussie Veiner, where did

--
. -- , :'.'": -

'
.-

-

'--

-.-. '.''"'.? .''..- - -

you go then? A- - I went home .

Q DjLd you go to Police Headquarters or the District Attorney

or where did you go, or to the Magistrate's Court? A lly sisters
went . .

'-.-

.;.'''

--

.-.

'

'.

Q Ytfiere? A They went to the 38th Precinct-- , Lenox Ave. , and

then they sent her jio 100th St., tb the 32nd Precinct.
Q And you made the complaint? A yes, sir.
Q What chargedid you make against him? A I made the

Charge against white slavery.;,. ' I never expected to have, this
.

-- '.,' "

charge against him;



Q, . You charged him then with white "blmrery?
r

SA Yea u' but they .

0
- 4 .

didn't know they could have this charge t

Q And they told ydu the charge of white slavery would not
1otPh I

vyrmi hmej
hold and had you charge him with seduction? A Well, they expected 1

n
i ip"i

'"

--to have more charges against him r- - about the gun --too. ''
'

C& Did you make a complaint that he had, a gun? A .Yes, sir.
Q What did they say about that charge? They weni? to

lpok for the gun.
l4 MQ But could not ffind it? He took it out just the day

before and gave it in the restaurant for the people to hold thegun.'
O Ann tntn aftftr rhfv wrmlri nnt. t.h;h' vnnr, nnnmiaint. n.nniiT. t.Via1 s- w w. w v ww w w -- v w w w --w v w w v w i i w ww w v w w -- w

f - "?" - . ' Jf
gun against him they told you to make a charge of seductlojy 'under

'r
promise of marriage, is that right? A .Well, that iB all X,supposei

thev did .
A

Q, You never intended up to that time to charge. him with

seduction under promise of marriage?

MR. ELLISON: She probably don' t 'know what'that means.

Q Xhic charge here is for seducing, from you for takingVJ

fro.--, you your virtue. 7A "Yes, I know, "it , and I expected to have

more charges against him, about white slavery too.

i Which was the most important1 charge of all you were going to

make against him?- - '

Objected to; objection sustained,.

q Af-te-r- you made the charge that the. defendant is being tried
for now, wer!e you told that it would be necessary to prove that you
were a good girl? A Yep, air.
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q, TOri'told'you that? A Hobody. .

i
,.&:

! m
,

ii i
-- -

" -- -. - .

'
...

T .., . . .
t .1 . . ...... f

- - ,

.'w8--
did Know wouia --nave that?-- A Heq. J3K6w you you ttf"prove - -- M-My

r, i
X

ruined roe' and right away he told me -- - v
7.

MR. ELLISOH: I object: I don't know whav dtf'jneajtB .
"

V

tt5
MCMr?wE2'MMaaaMM
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THE COURT: If- - she does not understand that she may 'say ad'.
V

BY MR. ELLISON:
M

0 What did he ask you? yA I couldn't --tell youiswHatghe raWg i.

rc?$

asked me .now. .5.
v fi

THE COURT: Then "do not answer unless you know what the

question is.
1

.

BY MR. SANDLER:

q Were you told by any person that in order to charge this 1 4$r&39l

."W. . RV

defendant and-hav- e him held on the 7chiirg.e of seducing you, that' is -

taking from you your virtue, your parity, that you would haveto
prove that you were a pure girl? Did anyone "tell you that? Do

you understand my', question?1 A y?lFo. You mean if anybody asked me? I

ftr 1 - I
f

MR. ELLISOH: ' How could she understand that?

THE COURT: I)f she does not understand she should say so and

" it will be put again. -
-- "-" ' .

t

q I will direct your attention to when. you got to the station

house with your sister Mrs. Weiner, and you were to make a chargeo
against this defendant of white slavery, isn't that correct? A

Yes, sir.
q Then you hod a talk with the policeman sitting behind sdctk

the desk with a cap on his- - head? A Yes, Bir.

q And after you told him your story whatjidgjvyoo"? --4Lmaj

f vijiMiimnnifl tM jm
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liR. ELLISON: Objected to as immaterial to this isauie.

"

-- Tr, --r cL-j-
L.,-- ,. .i,UDjection susiainea; exception

4 .WW

Q
p

Didnyou then, after you had a talk with the MdmioSnMiy behind'' I?

the desk'make a charge of seduction?" Do you know wha- -

&?,
means? Against this defendant? A Yhat do you mean by seduction""- -

Q It means he ruinedV-ypu- . A Yes, sir.
Q, Bid you make that charge? A Yes., sir'.'

Q Who was the first person,, if it .be a-- policeman or- - a young

f.iiilady or a District Attorney, who told you that in order to charge thi'

defendant with ruining you that it was necessary to prove that you

.were a good and virtuous girl?

MR. ELLISON: Objected to as assuming something that is notf:ti
'. .Kl' "

in the proof. '

THE COURT: I will allow her to answer, if she canl

A Nobody told me anything. .
'

t f t

CI Still you say you never intended' .or expected that .this charge

would be made "By you against this defendant. "

MR j; ELLISON: --I object to" that.

THE COURT: That has been testified to.

MR SANDLER: All right V that is hertejs timony .

$ Whom did you tell your story to before he was arrested, other

than the policeman -- behind the desk? A My sister.
Q Mrs. Epstein? Mrs . Weiner .

fy And that is the. lady we refer to that you spent the night

wiUh and she was with Mr. Wishnick, in that apartment? A Yes, sir
Q, 'Did Uxf. Winr take you to the Court? A Yes, sir, with I- -... , ....,CT
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MHilWiT'if 1
m3rofKer"sTet err-Td-th-P-

au la-ll- ua sbau.
' i in iji i

W'j.'i
'Warn? '

K Q Hrs. Weiner made an affidavit in the police court against' .!
r

this defendant? A I did. ".,-- , 11

O She was a witness for you? A She was a witness , she was- -

I "JFi,lr" .ttJ.wT.W:i"'r:y"

supposed to-- go and watcti me while I was going in the house there', in

the whore house where he took me. 1

.5 '&'?.

Q In what house? A In thte whore house; she was supposed to MH

watch me. , ' "
. 4

Q Did you ever "hear that word before you met this man? A This

man learned me to say that word.

Q You never heard it before? A Well, never heard i t?

never used the word. ,:l

Q Did Minnie Smith ever, use that word, your friend?- - ,
- -

THE COURT: I do not think that is material, whether Minnie
u

Smithused it or not. .

MR. SAHDLER: All right, I withdraw that.
Q Is there anybody else you told it' to other than your sister?

A What?

Q How you were ruined, about the blood? A Well, I showed

that to my sisters right away a couple "of days after they came around

in the house', and I "showed it to 'them and I told them they should take

it home and keep theft,. t

q Did you show it to anybody else? A Yes, to his friends

end Fanny Tabba-t- .
.

$ You showed the. underwear? A ' Yes -- . MH
, ,



j-- -- i.-r - 5&fc-- T :JgfiH"5P8H
Sfcd?.'v.f.ftV cAnybody-elBiB.?- . A I showed them :.to.xnysi.B.ter TPaultt. .'My
KtffV y'.'. : '

.
"",. ' ' : - -- - .J

n' ;oT8ter Paula. seen- - my underwear. S3B: js..
KTi

...4 t &m I

--,Q Did you hay$ them in' the police court with youM "A I hading... - . . m "'&?'

It but they didn't want to see it. I didnf,t want to Bhow it to
.a - y

." f
" A , .'TIB

them "bec&use I-j-
vas ashamed?.' TI can have it BtouS.

- v- - -- , j-
. ..4 .-.- '- ' '

(The Court' now declares a recess, until two p. m, ,--
sj1

ski-.'-J- M

Jt$aSBJ
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Recess until two p. m.

. .. .53
,1

" -
i

1

WbWbbbbbi 'bbbbbI

' '- -

'-

-sr

bbbbbMbbbbbI
Sii-iiii- ni-j, ir""?- -

I



'
18 l tffiW

. --v. in
--AterRec esaTr3uaHK5SH2red

MR. ELLISON?, "if the reTs no.. objection on the ip art'" ..
v. -

of def .endant f a counoel I will call another witness in the

meantime until the other witness (the complainant) appears ..

Is there1 any objection.

MR. SANDLER: None. ? r
'v,.'J

MR. ELLISON: .-C-

all MxMary'Mahoney. ,

'I i t j

. .

MRS. MARX M A H 0 II .E Y, .called' 'as a witness in "behalf v

m
of the People, being first duly sworn, testifies as follows: Km

'
. . - ,

'
- m

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. ELLISON: j
'

Q Where do you live? A 101 west 100th street.
Q Do you know the premises 143 i West ,100th. street? AYes,sir

' ' '
'

Q What, if. anything, have you to dd with the premises- -

' . I
J',

West 100th street? A We have furnished apartments there.
4

2

h
. You have what? A Yes, I hdye.just one.

Q You have one. do you remember this defendant calling to

see you in regard to that apartment in October? A Yes.

BY THE COURT:

Q Do you live there? A I live in. 101'West 100th street;
9

it is a furnished apartment .
4

BY MR. ELLISON:

Q What, if anything did this defendant say to you a.t that
time? A He just asked for a furnished apartment for himself

and his wife.

Q, , And did you see the girl Frieda? A Yes.

. i
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OKRsSv
3 ;$ And he-wa- s with her? AYes. sir.:

WBsaFiBBW . IBM
l- - jtt- - ri.j, rnrai..''i 'Sd":" "- -

,tf ''H anl-fl-4-wn1iM"nwr-

f,6 ? A YGSTB, irr--.w X V -- a. w -- . - -- -
.ill Ij i.

- Q And did you rent him the apartment? A ,Yeo.
HSr
ISS

SUSS m'
ir''' Q Vtyart floor

,
was that on? A Well, now, the apartment

L - f .t AfiMEl
:

I rented was a week later, he came to me a week later; he was

with my sister first on the top floor, a two room apartment.

Q..What apartment did you rent him? A, --One flight up, front.'
MR. SANDIER: I move to strike out all the evidence

1 JM

of this witness as to the first conversation.
' '

1 --THEr COURT: Any conversation she had with him she may-tell-
.

'
i ,

Q You are telling us about what you said to him, and he said"

to you, aren't you? "A Yes, sir. t

'

Q He came to you personally? A Yes, I was in the apart- - " '
rl;

mentso I walked dovn. ,j
v

. ,
.

Q How many rooms were there in the1 apartment that ybu

rented to him and- - the woman which he Bpid:was his wife?

A Four rooms.

Jl One .flight up? A One flight up.

Q, Front or rear? A Front.- -

"How much? A $5.50 a week. .
r

Q After that did they continue living there? A They were
..

-- there three weeks.

Q Was the rent paid( to you during that time? A Yes.

Q Who paid the rent? A -- He paid the rent the first week,

whenhe first took the apartment and she paid it the second
,f .'

and third weeka., , .
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. 11 r. iiQCffircl.flhe come to youwitn tne money ana pay your iv wbub,.

ic
rto 101 100th street.

..-- . At. Z3Lr j

Q Who was the J ani tress of the apartment at that time? A - v 1. P .-- , '
Mrs. Cornell, i

,

0 Q Jljhen was i.t? .A 'They came" to me November ,4th, that-was- 'a

week later; they were vdLth my sister one week in the same

house, but not in the same apartment, .on thetop floor. They i '

came there the latter part of October. , .
r

1 1"

"MR, SANDLER: No cross examination. . j- -
i

ROSE 'CORNELL, called as a witness in behalf of the ' 1 ' '

'

.People, being first duly sworn, testified as follows;

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY: MR. ELLISON:
!

Q Where do yo u live? A 153 West 100th street..
Q Were you the jani tress of the apartment 143 West 100th

street in October, 1913? A Yes,, sir.
'ft. During that time was this defendant Charles Weintraub

and Erieda Smilovitz"ltvlnfigthere?- - A Yes they lived there.
-

, . ,..'Qt Do you remember when they first started to live there?
A It was about the 28th of October.

Q What floor did they occupy? A They occupied the top floor

rear. ;. ,

' '' "4Q How many rooms were there? A Two rooms.

Q And did they 'then move to another apartment in the same

-- house? A Yes,, they moved down stairs to one flight up,front.
Q Did the defendant ever tell you who the woman waB? A No.

". But you in July were living there, that is, as. the jani tress



BhhHHKII 3
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HHBffi&ll itlie apartment?- - A Yes
BSSKm A , i ? . ,g

, Mrs. Mahoney was- - the woman who leased the flat the re , . -- MMi

' ' ' '

: , ...'..'''''wasnt she? A Tea. sir. "

. , ,

HR. SANDLER: No cross 'exajnlnationv
' '' '"' ' '"' ''-- . '

-

--
-'.'' ..w- -

F R TED A S M II.'O V I T Z, called for further cross
'

. '" '
.

' ' ...'..-.'-- :
examination, testifies as follows:
CROSS EXAMIIITION BY MR.. SAliDIER: (Continued)

!, Q How long a time before you went down to the City Hall

to obtain the marriage license did you have a tatfk with the
T s9

defendant in the presenceof your sister as to getting married?
A Well, a couple of days before. .

Q Do yott remember the day" that. you went down to the City
-- ... t ....'..Hall? A - The 3rd of November, 1913. ... t

i
.Q The talk you had vith the defendant arid your sister, was

,
"

.
'

.
' ' ' '

.
'

. .

'

there any date fixed when you were- - to be married? A Well, he
--

. , .- - ' . .

."-'"'"- .

''.''..'had been down on
'

Thursday and told my sister that' we are going
.

".'.''
.

--

:' '''''.-"'"'"- .
' ...'''...' '-

'- ''
.

; '"

to be married Monday. v
- f. r

Q And you agreed to that?. A Tea, certainly7 "

Q Vhen you went down to the city Hall to the Marriage

Xicense .Bureau, did you have a talk with the clerk and the
defendant, here as -- to the best day to get married on? A No sir

nJ
; Q Did the clerk say to you and the defendant that New Years

Day, January 1st, would be a goodJLay? A He didn't speak to
me anything else, but questioned me how old I 'was, and where
X come from and what I vas working at, and where I lived. --

'

.1
Q But did you have a taikwi tl the defendant while, in the

rnr .-
- v. .
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kf Marriage License Bureau as to postponing A I dkdn-lhx-e
VH""1' ' - r--i '-- .

, JLt

nothing 'to talk with him, I didn't epeak to him nothing at all. -

Q You don't know what I was going to ask. you, why do you

answer so quickly? Sid you have any talk with the defendant as;.

to .allowing 'for the day of the marriage? A No , sir, he" tonly ,

told me how vOldj I should say I am.. . -

1 V,'

Ci Did you say to the defendant here, after you got the li- -

cense, or before you got it, that you would get married in
I

January? A, Ho, sir..
t

C) When you obtained the license? A I thought we were going

to get married right away. We were supposed to get married

that day.

' Q Why didnf't yo-- u get married that day? A Well, we did get

married'. He fooled me, that is the whole thing. We did get

married that -- day in the. City Hall. t

BY THE COURT:

Q, That is, you thought you got married? A Yes, sir.
BY MR. SANDLER:

Q, Didn't the clerk who gave you the license question you?
- - - ,ji

-- .MR. ELLISON: I object. We 'have been oyer this three
J

times1.
v.. ' OSf-- k

f. TEE COURT: She said he questioned her.
Q Did he ask you if you want permission-o-r license, t.qje

married? A No, sir.
Q DP yousxjiawthattlie. clerk told you that that was a

marriage certificate that he gave yo u? A No, Bir, I didn't
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fc, jjask hi& at 'all' s' . v.

' j "'!iwf .Didn't ho questionyou at all? ..A; Nothing at all.
B 5--

THE COURT: She said he did qua ot ion her ao to her

age, . ., Hi
A . (Witness continuing) Thatfs all, my age, how old 1 was, f

- si ij t "

where. I lived, and what I am working at, and what' my mother's

name was.

Q Did you ask the defendant whether there was any other

ceremony that you will have to go through? A Well, when we,

came out he said, "Now, we are married. Tou were afraid all
the time I would not marry you. Now we are married. How,.I

am not afraid of your sisters, that they will take you aray

fromrfife, or anything."

(J Your sisters had threaiene-- d tatakj3yj3u away- - from 'him 9

hadn't they? A -- Ho, they didn't try to take" me away; but they

tried I should not go with him before.

Q Tou were giving your sisters a great deal of worry be-

fore that day, weren't you? They were worried about you?

A Yes, sir.
Q Aid they knew you were not behaving yourself? A I was

always a good girl. L . ., t" ! s
t

- JL .Why did your sisters worry about you? A Because they

didn't know where I ras. He took me over to his friends.
Q-- DidrL'jfc you tell your sisters where you were going?

A Ho, sir, I' was going .from the place. My sisters even didn't
know about it. "

9, Did you bring the underwear tha-t-- I aaked you to bring?
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&

wt 7
-- A Mv-brother-ln-la-

w-want tolgejbLt-- . ho will be here pretty '
.-

-j&
I

soon, I11

Q' He will be back with it? A Yes', sir.
ft

Q, where did he go to, what house?. A He went to my sister' tf ' '
; .

--VJftn

tf
Q When you left it at the house "this morning, it was th'ere$gj

in the trunk, wasn't it? A Yes, sir.
a . y

D Did vuuhave it down in this butfldine. in the Districts &

' - --- Am
f .2ft

Attorney's office? A I had it do vn by Mr. DuVivier, but he dird

hot look at it
BY MR. ELLISON:- - --

. . yM

Q In the Grand Jury room? A" Yes, sir.
BY MR.,SAMDIER:

" "

Q, .Do you know what, the Grand Jury means upstairs? A Yes.- -

i- - 1

Q This defendant was arrested in the month of November, """ if I

isn't that correct? A Yes, sir.
Q And you have not seen him out in the street since that

r

time? A Ho, sir.
Q How many times did you appearbefore the -- Grand Jury in' this

case? A What do you, mean?? How many times I have been?

Q 'Yes. A I have been in 54th street once, the next day.

t, , q, rlfSBjisWs building? A Once; I have been very often
m A VT

by Mr. Ellison and by Mr. DuVivier,, that's all.
Q How many trips did you make to the Grand Jury room? A Okoe.

(I What month was .that in? A I couldn't remember-- . It was
i

. last month, the 28th. of -- -- 'I couldn't remember the date.
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Q.When you claimt ., that on October 28th, i913, that this;

Jw-defend- ant ruineta. you, justbefpre he ruined you, did he, a ay
f

'&i
Hi4

,
-

,
'wmm - '' ' ".''mm - 'I anything to 9U about marrying you? A Certainly. 15

. Q Afrat did he say? A Well, he said I should not be foolish;,

I should" let --myself , and he would marry me , that is one thing,

that I should be sure about it, 'that he would marry me; if he

would not marry me he wouldn't do a thing like that .to me,'

and he told me surely he would marry me. He was supposed- - to 1,

' marry me the next day,' but he changed his mind the next day.
' . .

"'.' " "i

Q You believed him, didn't you? A Well, I expected him to 4

marry me . ..'. '.'. '..'.'' ....' :

. . i

Q Did you ask him to marry" you after the night you spent- -

v

in Mrs. Weinberg's house? A Yes, -- sir, ' .'
pt '; Q. Did you ask him to marry you after the night thatyou-spen- t

in your sister's house? A Weil, I didn't ask him "to marry,,,

he asked, me after to marry him.- -
,

Q Now, at that1 time you were still keeping company With

Mr. Katz? A No, I didn't keep company with that young man.

.'''. Q, Or vith Charles Hirsch? A Ho', with nobody.

.;' Q '.You were friendly? AVI was friendly, and he gave me

last' year, November 16 th. my birthday, a ring, and I got some

more presents of' my sister, too. I got. a hat and some more
'" --vflT-rthings. .

Q This Mr. Katz is quite friendly with your sister, Mrs.

Weiner? A Vlth my brother-in-la- w,
t
yes. .

'

Q The family.' liked him very much? A They used to go to ,
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Safins --i 'anfmnl fcottftthflr.
, W tfi

Q' The family liked him? A .Yes. sir. .

s Q And the family would like to see that he should marry T

you? A Yes, he would marry maybe, 'but I objected, I didn't

want to marry him before too. -

Q Well, you would-marr- y him now, you said so to-day- ??

THE COURT: Is. that. material?'

MR. SKMDLER: I am coming to it, your Honor.

. Q Isn' t it, a fact that the reason you refusedto marry this -- x

defendant is because you wanted to marry Mr. Katz? A' Ho, sir;
"

Q Hasn't there been seme talk about your marrying Mr. Katz??.

A Hot because, - only because he wants me -- to go and pick up
t

2 5

men and hustle for him, and I know he just wants meto.be. the

way his. friends are,, to live in a swell apartment ," and have a

whole lot of jewelry and diamonds end hustle.
Q. You. don't care for them? A Ho, I -- would rather work the

way-- I do work. look at my hands.

Q Isn't it a talk that you have had a talk with Mr. Katz

about getting married? A Ho, sir, never spoke about it. He

asked my sisters. He never mentioned the word that I should

marry Him. He asked my( --sisters, he never daredto ask me a

thing like that; he asked my sisters.
Q Is it such a terrible thing to ask? A Ho, he is too re- -

tJ
r

spec table, too fine.
Q To 'marry you? A Ho,, that he should insult me and ask

me j such a things. He, never asked me to marry him. He a'sked my
t



I 1 . .
Bter-would-0he-Qllow-mb-toeowdthim,,orto-

apcompon3

, raBErsB
with him. r

F. . Q You know what. I mean by marriage, don't you? Whern I say

the word marry,didn't you understand me? A Yes, sir. a" v
. .

"L. lXleJT o'alr vnn wh fff-V- i nrZ M T" .. 'TT.r ovnr onVpd vmiT ol iif ra Dlrfi.VlftY..JE;-- !- - --- .J w.W J W-.- W-. -

he could marry you? A Yes, sir. ,

v
'

Q Isn't that a fact? A Yes..4 . . t"
"

. I
Q And they said he could? A Ho, they said it is'4.up to maif".' 'a

- ,
-- . ,

Q Did you accept Mr. Katz? A Ho, I didn't' care for him. I,

Q, You care for him now, don't you? A Well, now, I don't
!

know. I don't know I think I would. iMsBH

Q And .you would marry him when this case is over? A
' Well, If .,-'-

,

this case will "be all over, and if he will want me I don't- -

know, if he , will want me now.

Q, Andy'ou would not marry1 'this man (indicating defendant)?

A How in the world, could I? Do you -- blame me? Ho, sir.
Q I just want to ask you. You said here before that be

cause, this- - terrible thing had happened to you,, you have lost
everybody in this world: is that right? You lost all your

i

friends? A Yes. vr '

MR. ELLISON: She said she losther father. f I object

to this. We have, been all over this.
THE COURT: Ho question is pending.- - I cannot: rule

till there is a question.

,'... MR. SAHDLER: I will withdraw that question.
Q, Have you seen Mr. Katz to-da- y? A Ho, sir.
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, .

1 Tf " ' ' '

Jl Have .ydTToeen him last week? A Yes, sir. ' '

fapyw- - -

Q He called at your sister's home? A Yes, sir.
IT' - Q- - He has been taking you out, hasn't he? A Ho, air.ti -

Q Haven't you gone to the theatre with him?- - A No, air.
i ;j

Q, The aiater is Mrs. Weiner? A Mrs. Nusabaum.

BY THE FOREMAN OF THE JURY:

Q The day that you went' dovm to Oity Hall with this
:..- -. J(HH

gentleman, 'they asked, you whether you took an oath. Didyouf
ft vitaarmpBIH

take . an oath that, day the same as you took it here? Did they

give you a Bible when, they asked you these questions? A Ho,

sir, they just told us to swear, we should raise our hands up.

Q Aid you raised your hand? A Yes, sir, and I thought: l

Q You knew when you were telling twenty-on- e, you knew yout
f

were only eighteen? A I knew I was eighteen, but I had to say

that because he told me to. He told me otherwise I don't get
i

my marriage paper, so I might as well state I was twenty-on-e,

because that I should not be disappointed, that I should get my

marriage paper.

Q You knewthe oath that you took here to-da- y? A What is
that?

Q The oath that you 'took here today?
BY THE. COURT: .' .

( mien you were sworn to tell the truth? A Yes, sir, I
am telling the truth, the God's honest truth, the very God's

honest truth. .

BY MR. SANDIER:
Q Did you tell the God's honest truth in -- the oity Hall? A No.

THE COURT.: She has so testified; she said she was

- -t- arenty-one-iwhen-she-ifras e-fgh-
te en
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Half of the People, being first duly sworn, testifies as fol-- rf

lows :
.

- riik Is
DIREQJT EXAMINATION BY MR'. ELLISON: ,', '

.

Q Where do you live? A 200 Brook avenue, Bronx. r- -
,

i . ' - , f ' tt
Q You dre the sister of Frieda Smilovitz?-- A Yes, ,sir.-- :

' r4&dMi a-- T. 5M01 &ilBH&
Q, Vhere do you live? A I live at 200 Brook avenue. New1 -- i'sJK

York.
1 i ,V';.r'r

Q Waen did Frieda come to this country? A Well, it is about
9

three years ago, three and a half.- -

Q Vhere did she go to live when she came here? A 410

ul5-,- . East 121st street, with my sister, Mrs. Nussbaum.
K J-.;15!f- lB

0 do you know this defendant. Charles Weintraub? A Yes. --jU .'-'v--
ll

t - ."'." f"t,i. --Hi7,
.

- :

Z' Jl When and where did you first meet .this def endarit? A'.Well, X I
I

v$Smmejt him at, he is at 122nd street.
ihj.

Q Were you dovm in Olasson's Point in August, 1913, with;

Frieda? A ,Yes, sir.
Q The time he joined your party there? A Yes.

Q Who was in that party? A Well, it was a couple of more

fellows .and him, my sister.
-

Q Who else? A My sister and me and. another lady friend.
t

Q What has Frieda been doing for a living since she has-be- en

in this country? A She was a servant girl.
Q, Did shedo anything else? A --Well, she works a short

while in a factory. ' r
v. After meeting this defendant in Augus.t, 1913, at Qlasson' s

s - -- - - "a ""'"! "
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a.iu.-over-see-hira-af-ter--tha.- t?A XesjBir...
5Li '!,'0'

K ,. Q How of ten did you".bob him after that? A Oh, I seen him
HSr "

quite often because I lived at that time at 130ih'1W. atreei'- -L--A i

'
- . j 'M'! ..

i

A and' X used to come down that way,, and I seen him often. '''' .
.

v Q Did you ever see him with your sister? A Yes. ; -

Q frequently, often? A Quite often; he used to takfi her

OUt. ''' ': ' "

.-

-'.'

' .

q Were you' ever present at any conversation when the quea- -

tion of marriage was discussed between the defendant and
.

yoUr sister and yourself? A Yes

Q TCien was the first time you ever heard this defendant ,, vVM
say anything --about marriage? A Well, he was. in my house, and;

he told me lie was. going to marry her. '

Q, When was that, jthe first time he .told you he was going
:"' : '"''."' "

'.- -'
' '

. y? '" '
-

to marry" her? A I couldn't exactly. remember when it was.

Q po you remember What month it was? A It was a couple of.

' ' months before he did take her away.

Before he took her away from where? A PromMrs. -- C'osby.

Q Then would you say that it was in the month of October,

1913 , if she left there in October? A Yes, sir. . f

Q Just tell t the' jury what,- - if .anything the defendant -- said at

that time?. A Yell. he said- - rmBY MR. SANDIER:

Q Where did this talk take place? A In my own house.

BY MR. ELLISON '
; .

-- v" .';. :.., .
...;.'.,.. ..-.-

.

A- - -.-Qr-.Tell' the jury .what' he said? A He said he was -- going to
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marry Trie da, and of oourse I dl"d not tKink-ne-wasnsood-o-

no.

' JtV JBB"rfan T 'rinlf'Mnnf V Vm"MAtr. 4 :" aaaO T rt H n . .VM wV .Via. ntu' W r'

was going'to go away 'with him, and then I asked him if he liked.

j her, enough to marry her. -He- -says, "Yhy, certainly I like her;

N S.l-jwauld-

n't like her I wouldn't go to work and marry her"
Qf Keeping that visit in your "mind, when wa's" the next time

that you saw the defendant and your sister? A I seen him after-- -
M

it v as u on a Sunday , she had a date with him, and she did not

want to go to meet him alone, so she tells me, she says "Aussie 2-- -":

Q, You cannot tell what she said to you, "but did you go

with her? AiYes, sir
Q And did you meet the defendant? A Yes, sir.

Q Inhere?-- A Ixr122nd street-- , at No. 315. - J

'"
BY THE GOURT:' -

Q Vas that while she was still at Cosby1 s? She was at Cosby' s

that time, yes.

Q And just tell us what took place when the three of you

met on that Sunday? A Well, 'we met and then I thought if they

were going she said -

Q No, don't say what you thought. What did the defendant

say and what did your sister say and what did you say? A Well,)
-

we met and them he .took I come down there and he said he

is going to take Frieda out, and Frieda didn't want to go

with him,- - but he coaxed her and he took her away; that was on

Sunday night. L""
MR. BAJnXEBR: "I object to th term "coaxed" her.
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THE COlRTl TeBTouiahavot'osay'wliat-he-sM'dTr-T- -
m

A (Vitness continuing) He said, "let Guoeie go home and you'

come with me." ThaT wasT on a Sunday night. Sunday nigbJT

she went with him. md then the next day he took her out.I$ MUfcaBa"" 'Mi f

' was seven

BY THE COURT:

Q You were not .there, yo4 did not" see them? A Ho, T was'l
.n3 IHWMlMr :not xnere. !7H

THE COURT: Strike that out.
BY MR. ELLISON:

Q Was there anything said about marriage at that time, on ' J i'that Sunday? I didn't hear thaf time.

Q" When, if you can remember was the next time that you saw&&

the defendant? A Well, I. didn't see him any more, but' - -- ;

Q, You didn't see him any more? A I didn't see him .until
I called up from his stable, where he used' to hang out. I
wanted to know where my sister wasj he took her awa thVt time

from Mrs. Cosby -- --
v

. . ,

MR. SANDLER; I move t'o strike that out.
. THE COURT: Yes.

BY THE COURT:

(J When did you see the defendant? That is the questio.
BY MR. ELLISON:

Q When did you see-hi- m next? A Next? Wednesday, in my

house. ,

BY THE COURT:
1 i

. .I What Wednesday?'? AA Wednesday. I seen him Sunday., and
j 1

If T
--i ,,
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Wedneoday no comedbvrttoTny-.hou3Q- ? 'I aeked-him-to-co- me
'' ' ' MP f

.
I - .

' ' --Mrs- Mb'
'through the telephone.

IK--
-' '

TkBY MR. EIUSOII : .
.- - i, ' - ' i -

.--
i: jmkmu, hv

M4 is
- - c.' j JV5HR C3

q Was that after yoursister left-th- o Cosby s?A Yes,-olr,j- f i

Q That was thfc following Wednesday? A Yes, sir.
--&-

4,'

Q Where. p.ld &ou see him? A At my house;, he come up to

my house.

Q Who was there? A Nobody was, only me and him.

Q Was'your sister there?, A No, he had her away already

that time

MR. SANDIER: --I move to. strike out that he" had her "4 J
I 4 A

away at that time?

THE COURT: Tes.

Q Was your sister there .while he was there? A No.
I

Q What did you say to the defendant and what did'he say to -- 4

you on that Wednesday in your house? A '.I asked him where

Frieda was and he says, "I don't know where Frieda is. Yhy are

you asking me where Frieda is?" I said,-- "What do you meanr you

don't know?11 I said, "I heard you took her off last night."
.He said, "She is vorking some place in Brooklyn." And I said,

"Charlie, donft be like i that, because I will fire something at-you- r

head; tell me where Frieda is, because I heard you took

her." And he started to laugh; ' he says,- - "Well, how would you

like to. hear thajt Frieda and I are going to be married?" I said,

"Well, what was you lying tf or? At first yau didn't know where

--she was. Why didn't you say the truth?" ' And I started to cry,



t
i- -

oriel he said,. ".Because you' always wore, against me, you never

liked me, you always hated me, that is why made Frieda never (
tf't.mat

.
r1'

nl 1. n.i mVinna nVin !' nnMn r nn r oVlQ n A r4 m r U W-'f-
t, m?l Bi3JBISSI -
-- "JOB t.'Q Is that about all the conversation that took placeat

"

that time? A Yes. '

ftrWhen-wa- s the next time that you saw the defendant- - after
--'iB

that Wednesday? A He told me. he-7- as going to get married. The J9H

next Monday he came down to the house, with her as man and wife,.
'1 ,..-;.- .

""
. 'TnSeSHH

Q What tooik;place on thefollowing Monday when the defendant ,vjj liiiKjOT.
r'V&OH

and Prida called at your house;? Tell us everything that was

said? A He come down"-- --

' MR. SAHDLER: I object to it on the gground that it
is incompetent

Objection overruled. Exception, V! ""

Q Go ahead, tell us everything that you said, that Frieda

said end. the defendant said? A He come down'they-come- , dowiai
W

and I wished them luck.
-

,.. --
-

-- i "- --,
r

Q What did you say to them? A I said, "Hello" , and he
...

.
.. : - .... - - ." .

: ,
said, "This is my wife, we are married." I said, "I wish you'' "'- - '--

.-:;.!.
- '.- -"'.

:-.-

,"-'-

''?"-
-

luck, I said, and I kissed her and I started in to cry. And

he said, "What are you crying for?", and then I- - said, "Well,"

I said, "let me see something, if you are married, let me see

ths marri ege certificate." And he didn1 1 want to show me at

first. He says, "I left it home.

I say, "Well, show it to me; If you just coming down from

OoUrt. a coupl of hours, I suppose you have it' with you", and
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'4&re married." So" he goes to work and shows mo that pap'ori" but ; aBi V

.i- - jif it ftaHi
-- .1 looked at it and I didn't know nothing--abou- t it.'1. ,1 ,

.(

"" . .

v$ ne anowea ycu a jJB.pe.rr iv xes, sir. f, ,-
- 'i laPPE

" ,i vJ7 J A .I..."-.JffW-

" WP&jJgjMy
O T4 H Vnn VPnfl 1 .9 A T. Wnn --P r nm i "H .rr TTol T io 1 a I

- aYhlWj A.
.'?.'

" -- . .
- i--- '; s

I seen. . . i ' : &. i,i1 J t, K ' "tfXM

Q,
" Did you read "the paper? A I di'dn't read it because I can'

read English. ' '

Q But he showed you a paper? A Tes, he showed it to me', ;

but first he didn't want to.' tis- - -- r-

Q What was said after he' showed you the paper? A, Then I

asked him if he is going to start to keep house, if they are

going to take rooms. and keep house, and he said, "Oh, we have

got time"; - and I said,' "You should make a Jewish ceremony;"

He said, "We have got time, I have no money for that now;," I .4
said, "It don't take .so much money, me and my other sister, we.'

are going to spend the money what it has got. to cost." So he .

says, "Ah, don't bother me, I have got plenty of time with

that.
Q t)o you remember when was the next time that you. saw the

defendant after that monday? A Well, a" couple of days later
he was in the house with my sister.

MR. ELLISON: Your Honor "will take judicial notice that
the Monday that this witness speaks about is November

3rd, 1913, which tahe date of People's Exhibit 1 the marriage
. I .

- -
license, which was issued on November 3rd. 1913.

' '
. K -

rh
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-- Q How-- , af-te-r thtit-Mond- av vhendovouoay you saw thefe-,-"
L3t.

.

. .' jfti,-- ,

' . . 'v-- M -A- -'tt2 WV- -"MK..V r. ,r''--" Si

defendant nex;t? A Well.' he was a couple of days alggikf v:t?
house. ,..i '"',."' ....'''my -- :. - j. v

f." K ' "'!..:. .'''."
Q Alone or with Frieda? A With Frieda.

' ' '.'-- ' '.'.'.'' ' ' --uitJf -

Q .What was, aaid at that time relating to the case, io'thl's

case? I don't mean outside matters. Anything? A Tea, Frieda
. ? r-a-?

told me that he asked her for money.

"I Wo ci Vi Ho,for1iiin VioVo turViovi aVia 'a o'lfl Vi r Y nont

he? A He was there 'but he did .not hear it. -- tffflf

Q Then you must not tell U3. I want to know what was said to

the defendant or by the defendant or in the presence of the

.defendant? A Vellj she. was talking 'about getting rooms and. fixing 1

..--

.j

-- .v. .
:-

- .'" '

. .

' "

up a home, "an'd he didn't want to hear from that. -
"

"--
-.

'

:""1
'-

-.

'-

--..
. .. ; ' ' .'" ,"' ' .' ' ij- - 'r 1

Q What did --he -- say? ;rHe said he has hot got no money, .he
t - '' '

- ;'.'
'

--,;. , :
:

' "''
.

;:

is glad he. is living. .-'- '."

Q Anything else that you can remember? A He said so much

that .-.- .. '.-.'.'- .
--

"

Q Anything .said at that time by the defendant as to wb.ere he
--

' '' '.'.-''- " ."'.'was living with Frieda? A Ho, he would hot tell us. I asked

him, "Where you live?" And he wouldn't tell us the addresBi
'

You didn't knovrheJiad taken rooms up in 143 West 100th

street, did. you,' at that time? A No. Not until Frieda-cam- e

for( money, I should, give him $50, not' until that time.
i ..'.i After this time When, did you see Frieda next? A Well,

she came a couple of days later. . ,

4 Did she have a talk with you?- - .She had, a talk with you:

I
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when she came, didn't she? Tt
t- -i tM

I. lilf.i. in. , .t,r,i a'..fi;, r---i

MR. SANDLER: Objected to.
THE COURT: Anawer yes or no..

. . l-
-

.i j ar m

Q Did she have a talk with you? A' Yes, siiuVV
t itwA . ,"s r hi

q How, after sh'ehad tffetUKwith you di d Vb'giv";hs
a

anvthine? A Yea. air. . ''-V- ; ' d
rirxtsjmus.

Q What did you give her? A $50.

MR. SANDLER: How is that material? I move to strikesvtlllii

it out.
, &

JSHE COURT: You elicited on cross examination that ' l

.

she got 50 from her sister..
r

Q Vhen did you see the defendant after that? A Yes.

Q When? A After I gave her $50, he gambled it away.

MR.- - SANDLER; I move to strike that out. Tpr i
THE COURT: Motion granted.

Q When did y&u see him again? A About two days' later, he

came up in my house.

Q, Tell us what took place on that visit, what you ,'said

to him and what he said to you7;

MR. SANDLER: When?

. MR; ELLISON: That would be in the week of November

3rd.
Q That did he say at that time? A He said he was broke,,

businessis very bad, he is broke', he has not got' no m$ney, and

he wants $50 more, if r could give him any more.

, $ What else was saidat that time? A Wel'l. after heleft
"- - .
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ass Frieda was telling me .
-- --

.ttMMtBWf..liK
.

Ai
Q When did you see the defendant after that time? A VelX

. ." .;;.' .-.- '. . ''...; :

3he always came every second day because my sister came to me
2f i 1 - &

often and so he came, there;
Q Did the defendant and sister visityour --you frequently- - yS-- ;' ltWWBSP"i- - ' "

': ... ... -
. v: & --J&3

' .
- ''"- - X-.it- tt r.after that? A-- . Yes.

.
.- .

,-- ...."
. m

Q At your ome? A Yes. ;
, r

. 't'A t-- VJ

V-
-' '

, i"
Q Vhen was the last time that ycu saw the def endant? A .;vvh1sn

!.

fc'

he was arrested. That was Thanksgiving Day, I believe.

CEO SS EXAMINATION BY MR. SANDLER:
- ...........

q, You live now' at 200 Brook avenue, in the Bronx? .A Yes.sir.'.CJJ
" '-- ."''. .J .a

( With your husband? A-- Well, of course, I don't live withoutfji
V

'-- f(r. -- -- '

' v" '
'7my usband. -- ..V- J. " ..t--- '- - T 'U

-- ! ". .' ';". ?"-.- . .'.."... '. ; ., ,

"
. -

, v . .

" ...'::;"-:.'.- '
Q, Did you ever live: without your husband? A I never did,

not since I an married,
Q Yhy were you so quick to say you did not live; without your

husband? '
A , You asked me if I lived, with my husband. I suppose

if a woman gets married she lives with her husband, I. don' t
. .' ' ' '

i '''.' ' -

' '',,"." '

know anything else. , ,

, ':''..'. ."."' ','"...'
Q I have not said you lived with anybody else.

Q You asked me if I lived with my husband.

THE COURT: You could have said yes, and we wojuld" get
along quicker,. if you would juet answer the question.

o, What does your husband do for a living?
Objected 't'0 as. immaterial; Objection- - overruled.

. xce tipit. .'-- ''; . ""',--,'- .
" """"
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i - h irjutas? tt ..vjkj nnA lie ia on Iron worker.
i"m .1 iinK m--

f lyiii" t"
. .

Q Does he work night or day? A Day,
t ' ifiii H I

Q, Did. he ever work nights? A Never did.
. t

Q Well, was'lie ever away from home at night? A Once.,i
'"AimffiB,

r i 4 a ,. -- '; jfgimhQ Vhen was that? A Well, that was when my-siste- r kept; a --J
. ,iSeffl1 V-.- w

company- - with' this gentleman, one day. JffiSyJfiM

Q, Do you remember wha"t month of last .year that was in? A -- jHojSS

Q It was in the summer time, wasn't it? A Yes,

Q Aid do ycu remember vhere you were living at that time?

A Yes , sir, f1
Q, Where? A I was living at 130th street. .

I

I

Q What number? A I' don't exactly remember the number.

Q Do you remember the number of the house? A I don't re-mem- ber

i

'the number. I lived near Lexington avenue,

Q East 130th street? A Yes, near Lexington avenue.

Q The night that your husband was away from the house what,

kept him away, do you know? A Well, the watchman was sick
"

.that night,, and the foreman asked him to take his place one

night. - '

if -

t , That night your sister and the defendant called on you? .

A Yes; she' had a date with, him that night."

This was .prior to October the 28th, 1913?

MR. ELLISON; Yes, it is conceded.

V j jj MR., SANDLER: Thank you, but I don't, want any pon- -
,i '

, . ,
Vf ' celdns1. '

lJ -- -1

!? ,'. , i. ; ,i
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-- MR .-EL- LISON : iob j eot-tb-hismathe-
matiis

alzque.ej&XoHBlSO
5

Of course Auguat is before October Mi'
THE COIRT:- - She has not "said it was August;

MR. ELLISON: She a aid it was the summer time y your , mA
fnmfmmi iu

"

Honor, end it was stated before to be August

Q Was it before October? A' I don't remember what month ;it ,un,niHMaHnai
J" JratSKMMilSSB

0

was.
?tlllBi

y, was Tin ej-weatii-

er

--owana or coox.
.

n,;
- ..n.t jim

. .. . . .- TT ii il j T-- 3 J. n J .4. M St m v

now xong was it, aix-e-r you nau mex. Tms gen axeman ao uaub f
, r

son's point? A Qh, well, I knew-hi- m long before,

BY THE COURT: ' .
q

lt '

n , . . --r ,. . , , ., V t
.w iou were nox. asea now JLoruc vou .new mm. now jluiik was j. o , v

T - W .- - - W i.l,
A 1

after you.met him? A. I don't remember
- v4il'f.,T?338S?

BY MR. SANDLER: YW.

Q A short time after? A Ho.

Q Well, a month? A Ho, it was more than that,, it was a

couple of months.
i

Q Wasn't that a couple of days after you met at ClasBon'e

Point that the defendant and your- - sister collect at your Home?

A Ho , sir.
Q Can't you try to remember? A Ho, no, no.

(i You don't want to remember that night, do you? A What do
7

m !

you mean, I don't want, to remember?- -

MR. ELLISON: I object to that statement.

THE COURT: She was asked a question,, put it as a

question, but da Tret make a statement
.i
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'jm . ,'..1 w. xuur Bxuuui bcuuiiiou nero ii was t;wo aava aixer yo uw .. ,
-,-iiiau-

mac5i..- " i - T'y- - awl ' i1

., .. ,,., wv,a3mmm&K
BJ. : ' ' ' r - ' ' ' '"-- i I..W ,,i.

had met at Glaooon'a Doint? A No. 'nr. '
. .'f'Tf ftfii

.- - L iSufi8S
? Tiimnr i ii

Q. Can yo,u tell the Jury about how long after, either' a week

.w..w v. i wv w jrvu mt u.w wiooauu-- H fUlUb f A HOXJ.,; ' 'IKS
' ...

it was a couple of months but I knew this gentleman. - , rWHWWI-- " .1..' . .

Q That is not the question asked? A I knew him before, he- -
4 M ST A

' JsC

fore I ever met him at Clasaon's Point. :i ....ii -ii-
-3Sail

t w 4C4Tv ffiflSH
MR. ELUSON: Well, I don't know wha,t question he Is

asking.

i Well, anyway, this is the night your husband had to take

the watchman's place?A Yes, Sir. 'WWw

Q Andnhat 'was" the night that the defendant called on you

with your sister, 'with the complainant in this case, is that
41 Slll

correct? A She had a date with him and she came there IfoVmy

house and asked1 1 should go with her and she was supposed to

meet him at 125th street and she met him and we all went up to
- I i

my house.- -

i

ft Aid ycu all got to the house? A' Xes.

Was the baby home, You have a child, haven't you? A Ce-

rtainly.

Q What time --Aid you get to the house?, A Well, it was about

ten o.'clock or .half past ten.
Q Howjnany people were in the house altogether, outside

t

of the baby? A, Five afl us; outside of the babythere were four of
up.

Q The defendant, your --sister, the jcomplainant, in .this case,
.

and yourself and who alse? I .don't know what you mean. Four
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1 fiwwmsm HVI
-- of us-ar- id- the-baby-wa- s-f-i ve .-- v

tiC

Q Who wao the fourth peroon? A A friendXof his. 1 wSHESh l

j, What ie his namo? A Solly, that is all I know.
9 ' H '

,

Q Solly Wi'shnick? A "I don't know; I just know Solly;'.' '&
--w& ift i.Jtjwoi.m mmmmr

- i98wi "'F1o How long do you know that name? A Oh, a long time, be- - i:H!
'

cause I met him. It, J VjJMBUrWf?irjfti
- sw, r , $ 3iK(. s te

' '&. H"K&!"I,SaT.iB

..".
--n--.- i,-- . 1- ,- .,,-- . l,ni,nnjn a nru. .u4...i t. aZ.S --

'-

-- 4 illlafiSii' uucu ue Aituw vwui uuouauu( a. jkiia' , uoj. ouxiij-- j no uudo t&fs&qsm

Has he called on you bef pre? A Surely, often.

l Very frequently? A He used to call often at my house.

Q, He was a visitor there? A A friend of my husband1 b.

Q Prior to the night that your husband was away had- - this
man Solly 'ever spent the night at your house? A. well,--h-e

never spent the night before, but they' come in, and they&werV f'MS
playing cards. .

Q Just yes or no? A No. s

Q, Did you ever orisit any places of amusement with Solly?.

A I guess not.
Q Moving picture shows? A Ho, not alone, unless we went

in a group.

Q Well, if your husband was with you,, of course? A Xes. Hb. Hi JB
(j You went to Olasson's' Point sometimes with your husband

and Solly?- -

TiiE COURT: Please get along with this examination,

npw. Do not go back to Olasson's Point.
v Well, that night .u got back to the houqe at half past

ight? . Ten o'oluck. J '
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I &. A Tit ta.n, - i "tnat iV ve aiunou xnat ;?IKSyJiillri tTi
-- " H merBuia,you,oj.eep nigaxr sjieep t j-rj- z

j

night, at all. They did not want to get out' of, the house. '

HOTi. - '

They were sitting there all night. I was sitting up, I couldn't;, m
'go to bed on account-o- f them. fniSur

4

T,
-

Q On account of whom? A- - On accoun of this gentleman here

(indicating, defendant). ''c,
Q, Vfaat. waB the matter with him? A Oh, well, you are cracking, ' st

jojses: l qo not reel HKe joicing now . - ,;-- . .: "M

ftSIBHi -

MR: ELLISON! Iv must object to counsel's method of , " kjsKJ
- 1 --y ' 7 o

cross examination, He says what was the matter with him.
-- v.

THE COURT: This is a collateral matter on cross

examination to affect the credibility. Do not spend all
the afternoon on it. please. ,

- , V- - J f
Q Why couldn't you get him out? A They were playing cards,

and he was supposed, to be- - a friend of my sister's. He was a

gentleman friend of my sister's. Was playing cards just. for
past time, not for money, and then afteryards she got lred

f

playing, cards, my sister, and she was sitting on the couch,'

and this gentleman waa sitting near her in the rocking chair, and

me and this other fellow was sit.tlng at a table talking, talking

all nifcjht. I don't know whether this gentleman here was asleep

or not, but. the rest of us was all awake., I didn't go to sleep,

for that whole night, I was "sitting up.

3, Did you ever sit up before that way all night? A Well, I

had no reason to sit up- - all night. X didn't I didn't want

tc. leaves them alone.- - -
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i ' 664i" " Q?,Why didn't Mr. Sdlly go 'home? A. 'He was waiting for His
, ; . Lt : . : .

r.t .a m,. ... A,i,ii .,. 4-Vi--
A. i.i a --l . ' . .-

- iaij.cuu. xiiu ,woic cuuxiiig ium, bj.me &ogexner. ne wao vtar-King'- , --ji;H mifor him. i

Q, . You, did not occupy the bedroom that night, did you? A
i ii iTHIMwin

wffi
Well, I was sitting there in my dining, room with them all dayl' f i9H WHWHSr

4 f&

o, I just asked if youwent to-th- e bed room at-all- ? A NofcMr"" yWfc aiM

o You didn't go to bed? .A I should say not. X wouldn't l ?lisraS.,
E JiTw X:-,&&i!lf-

il

jSSilHileave strange people in my house end I should go to bed.

Q You did not see the defendant and your sister on the
' 1 -- i

couch? A No.
'Bu.'JSE l

0, Was your sister lying down on the cotch? A She was sitting v J rj

there.
:

Q Did she lean back? A No. --M'ifwi-- " 3f

Q Sitting straight all the time? A Well, she was 'sitting;r-- .Vi

4
m

by the table, and then she was sitting on the couch. I' didn't ,fi

see her laying, down, no.

Q, And you sat until. what time in the morning? A It was

about five or four o'clock in the morning they JLef.t.
t

Q, 'Did yoursister leave too? A Ho.

Q Your sister remained? A That day she went to take some
HI' sHposition. -- r

Hadn't-sh- e been working at that time? A No, she was in
;my house.

Vas your sister out of work? A Yob.

Q. You know what' I mean? A Yes, she was living with me r ,

that time. 4"All. T"- --P". A



m riJT

L: M' Was she out ofork?A Yes, she was living with me that
...., ,, JS, .

. , , , . . .fr ,.nJ.r--1; i ,mmM j i i i if i it- -.. t

n time".' She went back to Mrs. Cosby. A
1 ,.

Q But siie haWbeen-oUt'o- f work up to that time, hadn't
wir--

she? A She was out of work a short while, about a week, or so. ;

Q Well, she come and "she went from Mrs. Cosby1 s house at

wo4 nna 1woo9 QVio rH rT ,. wnTlr .'nriv --fo r tl'Tfl . nnnlvir. rtl d nTlfl9, .
. K"l.WV. ww. M - - ,, ,

.&$3&M

A She worked, she was there a year and a. half once, and then

she went back again, because 'hey liked her very muc.h.
' w

Q, How long was she out cf work altogether? A I don't re- - .

member that. -
--IS

Q Was she ever out of vork six months? A- - Ho, she was

always working, if she was out of work a week that was too much

for her.
Q She always got a job? A. She always was working; " hard,,

'too.

Q . You say that the defendant and your .sister called on you

very often while you were up in Brook-avenue,- ' is that right?

, A Brook avenue? -

ji'- - Q, In your'bjouse? A In 130th street?if ' -

fy Yes. A Yes, he used to come there. Sometimes if she

was not theree came to seeifr she was there.

4 Q Did you ever have any trouble with your sisterf 7befqrjv

she met this defendant? A Never had any trouble with her,

never. . --r-

L,
Q Why were you so worried about your sister 'going with this

man? A I waB worried?
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'QTea. A WeTl, blfcauee:irHeFdhe ployed o ard3T0Qe rSo '

mm 9

i--w . MlI didn't want her tb get a man that played cards and gambled
away everything he has, that is why. IS

(I And-y-- ou 'objected for that reason 'that the defendant .should
4 J55JPw33T2jl!igo vdth your sister? A Positively, because I'sdd'that he wiil

gamble away everycent that he will earn.
Q Have youmet any of your sister's friends since she has" iV&

m

Deen in this country, lady and gentlemen friends? A Wall',

a few of them.

q- - You know this 'man for quite a while, you say, prior to the
summer of 1913? A""Yes. 'in

Q That he was a bad man and card piayer, and gambler? A Yes.
0, Why d'idyou introduce him to your sister at Classon'sPoikt?

-

A I didn-f-t Introduce him. He says, -- "Why don't you put me

next?" "Why don Wfcojiintroduce me?"

Q bid he say "next"? A He said "Why don't you intr-
oduce, to this, girl?" And I said, "That Is my sister"; and

I didn't even give him a regular introduction.
Q Did he say "Why don't putyou me next", or"Why don't you

ive me an introduction?" ,a That is what he said.
Q You know what that means ,. don' t you? A I don' t know, ''sir.

Well,, you introduced him, didn't you? A Yes, sir, half
ways .

Q Do you know any of your "slater's friends? Did you ever know

"Prank' Ross? A Ho,- - air.
(V,

--4 Frank smith? Ho. '
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He oays, Did yu ever know any of your si ster' s tfriends,," 4' PT(
II

and then asks, .''Did yau know Prank Rose?"
.

"
.,

' ' ?x ,'''- -

"

' v -

. THE COURT: Just ask if she knows those people.
Q Do you know Prank Roes? A Ho. .

Q, Do you know Minnie Smith?. A I knov; a girl namedMihniefjs

but I don't' know if it is the same,
'

: :. -- ...': ,,
.

h
VAaOTMHH

.-

-

, ,. . ... ' .... ':Q do you know a nan named Joe, an .Italian gentleman? "
A- - No-- f

j jfflH..(-- . . . ..., . , ...
willQ Did. your sister Jkeep company with any man? A She kept -

company with Mr. Katz. ' '
.

'-'-

..

,
.

Q And when did she start to keep company with Mr. iCatz?

A I don't --exactly remember because she lived in my --other""
. .

'" "- - ' '- - .' '
" ' ..--

'. -

rf-fTimK-Cjaa

sister's house. , fi'.,&ywgi
V5Vn v

Q How long does she know Mr. Katz? "A,. Por a couple of .years
rnow.

Q How long is Mr. Katz in this country? 'A About three years,

I guess, or so. - '

.

Q He did not come here last year, did he? A Well, I don't
knov; when he came. ', ,

J You believe he is here ab.ou't. three years?- - A That is what ' .-

- VH

B JlLTt ABI thinki. ..:'.''. .

Q Mr. Katz. is engaged to your sister, is he? A Well, she.
igoes out with him how.

;. He gave her a ring? A Tes.
--J Hasn't a wedding 'date: bean set? A No. .

'i Vhen is thi wedding to take place? A. I don't know, and I
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don't know if she is emiafced-a- t all. . &&'mMHi IKHnB P11" a

Q WellT-Ho- wr do you know Charlie Hiroch? A' Wellf noje MUM Kls haHMpHf I

me i iiiixi, x ilea xtx ua --
ii-Liu, . -- , . :

4 , :fn
Q He ie a friend of'-yoru- r --sister's? A I couldn't teli-yo- u r '"S g

v 4J 1r

whether he is or not, because I nevar seen him, aid I never

met nim. -
, ' . .,' As

-- -
Q You didn't try to stop this man from marrying your slate:

did you, at any time? A I didn't like it very much when I 41 "j,Mm
tSb--B

heard it, no, that he come down and told me that he is going to;X rafcalSBH

marry her, I didn't like-i- t no. He even 'said, "What are you bojy
sad'about? You think to yourself, 'Poor Frieda', don't you?n, "'

r s.iSiSBiI

he said to me. Well, I-sai- d, "I do, I am sad over it. because- - wJill n
jaft?

I knov; she is a good girl and she deserves a good home. "
T

v y?i?

Q Now, did your sister enjoy your confidence? Did she

tell you all her troubles? A Yes.

Q, Everything? She told you all her 'troubles , didn't she?

A Yes.

1 Will you tell this jury when did your sister first tell
you that -- this defendant had had anything to do with her?
A Vhat do you mean?

Q Oh, in a bad way? A Yes, that as the Sunday before
he was arrested.

He was arrested on November 27th? A Yob.

T1913? A ves.
Q On November 25th approximately shs told y'nu somej&ing?

.

A --'.ne 1 old me.
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4 Jellltho. j ury-wha.VsheolUy6-
U?JLShe

!. i
.

.

.

" "- - ;v
-- ,.' 3HK

started in to pry and I said, "Vhat are you crying? " She said : m
. ... :

It- -

"Gussie, i ani going to tell ypu, nobody else but yjou, in case;;;;.

anything will happen to me", she says, "you should know the
MH5

whole story." .So she started in to tell me that he wants her

to go out on the street, and he has friends in 100th street ?, --' i

:

Q Well. I mean about ruining: her or trying to cet the best ;.

of her? A Yes So she says that he treats her very mean, he i'v$ 3... , ,

always tell her she should go. put to work', hustle for him, and

she would not get nothing to eat, and he only leaves her ten 1

cents a day and sometimes he don' t leave her that much, and "

::-te- J

when she asks him for. money he says, "Well., go 'put and hustle
-- rj'-

- i

for money, like others do", and she says,. "I wouldn't do it. ?

"Well , yo u will .have to do it"., he said, she told me , "Bee ause

I will starve you and you will" have to do it." U4

Q What else did she say? Tell the jury everything she said

to you? A. Then she says she didn't know what to dp', she is-afrai-
d

of him because he has got a gun, she iB actually afraid

and she don't know what to do. Then she sayB to me that "He

brought me up to a house, to Mrs. " -- - I forget her name--- .. Ifl"Mrs. .leVinson." v.

Q Some restaurant people?" A' "Wo-yt- o a. house, Mrs. Levinson's,

arid he said thatshe slrould go to work..'

BY THE FORMAIl 0 THE. JURY:
" '

;
.

Vhere tfas levinson's house? A Well, the detective knows
'-t-

-'"- --
F-f

"

.V-- '

where it is.
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BY MR. SANDIER: ' . vv
. r. ?" """

v .. :- - 'J mi,.... , ...-.'.(....- . ' .r t;
H uo aneaa. Ana sne otartea to cry and one don!t know' ' T

wVln. flo rin n rid-- , nil ft' frill- - In nilnli Vtnrirla 'onrl Vooa roaf.nv'fin. .XkV
... ..

.

, .... .".,. . T-- . , ,
" '... "1"

people. 'always tell her she should go out arid huBtle and make

money and wear swell clothes like others do. So Bhe aald, "No,: .;

'
. .

fc-gqaa-

aaw

I don't want to wear no swell clothes, and I don't want to

dirty my family, and I wouldn't go out and hustle"
q Is that all she told you? A And then she begged me what

--.1 .W&ftimaWB
os-- .thxnttmna

she should do, and she went upto my other sister's house, and ': "ik fflff.'' '
. v&s

my other sister said, "The best thing, if you. are afraid of hlm ''.
--

' " '. . .
k- - ygtSm

and ,he has a gun, fyave him arrested and the law knows what they E

have got to do with him, what he deserves. '
. ,.

What else did she tell you about herself?- - A And then-thi- s

restaurant lady says . ."., ", '

. Did she tell you anything about hersilf, her. relationship
' m

with this man? .

MR. ELLISON: Well, she is telling, you.

BY THE COURT: You are not asked what the restaurant keeper said

but what your sister said? A Well, .1' am telling you.

BY MR . SANDLER : ".-
,--

Q, Have you told the jury everything tETat your sister tqld
yyu? A SUe said thtl reason she came down for $50 -

Q That was on November 25th, tw'o days before the- - defendant

was arrested? A Yes.

Q Did youhiire any tXk wftH your Ulster i,n the ... mon'tk of:
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AMM

.,- - ' -- ?. .' .- -.' . . . .
; - :s Va & 'Ifc A. No ,she. never -- -. ' .?;& 1 r& -- ft --4

Hj'" pi
Q Did you have any talk with your siater in. the month of

I'A
-

. September.? A She never told me, only that day, She toiL(mey .- - i 1

that, she wants to confess everything in case anything should
..,-9aA-

P --
-'

-- -

---- ;

happen to her I should know everything. ''2a'. , . --
'

Q You have told the jury everything she told you? A She

''.'' '.,'''"'.''.;.' .

'
,

' v.
' lyillWMlltold me the reason she bailie down for the 50. Then she told -- .

me, Gussle, you saved my .life, you saved me, because he would

have dragged ne into a house if I did net give the $50. M He.

said, "I will bring you away far, you will have to go." She mjk

said, "I. won't go"; and "Suppose", she said, "I go and I am on

the street and-I-g- et arrested" , she said, "The whole bunch of

you willbe in Dutch", aid he said to her,' "Ob! , well,- - don't
tell. If you get arrested, don't tell that I sent you out.

Don't' tell them you go out hustling for me.".
Q And that is all she told you? A Certainly, it is right.

I won't say'nothihg that is not right.' '

.--

':.

-
J- - . :.-.- "

Q Are you familiar with your sister's physical condition
as to her monthly periods; menstruation -- - do you know what

I meaa? Did she confide in you on-that-au-
bjeot?

A I don't
-- -"

ft- -

know what you mean?

J: Q ; Wpli, when yo.u sister becomes unwell?, A Yes.
S Q. Pid.'se dacuS8that with you? A Oh. well, she never

ells ma -- abu: AhdffC .. , : , -.....,
, '. ,Mha;t shte aeydr ells yftu?' A Wel-L- , she-Jia- a , jio r eaaon- -



'1 ,F94
IDid she tell you anything about having oexual lnter- -rVWfti '"" ' 1' " r"" !- - - '; -

MIS 2

bourse with this defendant? A Tea. She told me how he took
ZZ&X

. her upf and how he took her out with two more people, and

then afterwards' those two left aad they were going to visit
M

somebody,, and he took her to, visit a party, and he took her WpBgHB!

up to a furnished room, she didn't know where she was going,
from, the restaurant she was going there. Afterwards the two jv.

leftand he was left with her there, That; Is what she was

telling me.
-- i

.Q She told you nothing about the fact that she had connections
with this man-,-' did ohe? A Why, certainly, she told me that

VI

it, Sri

he ruined her, ,

Q Ruined her? A Yes. .
--

'

Q Why didn't you tell that to the jury? When did he' ruim
her,. A When he took her up to that flat, there, up to that
room that he said he was going to visit somebody, - and he went

with two more, with another girl
Q Do you know where that was? Did she tell you when she

was ruined? A. Tes, she told me but I don't remember the day.
Q. do you remember the month? A I don't remember that day,

no , -

i Do you remember the month? A Well, I suppose he ruined
her next day when he took her away, because one night she

slept with, those restaurant people. m
Q, Well, did he go away with her on the day that y-o- u melt

at Olasson'o Fdilnt? A Oo away?
' '

. Jl
1
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EBffo
Qu-Y- es ,dldnJ-tthe-yt kn yn hnma f i rat and then went away,

, yffifl?

from you? A Mot only him but a. crowd of us was 'there. , she
SErfe

went to Mrs. Weinberg. - -
- - i

PI: l Q Can you tell the jury when your sister toldyouBhe was

ruined by this defendant? Try to fix the time. A After he

took her away, the next day. .

' """"
BY THE COURT:

Q Took her away" from where? A From Mrs. Cosby. - --

Q Then you say that the next night after that she spent

with sime restaurant people1, and '.the next- - night went to. this

furnished room A Yes; "he told her. he was to go. to visit
somebody, so two more people went up there and after that left
him remain with her there.
BY MR. SANDIER:

Q, Did you "hear your sister testify in the police court?

A What do y o u me an?
i

Q You were in the police court when your sister was telling
her story about this man? A Yes, I was there that time.

Q What charge did you make against this man? Was it
white slavery?

MR. ELLISON: Object'ed to as immaterial- - to this issue

as to what charge. It assumes that this woman made a

" ' ---charge.

Objectibn sustained. Exception.
r

.-'-

-

Q Did you hear your sister in any court tell any judge as

to when she was ruined by this defendant?'
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-- MR. ELLISON: Objected to as immaterial to this iomie.

Objection' ouotalned. Exception..
A sir

T

Q Do' you know how long after you introduced your sister to
- - I- - LJl

the defendant that she had sexual intercourse with him hoV

long a-- niae was xt, a wees or a monw or tjwo or uoreev a a,
W1WB
3mHdon't remember.

&
Q "What do you mean, you don't remember? Do yiu know? A When

he ruined her after he met her?

Q, How long after he met her through your introduction, did :

he have sexual intercourse with her? Just look at me, do not
i

look at the District Attorney.
y1

MR. ELLISON: I object to. this statement of counsel.'
i

BY THE COURT; -
"

.
' ""J

Q Then did your sister fell you that this man. first had &isHSa

connection with her? A . When she came down and they were

married.
Q That is the day she told you, but did she say when the

occasion took place? A She tolaVme after she confessed ,every-- i

thing that Sunday.

4 ty When did she say that she and this man had connection

together? A The rext day when he took her away from Mrs.

Cosby.

BY MR. SANDLER:

Q CaiPyou fix that date? A I don't remember exactly the

date. " '
. - .J ' j'

0; lut yfea , remember all the tilings abput the glmV'lif'Xesr r

i Ti --$5J
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jl

&&:. MRv EISON: How, we are wad ting Jim
' '

' BY THE COURT:
' ' .. '

.
";

"I

Q, You didnt see tier taken away from Mrs cosby's? A No.,,

Q You dont know the date of your own knowledge? ;A" No i: ', '
.

BY- - MR.. SANDLER: '
. ' .".'- - .''"-- . ''"'

Q Do you know Mrs. . Cohen? A Mrs. Cohen?; - ;
iv,;,v.''-'- '

'
..

' ....,
Q .Yes. A I know her. " ' , ;

f

Q Did you ever tell Mrs. Cohen you were going to run'fawayv' ,.,

' 3with Abie, the 'fellow that stopped , in your house? A I never- -

'
-- .

:
'

..

' j -
.-

-.. :
.

said that". The fellow that stopped in my house? 1 - '

Q, at night:, yes. . A Able? . ',' ;

'2JL

Q To Mrs , Cohen, yes . A That I fun' away With Abie? I am'

a married woman, - run away with Abie I
"

. . -

THE COURT: What night do you refer to? , .

'; ''. .'
.f-.v-

,

MR. SANDIER: The night they spent. the f bur :of thert,
.

THE COURT: There was not any-Abi'e-
.' there, then, .

i ,. ,- -, --ar

l '--'
,m. MR . S ANDIERjj A dl fferent f e llow , y our Honor .

.THE WITNESS:- - Certainly, that is a fine one I

Q Didyou see any of the. uhderslothas of: your sister?
v A Yes, it Is going to be here right away-- Wa sent for it.

Did youusave it? A Jewish "people always save if, "because'''. , '- -,''-- '.- -'

the family "want to see If -- et.girlge.traarried that is the
C -

'. ..: ''' . .'
' '

Vv-v-:-
-

. Jewish rule, they always want to see if she was a respectable
""....- - ''.".- - ."" :' .

-- :.'-,

'

'v girl.- -

'

:. -- -
'

..""..-- "

Q .Where did you laarn that rule? A My aunt told me that.
.'Sh-i- s an old woman and she has told' me that. a' - '

ijUS .j4- - ....
O Whn ill va first se the underwear? A I oeqn. It when- - I

-- M
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went up 'to visit Jior one day. ..
"

, .--

,

j,- -

Q What month was that in? A Well,, that" was about,;a,vweek
.I i l

after she had him arrested, but I ' didn't know anything 'about
' J. T

.it,, anything then.
Q, Well, then you saw. it for the first time in November or

December of last year? He was arrested on the 27th of NovembervS

and a week after that you first saw your si sterns jinderwear,

isn't that correct? A Yes sir.,

' - -

Q How long before that did you Inquire about the under- -...
wear? A I didn't inquire at all; '

she showed it to -- me. 4''.1 '.' '
Q, Well , you are your sister's guardian, you are a married!

sister? A' Yes. "'..". ."
.

..';aa
' '. &

"Q looking after her Welfare? A. Yes, I .
come down there ,; and i-:- J

- :.-- !

she showed it to me.

Q When did you seeit for the first time? A I don't... - . . .

remember, the date.
Q Well, what month?' A YeXT it was - what month?' Well,

it was about a month after he ruined her.
Q When did he ruin her? A What do you mean;?'

THE COURT: bo not let Us go into all these- - things
' '.'" . v' .''

'
-- '.

' '

...

'

again. .

'
.

.

A. (Witness continuing) I cannot remember all the dates. I
haven't got a lawyer's head. .'.'.
BY7THE COURT:

'--

-::'- Do you remtmber thev day ho showed you the paper from .

... tlit' City HjO.1?. '
A Tea . '

, V.
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K A T nVia nViwr friil '..'fViOafl lin
.

HTV"1 Q"fclGH b efor ev;.thatfft o r '.;S2f..wj.. ? ywj jr ". .;.:, ,&: 4 - &
' .t'-Ji- . '

after? A Well, much after that, " . .'" "
.- - - i ". iJ

--V--'' .".
.

.;. TWJS- v,i "r
r ,

-- ji,
w now mucn aiiiei" lixiaxY r aduut; iiYtJ utuyo iuior i wunu auwu . ...

. ' . " '',' - 1' T -- .
"l

in her house and she showed me that underwear, and she showed, me'
. .

--
. .-

-:,;..

'
i .

that Charlie owns a gun.

BY MR. SAUDLER:
'

. j

Q So you believe our sister was ruined after she obtained SialS -

'-

-.

.-- '.''". - .' "

that marriage paper? .-.- :

.MR. EILISON; I object to that as a statement of

counsel; .she didn't Bay anything of the kind.

.
THE COURT: objection sustained. '

-- ' -- iSI

Q After he got 1hat paper, Peoples Exhibit 1, the marriage

license', when He came and showed it-t- o you, do you remember.
'that? A.Tes,. sir, ' '

Q It was the week after that that you inquired from your

sister as to this underwear? A She showed it to me, yes.

0 Prior to that time you never had any, talk with her and she

with you about -- this -- -- A No, that he wants her to do white

slavery, no i .

--;'i"-

't;-

14- - ,
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HE? iIR8. PAULINE NUSS-BAUM- , called as a witness in
m "behalf of the People, being first duly sworn, testifies as

follows: '

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. ELLISON:

Q Yhere do-yo- u live? .A 260 Yest 143rd St. ,'' "

Q Are you married? A Yes, sir.
121 TmmI

, , .
Q Have you any family? A I have one baby.

6 hH9hH99 fc

Q Are you a sister of Frieda Milovitz? A ves , sir.
Q Do you know this defendant Charles Weintraub? A , I have

seen him the first tine uay house viien he came over with my sister
Frieda Milovitz and she-introduce- d me . ,

Q That is the first time you eve.j: saw him? A Yes. -

fifiwB

Q Vhen was that? A . That waB around September 3rd or 4th. ,. mi
HI

Q, Wasit while Frieda was working for Hiss Cosby? A Ho, it --

was while he said she was married to him. 0,Q You don't know whether it was September, or October then, do

.you? A It was in September.'

Q 'Do you know the months of the year? A Not positive.-
1

is

I Q "What month Was it? A It wad in September, the 3rd' I

&ue88.

'J Q Are you sure it was not November 3rd?

MR.' SANDLER:" , I will object to ttyat.

THE COURT: Yes .

Q Just tell ua who called at th heue? A" Frida came
k
14. " "'

Fried Hilovitz dame .with Qharley Weintraub. W " - -
'

' fi
" - ' i '- - - . ' f 4.

u . I- - A , , J
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i'V
.- -.
Q- - What did s they aay when they colled on. you? ; just toll iiJMfvM

.if II r II
"' m

'" us.- - rA-- Ke-tnirad- ucgd hiisaelf to me us her husband, !arid 'ffftyodrBPfeS' w v
mmma wtm

to see the marriage license or certificate, whatever you, ycall it;'
.V ! Win- - '

EST So he objected showing it to mo, but I said ."I am the oldest sinter rTs--
i-i FTl11

' . -

and I deserve so much, " arid he. should show it to me, the license or

whatever you call it so .he wouldn't hut she said "Well, show it to hex;..
ii n iBttiMiWfyf- -

because she. wouldn't believe lis"; and then he showednKJa-pape- r, but; , AtQ
. t.4

'
"---

'-.

' ..--
M

k. . .. --...-.I don't know whether it was a license or not. oecause l nave never

seen any license, I waa not married in the Court here.
'-- J -

Q, How don't you know that that was the month, of November that

they called-an- d showed you a' paper? Do you know when winter is?
''.' '..'.'.'' ' '

.
.

'"

A Winter? '

.V iaj uu xwiiuw mica yui id ouiao xo i xt i to x?vi
? i A-- '

Q VThen? A The 31st of December,
.''' ' i "..

Q, Well, we will take the. December part of it. A 25th of
' 'December. -,--

i

'

. - MM'
q How long was it before Christmas thatther called 'on you? A

V ; ;V:V'' '" L.' ;.
'

It is about six weeks . ;

"'. '''-i-

-

, i ''q Yhen aid you see the defendant again after that first visit?
i --

'

When did you see theiA again? A V7e.ll he came often then to my

house.

0, Did he come there with Fireda?t A He came with Frieda

ftn.
. .. .

i
He used to. eall there? -- A He used to call of teirr; lie-wa- s

for his dinner or -- supper.-.

, $ jjifli Frieda?- - A 'Yes .'.
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. :ww I?-

- !u - ' ,mm V 1 ' I'&.?? ,- - A

v---. 4- - .Andypulthought they were married? A Positively. .

k2Hw --
' ...

ifi. HR. SAKDLER: I object to what, alio thought.
'

I
THE COURT: Objection sustained.

Well, they stated they were married.
$fc( H i mill

Objected to; .objection sustained.

J What if anything did they say about being married?'

Objected to as leading; objection overruled.
. a '&l32iaammw

A He "said that he loved her and he married her for love and

will try to. give her a good home, and all sort of things, and then
- jT-jlS-

Wi

J A

vhen I asked him why don't he want to. furnish up a flatt two or ' J

' three rooms or so, and furniture put in it, so he always had some

other excuse. So she used to come often and I seen she is not -- - not j

that she is a happy --married woman, only .she is a hungry woman. --
?

Q How long has .your sister bee'n in this country? A, She came

in August, the 18th or 16th. I guess the .. 18th I took her off myself j

Q lKh.it year? A 1910.

CI What has your sister been doing since she is living in this
country? A She was living out, working.

(I As vhat? A As a servant .girl. .

CROSS rXAKirATION ?Y HK. SAHDLKR:

Q Did you tfnjoy your sister's confidence? A YouJiave got to
?--.

tell. me.

Q ou 4id 70 ur 3ister were very fond of each other? A Well,
,i

sisters --o- ne time we were good and one time" w were gighting.

15pj are the oldest sister? .A Yea. t
Q Yu exacted naturally that fiid would .'.coke around one
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Jr3 5

i ' I J 1'
Q How of ten did she ctdl ;on y,ou? A Well, "Lseeri that she

.

-
, .'.;,...,.

is'most of the time -- - ''."
"'BY THB COURT: '

Q hov often did ahe , call on you, that is the question? A
'

.
--

:

.

' "

. .'.Well,- - the last time before
...

he was locked jtp she Oalled 'pretty ."nearly!
' At".

", .
- r , mi

BY MR2SA1TDLEB:. '

c

Q Well, I will take you back to September oz last year. Did

she call-o- n you --very often in the month of September? A After ehe
rr ' ."''- - - - -- -

,
--

. ..-'- .

came and said, that he said he was married to .her, and as a married

woman she , came often to my house.
I '-- 4r 'f t&- V

Q But did she come very often before that time? A She was A8
: - ."..

' "' " '..'v . '.. .

: :..
. - '.. -1- -

:.,
' V

places, ahe could not come very often, because she wars "hot off .

Q Did she come every two weeks?' A Sometimes once in two
..-- ' ; '-"- "."

.

. "'.
' ' ' '

:-
-;' ;' ':

"-

-.'

". weeks and sometimes she went to. my other sister's, so she was not
'--

."" '''.-?.- -

. all the time. ..-..'.--

, ". .
'.--

-

' -

q Do you know whether she was in, a place in October last? You
' "

.
' "

1 '.''

.

'-- 4 t

know that- - is- - the --third inohth before the last? A Yes, yes she was..''. "
..-...-

-
i 1

in a place. --
..-.

"' 9, Vhm h working for? A She was working, that time

for Miss Cosby . . .

Q And did. you see her during tEa40irfc. A
" I have seen her

r epuplqf-day-s before she was marriedte hik, "

.

q Die yen htt talk with-lie- r?'& A Well, I Just asked" her
'."?- - steal she 1 ioitx'a- - anu the .wW. afe ahe left the place..
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WjjBISipTOi iv i Q-- Did-you-aakheEab-
outherf

uture-plana-thatshehu-
c!L to Jiuke?.f'Vs. JP

i' if
r A 'Well, because aho, wao married I had aver known she is going wr-t-n

, ;;

Jap? . that -- - she ia going to marry that follow, she never was telling me,'
'- -

because she wouldn't bring him up to uy house in there, because 1

wculdn' taocept company like that.
C , Tn n-r- H or .r --Plir Mf .im- -' .hrt 1inti.., urftti o"h rH yiH rm '-

-

,

4&snsi
W-fc- W. WW -- - r- - ..-- .. ft WW W MMM W W WM W W4

November 3rd -- - have you got. that in your mind? A Yes.
1 wQSsHbh

Q How many days before Ho ember 3rd did you meet your sis&ef, .

the complaining witness, or speak to her? A --I "don't know; it
E 1

was a few days before. I don't mind myself.

f Vftll 4 TdTin'Wl'V'T? A T AVinrtVli V ShphBClV m rt nClM V Y r --vsvn Anm "V
J-W- U WIU tiU W biliOiilUQJi --A. WUii 11UU X OmOHlWO X ftlUfH lt-4i- ijf U.CLJf D $J0

,f--t-

I seen her before, but I don't know-ho- w many days.
Mil
'.

Q, She came to your house together with this' defendant ail 'the.x rt

'night of November 3rd,that was the day which the license had been vl
obtained on, do you remember that incident? A That was on a

Monday.

Q Did you see your sister 'the day befofe -- - S unday? A No.

Q Or Saturday? A No.

Q Or Firday? A It was more than that.

Q . "Did you have a good talk with your sister on that night when

she came there with this young m&n and the license? A I didn,&

speak to her much, I was too much surprised about to hear --- to think

like that. X"Sidnt know anything about going out w4thATfellow,
,- - ,

and all o-- f a suddefr she comes and tells me she was irarriadj' iTwas
' '"V" . .-- . ' ...

it great surprise, find 3 "hM QgeJTmy, sQppert? r r Li
,

ft
' "Bio she telrl iliig'ttFmit h-- i 'rIc.itttni-wii:- h im
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,-

- -- ,

' '' '.-- . , v
. ,

man, you know what I mean, how" Intimate she was with this man? A-
.

&
' - "

- : --j '
- L

.

,; ..;
"Tisr1"'

W&J She was not telling me anything extra, "but after thatishe waB telling'

me, after they ,were married. '" .'' ,jn.v
. y--

..C-- Ck I .mean that night. Of course, your sister was. a good girl ';

before November 3rd, ao far aa you know, wasn't she1? A Positively'
" a good girl. :

' And of course your sister did not tell you that on October -

28th this defendant' had had connection with her , did she? A That r",

-- time, she didn' t tell' me,' not that time, . not that evening.

Q Did ehe ever tell you after that time" how long, a time prior m
rm

tc obtaining- - tl'.e license that this defendant had sexual intercourse
&

with her? A Vhen the trial, was going on.'
--Tj

sTST
Q The first time she told you that was in the police court?'

A Yes; that he took her away from the , .place-.- -
'

Q Did she tell you when she had sexual intercourse with this
man? A Oh, I .wouldn't; ask her. a thing like that.

,
Q She didn't tell you? A I didn't ask her. -- - -

Q Did you ever talk it over with your .other sister Mrs. Weiner?
: r ' '. ,"...'A I don't like to talk such things with ray sistw. ,

Q You are the oldest sister and she i3 thQs youngest? A- - Yea. H'..'" . ,
..

' ' ' .'."Q how diu you come to beja witness in this caBe then?". '

Ji : - ; y. - ; .-- -f..

(f R..i&LISOH: I object to-- the form of the question and

I o'-'jc-cw to --.t- ut question as-immateri- al . '
... .--

w....i

'

;"
' ' -

--

;

i
.

"
.

nm OO'JHT: 'Who sent for her K or brought her down?H2QpCt

i Wi:c isrke;'v ; :,e W'a witness? A I got & pajiar,. '.
-

'"'.c,; "1-i-
- "c--

-: i'lft- - elT mp0u"itot. 'ou Jmew'J A 'wi3Wtnev;
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.

Wore asking me.
- - '- -.' ysLa . l

Q Who asked you?
.-

- ' '

,--

te

THE GOURT: Is this material? r"- - '--

. .r i ti -,- .-- -- SBSHSKHl 1

MR. SANDLER: I want to .. show what herp interest--d- s -- 'hereftH H?M.I

Your Honor. '

'-
- J"S - K ft-'- . .".n JJJ .. Xl . 1. A.

.W..-...-- .', 4-- V, J . O
i wi i - tti i --i n -- rnii i 1 r-- - i -- - i i-- i k i r

. in. iiiiiii. i.ri i n iivr- - ' i
W, IUJ.V4'i VIJ.M. JfWW w ww- -" wv- - rr-- w, ., ?! a- - 1

THE CGttRT: She came dovm. in consequence off havingharlnSceoelyeSfS
43Ca J"3 ear '

a paper, is that it
Tiffi witness Yes.

THE COTJRT: You got a paper and then you came down? ,V 1'
THE WITNESS:. Yes, I received a pink paper.

t
Q So she told you on November 3rd," the night she was there... ...- -

- v-aras- s

with this defendarnt, that she was married, did you "believe her? A,?

Well, I asked them to show a-pape- r and 'they showed the paper "but I'"'' '

didn't know whether that was the-righ- t .marriage certificate or not '1

because I never seen any one. before. '

y. but- - ,fou aav your aiaier was a gooa girx, you uiwr u ucxxevc 11

she would tell you a falsehood? A I As far as I know I am

positive my siBter was a good girl-an- d I can swear to it . . .

q And the paper they showed you you did not believe was a'

marriage papor at 'all? A Well at that; time I didn't Icnbw whether

it was a real marriage paper or not. I; did ask them to go by the
"""'"' y ''"--,-.- ': y

Je'wisii Law aad get married, but he Qbjected, he said he is married
. '. ".'"' '. '

.-

-'

in thd Court and that is enough.

4 Did you al? him --anything about' a .. Vtaiep on that pajier, why

it itia't atapM? A I diilB't know anything alout .-.- the printing
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Wrmmwt m on courtthings;y--or-stampin- g.

--jT

UR. ELLISON: The paper has the aeal dT-.th-e City of. Hew ; ; )
Re

York on- - it as a matter of faot. ' "

L - -- . J ' .' t

'ftR. SAHDLIER: I doit want 'this' at this time 'Your' Honor;

it is in evidence. ''
' IT

w Your Bister ana mis man -- continued to iivo tocetner in ei ".r.- iisi.i;
.

'- -

furnished flat for four weeks after that night, is that right?' A ,j

JICD . . . y--
"Vratf"

vH

q, And you Knew that, dian't youv a . Knew tney were living.; jj

.there, but I thought they were living as man and wife and were- - really,Vl
L, 5M

married. . i

Q, You never investigated any further thqn .that night, when they t J

were in your house? A Well, she told me after thatnhe wanted her

to do something, and then sb,e was talking about, domraittin crime, an
JPMffi

I said "Nothing- - to be done, we go and get him in front of the law

and let the law do what is right."
Q You thought white "slavery. A Shev told me he vahts her

to go out and pick up men in the street.
Q, And you said "We will take him and punish hira as a white

,

slaver". A I said "We will" go and bring him in front of the law

and let the law do what is right j" she should nojt-d- o anything, she

should not fight her. own case.

Q And because, he wanted ,to send her on the street, isu't that
t

i --si 'Lright .

s

'''., U.,13aa,X3CIf: I object to. that as immaterial. ThoTho Grand

- &5aAii- - " and feflj&s on trial . cr cnj.p crime.
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'.' THE COURT: Objoo.tibn sustained. ' It..iB.alr,aady answered
Bnnl

i ..ii.i 1, i T"(

anyway, i

pT'- - . Q Your" sister told you nothing else about what happened to hex-;'-- .

I m"the night she was ruined? A I didn't a ok her nothing what, happened x

s ''". ......-- , -

..' "
. . -

t
'

sut
v .

one cnia you nothing's... a
, ,i. didn't ask her anything., .

. ,. J.
FHBBSSm3CS!..- -

I ". . ." 1

Q Did"" she ever show you anything? A YeB.
t There is a i

4

. &M:
shirt; my huBbahd is going to brdng that rigk-t-a- w I even 'told "."' i

'' V
i . 4r

hpr shfl ahntild nut that nwav- .- -- - - r .

?- - 4K- -

w----- w " ' --- w --- 'r - - - - -jf v

tit"" A"

Q When did you Sirs t "find that--? A .Well, she came-there- ; tau

my house after and she said "Here" --j : ..'.

Q When was that, what month?- - A That was' about a day orv . . .
.

.

two days' after she was the first time, 'after she- - got the marriage

license, and she says to me'Here; sister, you shouldno-t- . think-- 1
'.'; v ,; : .'"...: : v .

1. ; ;".:;." '', .- -' ' '

.

was a bad girl, look at it." ,' .So'.I lays "I --aa glafi 'to see that
you were a good honest girl, ". and I Imve put that away. I

Q But she showed you nothing like that in October.

, THE COURT: . at. she say.8, it was after, so how could it be

in October .

RE DIRECT EXAMINATION "BY MR. ELLISON:

Q That is a Jewish custom, ign't.lit?. Isn't there an old 09Jewish custom for a girl when she is married to keep those things

and show she s yure before the marriage? ,
A For a year, to

'

keep them. ''
.; '.

Gbjeoted to; objection sustained.

t:rlM'. THS POR(AK OP .Tim..JUHY.: :
--.:'.'-?:. -- " '.

'-

-'- f '
;-
-

Qowrailongionfr ivruv fteerf living in New York? A but the
I- - ";.
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mmjJi&fiT:,v':-wf- ,
fn mmtenth, year already. ,

-- - m

Br --,.. Q Are you carried? A, I am married; aeyriyears
' Q Have you got children? A One baby I have gbtV '.ehe'io';i,; m

pryu igeWMi
here, three years-old- .

rv
.,

MISS A IT IT A" - COSBY , called as a witness on behalf of" the.' ' ' JuUefcj-- .

...
t--

i
m 't ,- - L 'Si- -GR-f- c

i ".wt .SSMk-
-

People, being first duly sworn, testifies as follows: 4 'fjEQ
. ' .... -- .

DIRECT EXAMI1TATI0U "BY MR . ELLISON: -

vou live at 850 East 161st. St.? A yes, sir: ' v

And have been iivirtg there for jc how long? A For three"

years. . , .

Q Wiith whom do you live there? A With my parents.

Q Are there any other members of the-famil- y? A I have
1 .

a brother and sister.
Q, Do you know Frieda Milovitz? .

A Yes, sir. '

.

'
.

Q Was she employed by your mother as a .servant in the

house? A Yes, sir.
Q, For how long prior to October 1913 was she 'working for

you? A She worked' for us first for .a year and a half and

"then she worked for us for two months b,e fore she was taken
-- .v;-;--- '.." v '. ..-;.- . ., ;': '

- j-- "

'. away. "'...- - '."''. :' -

MR.- - SANDLER: I move to strike out the latter part of Hthi answpr. .; -- 'wt.
'-

-' : ,.
THB COUilf; Ys.

Q Bfrs iiM-lef- t fh wa irklo f y you two abntha? ,'.A

l



aio
TeBj sir. 1 ?'tLV" tNK

. '
(I Do you remember the night of her leaving? A Yos, "alrV

w!ki
Q Do you remember the' date? A l dont exactly. remember'' ?' && r

t the date ,v. b.ut I know -- -

ffitaMteg
;N Q Was it in the latCerpart of October-o- r the 'prior part?

. .ifrl : J3fc
I think it was the latter part of October ' --WiT!fS.

Q, Did anyone come to the house at the time she' left?' ',2?mwmm'
!a ''ttw , 5l.hWMl '

ves , sir.
q, Vhc? A The gentleman who took, her away. 'ill
Q

3a

MR. SAIIDtiER: B I move to strike that out "took her away"
1

THE COURT: Yes, strike it out.

Q You mean the gentleman that walked out with her?-- t A . Yes. 'v;
.

Q You must not say "took her away" it annoys counsel. Is
'

this the man that called at the house, Weintraub (Indicating

defendant)? A He didnt call at the house, he waited for her

outside.

Q Did you have any talk with him that night? A Yes, sir.
Q I want you' to tell the jury what was said? , A T saioT

"You are taking Frieda here, she is a good girl, 'marry-he- r and
'

give her a gopd borne;" and he said "Well, I will marry, her and give

her a good home."
t

At that time was there anything in front of the house? A

There was a horse and carriage.
l Did ht go away with her in the carriage? A Yes, air.

& Eiaycru ever see her after that? A Wo.

H--.-- - h
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illHBISElilTL A-U-
ES DAI.T.JL.N(Deteotive Bureau, 32nd Precinct)

JryBvHMRy-t.'.- .

r "Kls!iffeVV
called as a witness in "behalf of the People, being first duly,

EfcSjy, . '
Wt - sworn, testifies as 'follows: smt

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. ELLISON;
(

Q Are you a member of the Police department of the City of MP
New York? A I am.

Q And-hav- e been for how long? A Going on. eleven years. '

Q Did you arreat this defendant? A I did, M

Q Mien and where? A At Columbus avenue and 100th street
on November 26th, I think it was.

Q Bid you .have any talk with him? A I did.

Q What did you say. to him, and what did he say to you??

A I asked him was he married to the complaining witness,, and

he said he was. I asked, him how long was he married, and he
V B,

said a couple of month, about two months.

Q Anything else? A I asked him was he ever arrested before
! -

and -- he said no. I

Q And then you took him into custody? A Yes, sir.

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR.-- SANDLER:

QDid you arrest him on a warrant? A No, sir.
Q who made the complaint? A The complaining witness and

the complaining witness sister, Gussi'e Veiner.

Q Frieda Sailovitz . aid Mrs. Veiner? A Yes, sir.
H-W- as that in' the station house they made the complaint?

A Yes, sir)V at the 32nd precinct Stati-o- h house, v f

Q What did they charge him with, do you remember?
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HPlMSrff
fv.;" '

f ? lia ..
' ObTec'ktV"asrmnTSt"S"iiar; Obj ee tlonsustained? --

7
t

Q, Then. I will ask for the conversation they had with the --

officer at the time they went out with him?

MR. ELLISON: Objected to as immaterial. . --

THE COURT; Objection sustained. If your purpose

in asking the question is to contradict the prior witnesses,

you should have called their attention to the-conversatio- n.'

You have not laid , a foundation for putting this in.
MR. SANDIER:" I believe I did go into that subject"

with some of the witnesses- - as to the charge being based

, on white slavery."

: - THE COURT: I do not recall that you asked --whether

iSithey said thus and so to any officer,', -

Q What did yu charge the defendant 'with when you took him.
.

into custody?

Objected to as immaterial. Objection sustained.
Q, Yere you present whenjshe.., complaining witness ahd her

I

sister spoke to the lieutenant at the desk? Did you hear the

conversation? A I don't remember them speaking to the,lieu- -

tenant at the desk, because they .came to the detective division.
finside.

Q, MhatC&id) you arrest him for?

MR.' ELLISON: ' Objected to as immaterial, calling for
a conclusion.

"
TH2 COURT: He can state whether he arrested him

on a c emplaljF!$y somebody.. "
," ;
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A "s i " I

' " Q 'TCiat was the complaint?ill,? i'

MR. ELHSOII: QbcjdJifloinimaterial, callingfor
.-- -

,a concluoion.
'THE OOURT:" I will allow that.

A SHe stated that he had taken her to a house at 143 West 100 th
,

street, I think, and that he had kept her there and that he

told her that he was marriqd to her, and that she produced a-marria-
ge

certificate ahd told her he took - she stated he

had taken her downtovyn and got that and that he says, "How we
Wm '

ar.e married", and' he went over and, hired an apartment and lived
'Am

there as man and wifs, and she stated then that he had tried
to induce her to go out and pick up men on' the street, and that, -

- p
he also took her up to a house in 116th street, I don't remember, 5f

"M'

the number, and wanted her to go , in there for the purpose of

"having intercourse ?ith men, , '

Q Did she say anything about seduction? A Yes, sir
Q let us hear about the seduction - at that time. A She

--stated that 3he was a good girl and that he --had seduced her

under the promise of marrtage . .TTT tT- -

Q And then what did you arrest him for?

UR. E1US01I: objected --to. as immaterial, having beeni

' statedT" -

iT BY THE COURT:

Vell, you. arrested him on the complaint that the girl t 1

;
wade? A Yes, your Honor. - ' .,
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-'t Hi
-- Q. StRta-vhat-Qr-ime-y-oU-GtLsrg-

edh'lm with? A He was charged

with seduction. . . '

(
v f1

BY HR. SA1IDIER:

0. In the station house when vou brought 'him Vr9 a- - Yn pir
. v " , "

n
I believe so.

Q Did you advise that charge? A I did not,
Q Whp advised the charge of seduction?

Objected to as immaterial. Objection sustained,
Q How, officer, .you understand the, purpose of my que-

stions, '-

--
.

. Objected to as immaterial. Objection sustained.
TEE COURT: If you do not understand, say so, and do

not answer the question unless you do. understand.
Q Did you charge him with white slavery? A- - Ho, s'ir.

Q Who mentioned the word, seduction for the first time after
, you went out looking, for this defendant the first time?

Objected to as. immaterial. Objection sustained.
' 'Exception. "

i

Q Did you-chafg- e ther defendant when you took him into custody

with having seduced this girl? A Yes, --sir.
Q What did he say? A He said he was married to her, that

she was his wife., and that shewould be sorry for what she was

doing.

- Q And also about going on the streets, that he wanted to
'send her to the streets? A He denied that. ' ,

Q You told him that, didn't you? A Wel, it Was. a --general
v,
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conversation aDOut that. . 'ftnltll,

MR, ELLISON: - Ir expect the uhderclotheo here that AK'
v4

counsel wants, and with tjiat exception the People rest mi
We will produce them.- -

MR' SiUJDLER: I move that your Honor take from the
i

rconsideration of the jury the indictment here charging

this defendant with seduction on the promise .of marriage,,

on the ground, your Honor, that the People have failed to i

establish by satisfactory legal proof that a seduction, if
any, .took place on the' dates charged in the indictment',

on October 28th, 1913.

Your Honor, there is no testimony here adduced by the'
wPeople to substantiate the story told by the complaining

t i J.

witness as to tlie alleged se due t'i on' on the night, of -

October 28th'.

, Motion denied. Exception. . , . ,

MR. S.AHDLER: I ask your Honor to direct the Jury "

to acquit this defendant and take the case from the jury,,

on the ground that thenPeople have failed to establish the

count in the indictment charging "seduction.
J- -

Motion denied.j' lf Exception.
t i !

1 (

MI N HIE SMITH, called as a witness in behalf of
1

defendant, being-firs- t duly sworn., testifies; as follows:
AMR. ELLISON; I wish i't on the'rjjcord that she

( fa
doesn't know how to spellL the name Smith.

THE COURT: -- If gh&liQQ not know how.to spell her tvjr



syc r aa f

--
t-

"TT '116
)f - T own name you can bring it out on cr Ts aexamin ati'onir

i- -if

t- -

!BYtTHE OOURT: - ' .

"

r

Q How long have youvbeen In this country? A Three' and a

half." eZ!b2!!?3E -

T
Q, Tears? A Yes. , ,

4 y
Q Can't you speak English? A Well, I. speak a little "bit.

, ,.,i Mfrfc
--v-

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SAHDLER:

Mh '
Q Where do you' live? AT 129 Monroe street.
Q Do you know a girl by the name, of Frieda Smilovitz? A Yes,

Q How long do you know Frieda Smilovitz? A Oh, I know her

since I .am here.
Q You are here in this country three and a half-years- ?'

A Yes. '... tk
"-- ji L

. - tf where didyoumeet Frieda smilovitz for the first time?

A I was - her -- sister was living in the same house where I
V

was living.
Q Where was that house? A 121st street, 410, east.
Q Vftiat is her sTsters name? A One is Mrs. Reiner, and one

7
Mrs. Hussbaum, was living there. J

Did you see the ladies coming-ou- t of the court room be- -

fore? A Yes.
- i -

Q Are these. the' ladies that you know as 'her sisters? A Yes.

qWere jfcu a friend of Frieda Smilovitz? A Yes, I was

friends with her.
i

- Q Doyu see Frieda Smilovitz in-c'ourt- ? --A Yes.

Earok around t&e iaom and t see if yeu can seFrida smilovit:

"t
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--.-AlYfln -h-
er.ftlahQ-ifl( point ihtet.Ql.the complaining witness ) . '

XI How many years, ago did you talk to her for the first time

as n friend? AThe first time? Oh, it has beer three and a

half, years sinoe I came here and my cous-i- n was living in the

house with her 'sister, and I was friends with her.
' ' '- --

'

. .
; V , .... .' ,

Q Do you know how old Frieda Is? A I dbnrt know. ,'

Q Did she ever tell you how old she was? . A "No. '
,-
-

Q Did.'hersi3ters ever tell yon how 'old she was? A No,,

they di dn1 1 tell me nothing. .

t - .... " '
Q How old. are you? A 1 am twenty-tw- o.

''.0
-- 3

Q Do ybu know whether Erie da Smilovits kept company, or had

some. fellows when you lived in that house? A Yes. We' used to--M- R.

7wmELIS01i: I object to the form of ; that question.

THE CDIET--: I will, allow her to say she ket company.

Q Did she go out with any fellows? A ; Yes' we used to go

out. together.
'

Q Ybu went out with her? A Yes.

ft Did youJusre a. fellow too? A Yes, I got y fellow,. My
' ' '

-- '" '

.' , v V
'

r -- '4:..: ''.. ,

'
vf-- -

.

;

fellow s-Tr-
eme is Frank Ross.

7-- f ft Will ybu tell the jury hera one occasion, if you can

7.;"' remember, when you, Prank Ross a'nd Frieda Smilovitz went
-- J 4--

out together? But, before you-- . answer that question, what vme
'...;; '.;:. . .., l-- , :i Z" '

.

: '. :". '...'-- '

'-

- - ,;
' !Mithe fellow's name that Frieda Smilovitz went out with? A I

don't know; She used to call him Joe.' I don't know the last
name.

Do-':y'-
u knewhla natibhali-ty?-- : A .What?

V -- , I
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" ' i '

Q "What was he. eiTI i-TslSi-

an? H o Ttron-I- -t all an .- -; P t1 '"?"
MHM.-.- -
,.

Q, Tell the jury what happened. when you all went out to- -

gether? A Oh, we went out together to a show.
T

Q What show did you go td? A L25th street and Seventh "
rM

A
' 'avenue, Loew's theatre ' "

Q Where did you go after-th- e show? .A After, we wento
t

f ,
-

eat .supper. - --J- (

J- -
J "JKJliu :WttJf.WB

Q Where dj. d yo.u eat- - supper? A In 125th street, some restau-- t: SHW

rant, .1 don't know,

Q Chop Suey? A Yes, sir.
Q, Where did you go after the chop Suey? A Then we went up

' ' 'together to a hotel. - """

O What hotel? ..A In "Riehth avenue. 116th street and .':!" ' ,- ; --- - ..r , t r1.

Eighth avenue. -

Q That is the name of the hotel? A I don't know the name. .

Q Do 'you know whether it is the Hotel LeRoy?

- MR. ELLISON: Mr. sandier Beems to know about these

places, he can take the stand. I object to putting

words in her. mouth,
j

THE COURT: She says she doesn't, know the name

Qi There is a hotel :on that corner, onBighth avenue and

16th street? A "Yes. . ,- - - "

vi When you went into the hotel who went in first? A We went

in together. -

Did you walk with Frieda?, A Yes
'

fi Was JoftjtJj'ra , the Italian? A Yes, sir.
-
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i?r Q, An d-va-
o-Fr ank--R o s a --the r.e ?i--J MyUC:e llo w. , .yjyu.

. ';,- -, Q, Did they sign a. book? A , Sure,' .
-- -.

Q Who signed the book? A First I' think the fellow signed',
IS

then my fellow i signed.
,

Q, Did you sign as hUBband end wife? A Yes, sir. ;

I

BY THE COURT: ' ' l f "

' Mm
Q, Did you see the register? A Ho, I didn't see it.

MR. ELLISON: I see Mr. sandier is testifying, that

is evident by the way she is .giving her testimony.

MR. SAIIDLER; This witness is not a very'intelli-ge- nt
'--1

witness. There is the interpreter, may we use the

interpreter?

THE COURT:" She speaks English perfectly well, she
--

1-

has been-i- n this c.ouatiy as long as the complainant.

BY MR. SANDLER:

Q, Did ypu see a book pieced in front of Joe and. prank Ross?'

A The book? - -

Q When you went into the hotel? A Yes ,1 seen them sign, the

name.

Q, Yhom did you "see sign, the name? A I seen the two fellows.

Q, Did you go up stairs? A Yes.

Q Did you see the fellows give any money to the man from

the hotel? A No, I did not see.

Q What floor did you go up on? A I don't know.

What floor did you go up to? A I don't know, I don't

remember, fc.xtp ' yfrsr anjl a half ago..
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$And.7di d--y o u-g- oi n1 6-- on oro om-wl-t- h-yb ur-Xello-
w.?

A No,' '' fi

she had "one rooiaand I had another room. '44l&t

. '

Q Did. you see her go into one room with Joe? A "Yes, she

came in my room, after. , .&,.
' ...

Q Let us first see when the'y
'

got in .there. You saw Prieda ,SSH35S
' ' '"..''Smilovitz go -- --

THE COURT: Do not lead her, you are put ting, the words 4
i

..,
in her mouth. Ask her to fell what she saw there., --

"-t
.

- wm
MQ, Did you0 see her go into a room with Joe? A YeB.

Q Was there a "bed in that room?

' MR. ELLISON: Objected to as leading.
- THE COURT: I have directed ycu not to lead the ,

i5
witness. You are . suggesting the answer. &m&

x.l
Q Did you. look into the room? A No.

Q Yftiat was in that room? A I don't see. They went im

one room, and we went to a room.' . .;"
' "

9

Q What did you find when you went in your room? A I didn't
find nothing. '. "A" .. . --s.

" .

Q, .What, was in the room carpet? A Sure.

Q What else? . ".

BY THE COURT:1 " " "'
.

Q What was the furniture there? A A "bed.
'

BY1MR. SANDLER:

Q Did you look into the room taken by Frieda? A Yes, J.

wa3 in there and. she was in my room

& Oh, you chaiged around? A No,, we went afttr her fallow
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w

XZL
-we-

ht-away-at-two-oclock-In-the-mornin

K(
to wor, it was Saturday night, and he is supposed to:,go to ; i W.g

work at twelve o'clock, so he took her home. . I don't remember'

whether it was two or three o'clock in-th- e morning.
Q Well, anyway-- , ah out three o'clock in the! morning you

said Pre i da came into your room? A Yes, she wants to stay with, . "' ;i
us. ..'. ...-

-.... ....
Q Why did .she went to stay with you and your fellow? A She

"'
--

wants M. st ay with us till .morning. That fellow didn't want to '

leave her stay there, he says, "Come, I will take you home."

He says., "That man wouldn't leave me go without you out."
Q You mean rleave the hotel? A Yes.

'Q Did she sleep inyour room that night? A No j they weat

away. ' ;. t
... ":. '.;'..'

Q He took her away? A That fellow took her home. ..-.-
.

Q Who, Joe? A. Yes. '' '

Q, Do you remember any other time when, -- yo u went out with Frie-

da? A Yes,. I used to talk to her. '

Q Did you ever go to any hotels with her? A-l- To, that was

the first time. -

, Q Did Frieda say anything toyou when she came into ypur
"" "'-'- - .;'.' --

J

room with this 'fellow Joe? a "Ito!"" VL

0R0 S S EXMIM ATI 0N: BY MR . ELUSON;

Q, Where did you come from, --whe.t: country, Russia, Germany?

.. ii--

What hub v o ur riamm ' i r --"a i n ?
i

"ft'anq; ';ln, Bl&ssiaJ
vrjrz - '
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ft Yee. Smi'th? A ,..,Yes.
"W' " " ' f '" ! --- ,-, I. fK.

K1H --" f

If"
Q Did you tell this jury that your naiae when you were in

ft

Mr
r

Russia was Smith? A smid. --M
.. li

. Q Is that your 'name'.in Russian? A .Yes."

Q Will you show me hoy yo u wrte it in Russian, Smith J "J

r
just write it down? . A Write.it in Jewish? I can't write Si'1; ,

in English.

(Witness now writes on piece of paper.)

Q You tell the jury now that your'nane in Russia was Smid,

and that is the way you spell 'it? A This is Jewish, Smid,

Q Does that spell Smid? .A Yes, Smid.

MR.. ELUS01I: I; 'offer ii in evidence.'

(Received in evidence and marked People's Exhibit 2.) Wm
'

I --
y

.THE WITNESS: I do not say Smi'th, hut I say Smid.

Q Are you a Hebrew woman? --' . .
"

,

MR. SANDLER: Objected to. She may be" a -- Jewess but not

A Hebrew.

'
i THE COURT: objectidn overruled.

Q Are you ja Jewess? A Yes.

Q And in Russia yonr name was Smid, is that right?

Objected to as" immaterial. - Objectipn overruled.
--A Smid-- ; r

Q I want to know when you came into this country? Tell me

what year you came into this country an d what month? A I don't

remember that, what month. '- -.i '- um
L Q Oh,'wer"l, you remember what year you came here from

Russia? X I knom it ia three and a half years lego. .: T
fc 4
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, i
ia ' -- ...:..

,?. ' V
Tt ,

"T"t -- wiie ther-it-w- as -the-ye- ar-1910you-came-tOutrellmean
. . .,, ..'...,; .. ....

. , , . ....-- .

, ..'- -
: ,;-- !.

'.-- .

' :..... "
.-

-'

i

f rbm Russia? A No;, I don1 1 know about tHat,! ;; ' '
A

' '

A.,
Q You remember the visits to a ho tei, with that man, don't

you? You remember that very well, don't you? A This is a year - pr?vMHBBi
' '. ' wmmmssm

and a half agg
. ?

t n.14. .... i11 ,, .V-.- 4- 4-- V. --k "I Ann' 4 . 4- - ....J. 4-V.J- ... y4. nm4, t '
t ucvix o .uu ocj-j- . usj vuiou hue xepp liiijjui icuiv bx.ij.xig ux u wuixug

to this c oun try was .
-- -- don '.t you remember what year that was? .'

'

'. .'' ''.-:- . :..- -
'

' V. .:' '' .'" ''.' ..r ' v '. ' "'-."-

'
: h

A I don1 t know. .
' "

.
.

' ;

Q I am very, anxious to find out because I. want to look up .

in tile Immegrati6n Bureau to see -- -

1IR. SANDIER: Objected to, as to what the District
Attorney intends to do. - - ;

.

" .j
THE COURT: Put the question; . .

-

Q Can you tell me what;year you'eame. to this country? 'v

A I don't know, I don't know about tha't.

Q Was it theyear 1910? A I don't know..

Q Was it the year 1909p A I don't know.

0 What steamer did ycu come on? A I came in Canada.

'..'. what was --&ie name of the steamer? A I don't renjember
.

. , '..' .
. i.

that. '
:

;.
:

..-.-

,

,.
'

'..-.- "

' "; ' " ' ' '' --

:
'

: . i
.

.

ft JShera did. you go when you came to this country? Where

did you go to first? A I came to my cousin. 1 have a cousin ffH
here'.''1;;; '"''.';.-,.'-

'

'-

-,, ,:. .'.--
' ,'' .

v: '"-r-..---- -"- ;t . . ...:...
'q Where? A Oohen.. .

In New York? A Yes. ;
. : ;

'
.

' '''.i'-- ' ierjsia.bouts in New York? A 12'2nd street.
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Jt What is the name? A Mr. Cohen is here too.
'

Q, He is here now? A Yob. ,' IP
v You are a married,, woman, are you? A No., , ,

rs Q But you are a perfectly respectable woman, aren't you?' .

s t

r

Objected to. Objection overruled.' Exception. .

Q, Are you a respectable woman? A Surely.

'HE. SANDLER: objected to. Everybody is presumed to ;

p, be respectable under the law.

THE COURT: . Objection overruled.

MR. EUJS.ON: I object to .side remarks of defendant's

counsel, laughing by Mr. gandler-- , your Honor.

THE COURT: Yes, simply proceed with the case,, and, iWa

make no remarks and let us get along.

Q, When you came to New Yorkdid you start working? A Sure.
1.

Q, Eor whom? A In a factory.
Q Where'? A I don't know. I was" that" time green, and I

didn't know the streets. I- - was wo rkin'g now in'Mercer street.
Q, Can you give me the name or address of anybody you ever

did work for in Hew York? A. Yes, sir.
Q Who? A' Mr. Rosenf eld. I used to work, 113th street; I

was a servant girl there.
Q What-numb- er? A I think. 131 West, near St. Nicholas avenue.

Q How long did jrou work there? A Twas working there about

a year.

.
Q, Can yeitgive wa.'fcg nditfrei& address of anybody else you



mmm: VO& 125
iViave workedTfor in New York? A ""Iwas workingI for' lots, and I
mi 'mi ... , rJ - -- - 1 ! -- Srt , , , ,,. "... ... -

SkiBtWara working in Meroer street for ladies' petticoats for Mr." fffj.

KEff jKrcIB'' Fischer. . -

Q How long ago? A 98 Mercer street,
Q How long? A Oh, I was working first about three months,

and then I was. sick and I went home and then I came hack a'gainr .

and worked. '
t, - si

- i

Q How,' you tell this jury you went up to a hotel wiith a men-th- at

is so, isn't it? A Yes. . . f
f

i

0. And ybii went there to have connections vith him, did you?

A Ytfiat is that? I don't understand.

Q What did you go with him to the hotel for? A .
We went .Jib

it was too late to go home to sleep.

Q Is this man married to you? A Ho.

Q, -- Did you think there was anything wrong for you to go to
' '

'

a hotel Vith a man, in the seme room, because it was too late

to go home? A Hoj he is my fellow and I .did. go- - with him,,
'

and I go vith him now, and I will go -- - in a little while after
i

we are going to marry, to get married, because we Kinft got no

money now to get married.

Q Oh, he was engaged to be married to you, is that so?
i

A Yes.

qi"How long --have ycu been going to hotels with him? A I was

one time, that's all. """

( That is the only time you went with him? A' Yes,' sic.
Q Vill you tell me vhat year it was in that you went up to

""thai iti? What yearas thjit? 'A" I "don't know the year.
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Christmas. . .' , .

Q Ytfiat year? A That was 1912,. I think.
A 1912,. a week before Christmas? A Yes.

l And you saw them sign the book there, didn't you? A Yes.

Q What names did they sign? Give me the name that your

fellow signed?. A Frank Ross,,
,

'' ."'".""' He signed Frank-Ross- , and what else? :A ;I don't know,,

I didn't see how he signed the name. I seen theni' sign, but

I didn't look what kind of name. I didn't understand English .

I can't write English. '.
' '

B '''Q. Is.. he an Italian? A Yes.

Q And what language do you talk to him-in- ? A English.

Q So .you" understand him, don't you? A Oh, he understands
,

" ' ..."'
me and he talks --different, he talks to me,.

Q He talks a plainer English, does he', than I do? Is that

so? A No. '.:,::'.'
Q He '.talks plainer English than I do A Yob.

'
Q, Why don't you kno w that-yo- u are I. prostitute on the streets

and you are working on the streets for' this man Frank Ross
' '-'-

'.'.

'
-- '''' t

' '''-'- .

isn't that so? .

' ' .'- -
' 'J: ':"'-- . I

'

MB. SA1IDLER: I objeot to the. foim of the question. 55r - --

' '.-.'- .

I do nbt object tothe question, but to the form.

MR.EIUSON: '- -Irsk the interpreter to interpret
' "-.-

)
'.'.. .'-- .

that question for her?

At (Through Interpreter) flc, I ork. I used t be a servant
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girl and then I worked in the factory.
Q I want to know what you are doing for a living; for the

t

laot six months?

MR. SANDLER: I believe if is my duty to object to
S this question, to have' this witness advised, as to answer

ing any question along that line. '-- pi

.s.

MR. ELLISON: On the ground that it will tend to

incriminate her? Yes, you can advise her that way. f,

o

THE COURT: Mr. Interpreter, tell the witness she' may

refuse to answer any questions if her answers would tend to

incriminate or degrade her.
A (Through Interpreter). I am giving the right answer that I
know. .

BY MR. ELLISON: Q Where have --you "been working fpr the last Six

months? A J. was working for a servant girl, and I stopped.

When J stopped work I stopped in Mr. Cohen's house, my cousin1 b

house.

Q-- I asked you where you Yere working for the las--t six months,

will you ask her that? A (Through Interpreter)- - I was with Mr.
it

Cohen. iQ, Have you been working for the last six months? A Yes, I

said by Mr. Cohen, .XSpork there.
&

- - -t--
Ti 7 7T

-,-- ,-., ,- -.

i Who Is Mr. goijen? A My cdttn'0Wn.

, Weren't yu.iiving in East 118th street? No, I had a

friend there, she vas living the.re.

I uaked yeu wfest&ir you were pet living in East 118th
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eeredf
Street? A Yes', I had a friend. mt

(The following questions are put and anBwera given:

thereto through Official Interpreter Fischer.)

Q (Question repeated as follows:) I asked you. whether you HBKSH5KSS5!!?
' ' '-

were not living in East 118th street? A I had a friend there

and I used to come to visit my friend. . , -- . ,

...ft j ,! Ci .BiiiiSraBl
Q You used to stop in East 118th street, and haven't you'beenj

stopping there? A I didn't live there.
Q, Give me the name of your friend in East 118th street?

A She is not home there now. via

-

Q, But I want to know her name? A' Rosie.

Q, Rosie what? A I don't know her last name.

Q, Can't you tell? A (No tanswer)

BY THE COURT: ' 'f .

Q Whom did you ask for when you vent to this place, or

what floor would you go on? If youi didn't know her name

how would you get into herroom? A I asked far Rosie.

Q Whom did you ask for Ro3ie? A . The janitor. I asked
i

the janitor, - Bhehad --g4ven iier name as Rosie." "She used to

rJQome with me to Cohen also."' y
&&?

BYJKR, ELLISON:. - ..

th "
. Q And what men lived up in Rosie Bs? Give me the name of

the men that used to live and call there? A No men lived there;
she lived vith her husband.

-

Don't you know that was a place here other girls lived



-
,

Inbeaideo you and mien used, to visit there? A No. . Vj.j,

Q And don't you know that Rbsie's place was raided'by the''. . , .

police in East 118th street, the place you-use- d to visit? A No,

I don't know that . .'.,.'''.. '

. .
' 'i

.
.'

Q, Well," can you fcell ine what floor that was on, .Rosie' a.

In ast 118th street? A That was : ion the --fourth floor, ... :J '.- -
.

.

' '

How long had, you known Rosie and been callingon Rosie?

A I didn't know her not ---a- bout four weeks.."

Q -- Now, I ask you again if you did hot use to live there and
&

sleep-there- ? Haven't you your clothes- - there? A No, I didn't
sleep there, --I didn't live there.

. . i . .

Q Didn't you uBe to- - go up there' and meetItalians? A No..:.. I t

Objected to. Objection .overruled. ' '

. , I -

A (yfitness continuing) We only used to come, there on Sunday,

I came there with. my friend and with my boy.

Q With your who ?'; A Wi"th my boy.

Q . Whom do ypumeanby your boy? A Prank Ross
F, - ' .' '

Q How long have you' been going with Frank Ross? A (Vith--

9u Interpreter) Two' yars. ,

Q "And-y-ou tell this jury that only once in yolur life you

went .to ahotel with him1 In a lbm, .istliat so? a That I
nave D.een, yes.

.
- .., '

ff H5
v-- . .:i

Q And on this one time in ypur 1 this other girl Wd'
;

"-

-

'

. ,': i':fi-".-;;-:ii-::--:-
-

.-

- r
another man were- - there too, ier that fifo? A Yes.

4.
( Andyou can't telj me .. wUat-ye'- ar it was in, can you?

R. SANDIER:;, I. submit she has. answered .that.
,,

'

- .

' ;....: '.:-- : v;- -
' '

.

'--
. . ..

-
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best I can say,
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Q Had you. ever Seen him before 'that time? A No, I never -

. . k?9H
' 'W - '

go out. I am always in the house.
"-yTr!-

WW

"SiB
Q. Did you ever see him "before that night? A No, I. didn't see ,",'

H " -- Ml?- 'i

.him. '
.

.

,

'...
t .

'.'- - v '.-- .
'

-
'

.

. Q How do you happen to remember a. year and a half that his

name was Joe? A I remember it because I- - used to call him Joe.

Q You never saw him but that" once? A I saw him several , .

times.'

, '..,.'.'.' ..'.: v, w:
'

,I '..'.'-- '

Q Well noy I ask you again, did you see .him after .that or

before that? A Before that.
Q Whereabouts? A Once I went i.thihe, same' girl in the

'.''' .

:' '.."' '.."" " '

street, and then I met him -- and I talked to him
- , ' ' . . " -

" ft Is that the only time?. A Yes, "WSm when,she became ac- -
"

W- - ".. f

quainted with him.. I saw him.

BY MR. ELLISON: i
. ft, pd you know this defendant Weintrailb? A Yes, I know him.

' '
, . '".' "..

Q How long have youknown him? A I know him since I am by
' '" ''

.
--

:-

--.-

L r .

Mr. Qohhn. . Vhile I was with Jfr. Cohen he used to. come to the

stable with a wagon. . K,

f Mr. Weintraub i:a a cutoer cf yipr bMiher-in-la- ws or



' Ll MBMl

.unciels,. isn't that oo? A I dotit know.. He used to' come-t- o ;
SBHH I

see Mm in the stable there.
tMBmm m

Q He used to get a wagon and horse from Mr. Cohen, didn't "

he -- - the defendant? A I don't know, but I used- - to see him

there once in a while
i

31

S
Q How much money did you give to this Prank Ross? A I'didh'it --'&18i

give him anything, and he doesn't give me anything.-- He works
i

and I work, ibid he gives his money - he lived with his

father.
Q What do yo-- u do with the money that y.ou make? A I dress

myself and pay for my board and lodging. .

. Do you mean he has been engaged to you these two years
TA Vj

:"... :SP93and has never asked you for any money? A No , he never. rt i j

BY MR. SANDIER:

Q When did you meet me for the first time? A Yesterday.

Q And-w- e re. you brought down to this building here to meet

me yesterday? A Yes.

Q And did I question you if -- you knew anything about this
case? A Yes.

Q Aid you told me what you testified to?

THE COURT: Do not put the answers in her mouth.

And did you tell me all you knew aboutthe case? A Yes,

I And did I give you a subpoena then?, A Yes'.

How long before today mJ vu 3peak to Frieda? A About

T w ur uoatha ago .

j. a. J . aeo Her? I bfi her t tjfcfc, house of Mrs.



.Qohenland alio .come to. tell me thai; she was going to the ',.- -
, " i

'"'jtfig y"

VMwMww If M". w.w WiU t.i.U. VWA4Q14.

THE OQtRT: is thio re-dir- ect examination?
w9 .v,?iFSK3 r"H ' j

.MR. SAHDIER: No, sir, I just want to show how friendly?.
t .

. she is with this complaining witness, that's all. . $m
?i,e. i ,z

. sscK.' ?4sm
RE-CR- OSS EXAMINATION BY MR. ELLISON: ,

- , lt.tfflH
' --.ifcijgyflB

(L-JTh-
e night ycfu'were in the hotelwitfcgFrank Ross you'Wd fHH tr

... ' " jc$??(hSIHB " 4s--
"

..-s-
W h, j

connection with. Frank Rosa,, didn't- ,, o...,-- ..., F

MR. SANDLER: I object, to that, and 'askfatf . the
'

witness he advised of 'her rights.
THE COURT; She has already been advised of her

- virtruvwvvwinAr"
Lw rights, and I will allow the question? A Yes, I am

'telling the truth, I had nothing to'do with him. I-yw-as

only sleeping "there, I never told a lie.
THE COURT: Do not form or express any opinion as to

the guilt or Innocence of this defendant, nor allow any-

body to speak concerning, "this case in your presence. We

will adjourn until. 10;30 toraorrow'morning.

ADJOURNED to Thursday, March 12th , I9li at 10:30 a.m.

j .
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(PEOPLE vs CUABIESHff&I-WTRAUB- )

Hew York, March 12th. 1914.

t--
J J--? TRIAL RESUMED..

Wo
FRANK ROSS, called as a witness 'in behalf of the - t-- j rr

defendant, being first duly sworn, testifies as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SANDLER:. ' "JliiiBkH

'
J

. . I

Q Where db you live? A 2274 Second avenue.

Q What do you work at7 A Clerk.
i vi ui v, v, v, vi rt v, rt "wwiWI,WWWMMy,WMniiWM

Q Whom do you work for? A R. Brook Rubin Brook.

Q, Where is the place of business?. (A '2260 First avenue.

q What line,, ,tf business is that conc'ern in? A like, a
'i.

y.J

grdcery store; you-goo- ut aid get orders Cand deliver orders.
Q, Have you ever been convicted of --a, crime? A 'No, sir. I

Q, Do you know - -- -

MR. SAHDLEB: Will your Honor direct the complaining
i

witness in this case to be brought in?
t

Q Do you know a girl by the name of Frieda Smilovitz?

k Yes--
, sir.

r

o How long do you know Frieda Smilovitz.? A About two years,
u since I am going with ay lady, friend.- -

$ po you know a girl .by "Ik utimu --ofMinnie Smith? A Yes, sir.
. i I ask you to look around. tb court room. and see if you

eat Jrieda Sailovitz?

MB. KLHSO: ?,,, i . i- - one, at n4ing rifUjt' Uiore, rr""1 "
"i 1

-- urif (Hfrrii.5t v '.trJLjjuiFTho has inn br;ugh'
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pr- - . i"34
Tinde'to pdat tho-end- -of the j urybox-;nea- r oixthJ uror..)

& ,-
-

MR. 3AHDLER: I object .to the comments .by the District
': mil rAttorney as to "sure" or not sure.

THE COURT: Yes. Now, I have requested counsel not

0$ to make any comments,. If you have anyobjjecti-nmak-e It
to the Court-- . - -T-he-ac-tthaJiirl is standing there

is apparent. It does not rieecTc omment. ' '

jfR-- . ELLISON': I object -- to the, form "of the questions

He said "Look around the cour--t room", when the witness

was standing right by the jurybox.

THE COURT: objection overruled.
Q How long do yoiTknow-Minni- e Smith?. A For about two

years.

Q lid you see Minnie Smith in the hallway here yesterday?

That is, standing outside the. court room? A Yes, sir.
Q 'And did you ever ask Frieda Smith and Frieda smilvitz

to any place of amusement? A Yes, sir. ""

Q When? A Well, when I was supposed to meet .my girl, I

had a date with my girl --and she would 'take her friend with her-- .

Q Who is her friend? A Frieda Smilovitz.

.
" fcilThjscomplairtiiig witness and Minnie" Smith were friends?

-

A Yes, sir. "T 1
.

Q Will you tell His Jury what places you took your girl
l tf

) i

and --Frieda smilovitz .to? U We would take her to a show.

Q What kind of a show? A Well, the amusement show, vaudeville
f -

w" . . t

a



fPTT i ' v . ii
,fJBBSIiiSlilWFw 135

Ijilllili THTi -

Q Where? A To Loew'o, sometTmeat"crTreotforEnr ' ' ' " '

Q Did you ever go to chop suey ploceo vith her? A Well,

that wao the night 'we went 'out, the four of us.
'

BY THE COURT:

i ' ll"
.

-'- . )xrz
.

. MWlKs95?i?--l. l .' r rt L.i fi1 Mmtnl- - i p--"a " To Q When you say . wwew whom do you mean? t

,:BYHR.S71HDLER: v.
&&

Q .Tell who., composed that party? A My friend, Frieda Smilo- - -
i- -

JJtf f 4-- t

vitz.
Q What is your friends name? A Minnie smith,'

Q Who else? A Frieda Smilovitz and ano.ther fellow by the

name of Joe,
.i .

Q Joe who? A I don.'t knov his last name.
-- t

Q Do you know him? A 'Since we went out together,
i

Q, How-man- y times did you go-o- ut with him? A Once, --the first
time I ever seen him,

Q How many times did you go out with him in all? A Only once

Q I thought you said you had been out before? A I h'ave

been out with myjriend end her, not with this fellow,
Q They did not introduce him to you by, any name except Joe?'

A I only know this fallow by the name of Joe,- - through Frieda,
Q, What nationality is Joe? A An Italian fellow,

J
BY THE COURT: J t

r

Q Is Ross your real name? A Yes.

Q -- What nationality arfc you? A Italian, .

.

$ that is, your-- f ataar's name? A "Vincent Ross.

v Is tha the" way h ap.elle th- - name R-o--
s-s? A Yes.

- .' .
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BY MR. SANDLER: I will direct your attentTonto tTienXght that ';iv

51
Pf you testified here that you went out, when was that?- - A That Bui

was in' 1912, a week before Christmas. m
Q Where did the partjf assemble, where did you meet?-- A lex-ingt- on ffcA

- i
avemf5"-&i- d 122nd street. "

Q On the corner? A On the corner. .. '

Q, .And how did you meet, -- - "by appointment? A Well, I had

an appointment with my girl, Minnie Smith, and this Frieda

here must have told Minnie, Smith that she had an appointment with ;$:
-- B Lthat fellow Joe. I never seen the fellow, understand? So

Frieda says she had a date with a fellow in 122nd street and

Lexington avenue, so there is where I met this fellow Joe,

Q Vhere did you go from that corner? A We went to Loew's,,
"i124th 3treet and seventh avenue ,, and after the showjwe

(
went

for chop suey. ' '

$ Vhere did-yp- u go for chop-sue- y? A To 125th street,.
between seventh and Eighth avenues.'

,

Q And what time did you leave the chop suey place? A Well,

it must have been about eleven o'clock.
Q And where did you go after that? A We then" went to the h

hotel. .:4- .-

Q What hqtel? A LeRoy Hotel, 116th street and Eighth

avenue.

Q And what did you do when you went into the hoitel? What

dd tji complaining witness here do? A Joe signed his name- -

xfirst endI .aignsd --ray na right tftar, ll
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Q Did you regiater ao man and wife.? A Yea,' air, '

' $ With your girl? A Yea, air
MBT

Q Do ypu know whether Joe regiatered with the complaining
fa s

t '

witnead? A Well the hook waa there, You have got to aigix
.

firat.
BY THE COURT :

aa
Q, What did y ou aign. your none? A' Mr, andMra. Frank'Roaa.

Q That is the name you aigned? A Yea, sir,
Q Did you aee the name Joe 'aigned? A Well, I didn't

exactly look at what name he put on, becauae he waa there firat,
he waa there ahead of me, and aigned the hook,

Q, Well, he aignedit firat, ao it waa on the regiater ju8t

above where you aigned? A Yea, air,
Q Uoyj, did you notice what it wa3? A IIo, air, r didn't

"
-- notice, e '

BY MR. SANDIER.

Q, Were you assigned to a room? A What ia that?'

q Were you aent up to a room? A Yea, air.
Q, Did you pay for the room? A Ye8, air,

i

Q What did you pay? A A dollar.
Q Vhat did Joe pay? A . ITo , I think it waa one dollar and a

half. '

Q, What did Joe pay? A The a'ame thing.
I

Q Did you have
f
adjoining rooma? A Well, ahewaB in the

front, T7" . . -- 4

Q Khan you say "she." whom do you fcean? A Well, Joe md
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llblS&v' ' Tr feda"lia"d"-the-r- p omi n-- f-r ont-t- ff us ,--a nd-we-h-
adIn Jta ao kof them.'

ii 'mk I
3 k&

Q, Did you look into the room,that Frieda and Joe went into7
KB? '
HP1-- '

A Ho, sir. ,

Q Were you in the room at all? A Ho, sir.
. Q Well, do you know what furniture was in the room? A Well,

t

a "bed, a tabLe , a chair;

(I And the same furniture as .that was in your room? A Yes, sir (0 ..

Q, During the night did you have occasion to speak to Prieda?-- A

This was when this fellow Joe was supposed to 'go away at

TiWO U'cxucji j.u uiic: muiuiu. '

Q, 'What did .he work at, do you know? A I couldn't exactly

know what he worked at.
Q, .What happened at two o'clock in the morning? A Two

o'clock in the morning,4 this fellow said he was going to go

away, "being he had to go to work Sunday morning, so she wanted

to stay there all night.
i

Q, Who did? A Frieda Wanted to stay 'there all night, so

I says, "It don't look ba'd (good), "because you come up here

with Joe, ,and the hotel man won't let' Joe to go alone, so you

had" better go wi tit. this Joe here", and 30 then she went home,

Q, Did she go to your room? A Yes, sir.
Q Was she in your room? A Yes, sir.
Q What state of dress or undress was she in when' she came in.

your room? A Her hair-JKasoJLDjfLreerse-
dtup-, she was not all dressed

jip anyhow. ' -

J How many timte in your life aav you spoken to Frieda
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3aiilovl.t2..-theo.offlplainant-
?

.

A Since I have been keeping oomp'ony
.

t t":""' . "; '' "" i ,. '

.

-- '.:

with my girl.
.-

-''

.
'

. pfe
Q llow long atperiod has that "been? A That' has been two

' ' '',.'.' :

.'''. '"..years -- - it vill .be about two years..

Q Did yoAi ever take Frieda Smilovitz and your girl to Ola's-so- n

Point? A Yes, sir, one time, '
.

''
'

:-:.'.'.'.-
''.' -

Q When was: that time? A In the summer time , 1912,.

Q Did you go in the dunce hall? A No , sir.
Q, What 'did you do there?' A We just took a walk around

Glasson Point. '
. ... .

Q Didyou leave her at the house when you brought her" home?

Where did you leave, her after you came back fromc,lasson Point?? I
x

i

i

A Well, .'i don't - (Witness pauses) well, . I don? t know

where, .exactly.. I think it was -- -- .?

Q, I mean, did you take her to her sister's house, or the

place where she' worked? A (No answer)

Q Don't you remember? A No, sir, I don't... .

Q Did she ever have any other young man with" --her wheni you

took her out? A No, sir..
Q Were you ever, four together when you went to classon

Point? A No, air.
Q, Wasn't there any other young man that went out with

Frieda? A Ho, sir". ' "

q When for the first time did you see me in ths case?

:Jk, Sine I have bean coming up here. '
,

.

. $' Whr did you ni me fsr th first time? .
', ,

'''.
'-

-'' "": ' " : rr'"''.- - '
'

'': : ..''-- : ''- - .:
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MPBw i i --MR ELLT-SO-N : .Ob j ec. te d-to-af-
l-imwat erial..

THEOOUHr: I "do not .aoo that it is material Nobody

has called your conduct into any question'
Q You received a subpoena here to. come and attend here and :.'" r i

you have been in-attendan- ce 'here .for the last two days'? A Yes,

r sir .:.:,:: .' ..'.''' . . . .;,,
. .

- "''' ' r

Q, Are you engaged to Minnie smith? A Yes , sir. """ '
' '.,;

'
Q, How long have you been keeping company with her? A- - Two,''.'' .-..-

;''

-

years.
' '

Q Does she visit at your home? A Ho,' sir. i

m
CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. ELLISON:

I '.'..' ''.."". , JQ Vfliere were, you born in Italy, or in the United states?,

A United states.
-

.

Q, Where was your father 'born? A Italy. .

MR. SANDLER: If he knows. I object to the question

unless the witness knows, your Honor.

THEGOURT: If he does no t know, he can say so.

THE WITNESS: Italy. .- --' ".". ;'';. " 1 '..i
q, v;ell, eo-yau- r father's nameln Italy was Ross? A Yes,sir.

"''"l-'T----- ". ' '- -

Q, Howmahy times have you. be en to a hotel with Minnie Smith?-A-.

Once. t '

. '."
Q. What did you do tibe re that night --in the hotel?

MR. SANDLER: Will your gongr"- - t.

A Well, I slept with her.: !

MR.. SANDLER: Will your Honor instruct the witness as
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tQ hia righto in unaworinequBoti'ano-which-inay--irtorlinin- ato r

. t
1

v
him, , .

' ' "&&
?

P5f(B

TIIE COURT: I do not see howyit can incriminate". fiira.

She is over eighteen, , ,

MR. S MIDLER: Well, that is true. . There is no of-fe- nse

in this State for--f ornication,
Q, Vhat did you do with her in that hotel that night? A

Stayed with her all night . , '"
1

Q, Did you have intercourse with her?' A Yes, sir,
r

Q You are sure about that, aren't you? A Yes,
1

Q, How many times?

MR. SA1IDIER: Objected to as immaterial.
4jr

A I ain't ashamed to say -- it.
MR. ET.T.TSOIT : Your Honor remembers the testimony of

the young girl,
THE COURT: objection sustained.

Q What does she do for a living? - A She- - is a servant and

now she is working in a shop. She neve'r tells me where she

is working.

Q Where does she live? A 129 Monroe street,
Q, You are sure of that, aren't you? A -- Yes, sir,
Q You call on her there, don't yoxi? A What is that?

You call on her at 129 Monroe street? A,JHo, I call on

her, corner of Monroe street and Rutgers street.
;

BY THE COURT: ' .

i do you know what yages she gets? A She makes five dollars
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.a week, four dollars, six dollars, according to the work, .

Q Did you ever ask her how much she makes? A Yes sir, .

four dollars, five dollars, six dollars
Tj Q Tou a3k her how much she makes, but you do not ask-he- r ,

0

where she-mak- e s',it? A , She vrorks in Rutgers street, r
t.i

vw ,
"

Q, You said she did not tell you anything about where she
.

" .'i
works? A She works, I think in Rutgers street, hut. she don'V Iff.,m

tell me what kind of- - work she does, lsJS
"M

Q But she does tell yquTlxow much she'makes? A Yes, sir.
Q Does she-giv- e you any of her-wage's-

? A No, sirV
Q Sure' about that? A Yes, sir,

BYMR. ELIISOIT:

Q What floor does she live on at 129 Monroe street?
M, SAUDEER; VellI move to strike out that last

answer to that question, I should jhave objected., as to

whether she gives any of the wages',

THE COURT: You move to strike the answer out?
mr-&AifBIR;rNo- ?'thB" question and the answer.' I object,J f i -

to the question.

iiTHE GOUT ryLwell, you may have an exception.
1

Q What floor does she live on at 129 Monroe street? A- - I

don't know the floor. -- 1jf

Q You are engaged to this girl and jrou don't know on what

fltfbr she lives; at 129 Monroe street?
Objected to as immaterial; Objection overruled,

4d .
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y 8Exa option.

A She told me it ia her cousin.
Q What floor -- does ohe live on? A I don't know, sir. .

Q With whom does she live? A At 129 Monroe street: she told tEalTW.'& r., .ilZL'9 t

r I

me her cousin. ...
t

0. wnat is tne name or tne cousin? A I aon't Know-tn- e cousin, m

i ' . . MVli
Q Well, you are intending to marry her, aren't you? A Tes '

Q How often do you see her? A I go every two or three nights. tM

Q Where do you see her? A Corner of Rutger's street and

Monroe.

(I What is she doing now for a living? A She is working in
i

a factory. Sh&j&$fjrT'"novr . -

Q IIow long has she been out of work? A She say she is. out

of work -- - I don't know how long she is out of" work.

Q You see her two --or' three Ijimes a week, now, tell us how

long she has "been out of work? " " .

MR. SAtJDIER: I object to the question unless the

witness knows.

Objection overruled, exception.

A Well, I don't know how long she isout of work.

i Where was the last place she was working that you know

of? A In Rutgers street. .

Q What street? A I mean Merc.er street.
i

Q, How long ago was that? A Well, that is "about
,--

---il.

couldn't -- exactly tell you how long ago.

MA. S&irci&R,: Oujected to un. thj-nrtin- d that it is
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improper to question this witnesa'Onwhoro'-anothor-wi-t ffljrr
'' 'WE

nesa works. Surely the District Attorney had the oppor- -

!! r n imonf 1 rri V10 ml fnnoa on . n Vtov nvm rynA4Tni T "t".V

and not try to impeach it by other witnesses,
, - --r

Objection overruled. Exception, .

Q, And yguare 'sure that she is now living, with some cousin--,- ;

V-- - . t - ,v MVBS0mBm

that you don't know in 129 street and you don't know what 'floor. Wmm 'j
1 --giBriwciB ' 18

"is that so? A. Jlp,jiir. .
--

-

t

i

Q, Do you know the Cohens? A --Yes, sir,
0 How long have you known the Cohens? A Well, since I''

have been with my friend Minnie,

Q, Is Mr. Cohen her cousin? AJEes", sir.
Q, Is she living with Mr Cohen? A Ho , sir.

ii i

Q You are sure about "that, aren't you? A Now she is
f

living at 129 Monroe 3treet.
BY THE COURT;

Q But you do not know the cousin she is living with ? A

Just now. no, sir.r l

BY MR, ELETSOII: "

Q How long has' she been living 'at 129 Monroe;street?

A I don '--

t know; "

. -

Q, Oh, give the jury some idea-- , whether it is. a month or
" '

t7fo months or three months? '
. ,

r

MR. SAWDLER: Objected to on the. ground that the
'question has already been answered; he says he does not

-- know.
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,THti COURT: Hb may atate his beat' rec'olleoti'on.

Q State your best recollection aa to how long ahe has been jt
living at 129 Monroe atreet -- - one month, two months, three

N '

months?! A Weir, L can't exact lyjl..shq ain't going to tell me .

all those things, how long she has. been' living, ahe can't 7

. . .

tell me '.that, I don't want to know that. '
.s

' "r. --
. rW i

s

0 I ask VOU- - to flt.nff.fi vflur "hnnt. nrol 1 tnA nr nn --hn hnm mnnv' iSsSssBK.
--.::JZm

bw rjLtt J. . . "sH
.1 I I ,1

.months she has been living at 129 Honroe street?
MR. SANDLER :. Objected to as. already answered.

Objection overruled. Exception.

jA.X couldn' t tell you, I don''t know.
ftwwiwni i

Q, Well, has it been two years since you. met her? .A Well, no;

I met her, I am going with her two years.
J

Q, Has she. been living there for two years? A ,No,-- , sir. f

Q How long haJs she been living tljere? I don't care- - whether

a month or two months out of the way? A Well, I have been
4 t

going down there for about five or six months.

Q You have been going down there five or six months, is
that right? A Yes, sir.

0U And you can't tell us oh what floor she lives? A No, sir.
I met her on the corner of Rutgers and Monroe street. .

HL You are not ashamed to go up- - and call on her in her

cousin's home when you are engaged to her, are you?. A Being

I am an Italian, maybe they don't want me up there.
"MR. SA1IDEER:- - Objected to on-th-e --ground that the

i

question is immaterial --ahe t&er he was ashamed or not.
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Objection overruled. Exception.
r

Q -- Well, you never asked them whether they didn'.t want you up

there, did you? A Well, I wouldn't go up there.
"

Q And' io that also the reason whyny oil cannot tell the jury
"""i I

the names of--4he-c-Qusi3iT-th-

atshe lives with? A Ho., sir.
. d

' 1U'
Q Who intro due edyouto Minnie SmLth? A Myself, I know . - 4

fil TraMB

shb-
-

-- Hiher ays elf r "" '. , - ' iMV4JkNtHWi -

. .
r

, ,

--7s
fc

WnKftKTTSMra

Q What do you mean -- - you spoke tot her on the streetA-Yes-- ,

i ;'V-iJi-
B

sir. IS
yitiftrtHftiJfiiifJritittrtuiimfiviHiiMttwtfJttiJtWftnititftTtiwrtVtttifmmy

BY THE aOURT:

Q Has Mr. Cohen ever objected to you because you are an

Italian? A Not that I know of . '
. ;

Q He is a cousin, isn't. he? A Yes, sir.
t 0

BY MR. ELHSOII:

Q Did she live up at east 118th street? A Uo , sir.
0, D yu know Rosle's up there?. A Rosie is a friend of

mine.

(I Any ether Italians call up at Rosie' s besides you? A Well,

ffciendso.Rosiek.'
. Q Give me the names of some of the men that call up. at

Rosie's? A The only "fellow that was .up ; there was Prank, that's
"V , , aii. :

Q,.What is his last-name- ? A I don't know his last name.
""

That's all I .know him. ' '

He is an Italian tjo, isn't he? A Ys, air.
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"Q Give"Tmo the-names- -of some
-- ,J.--Italians that-oallupatRjoslj-

Jo?

.

2iR. SAHDLER: How about some other nationality? I "A

Mi
object as to the names of men,

--THE COURT: He nay state thenaraes of anybody, that
' S855S5!!?1?'

-- calls, i

Q Well, just, give the names of any other men A Some
'

' S, 11' 'v r
friends of mine'.. " - - " .

0 You have given us Prank. How who else? A A fellow namedf
tsliliir

Johnnnie .
p

Q What is his last name? A I don't know.

- Q, How give'nesjsomebQdy else; ' A?i "Louis.

Q What-is-hrs-l- ast name? A JL.don' t-kno,- w his ,last name. . ,, HflL .?.--.
r "

r- -

. Q Give us somebody else? A Well, thaf al?--
l And ybu-ta- ke those men up ' t o Rosie s , doli t jrou? ,A Ho , sir ,

c; . j

they are fr.i ends of mine .

Objected, to. Objection overruled.

MR. SANDIER: I object' to the form of the question,

but not to the queption itself.
Q You used to live in East 118th street yourself, didn't

.'
you? A Ho , sir'.

! t
f

Q Didn't you ever have a room in East 118th street? A Ho,
t

sir, my-frien- d lives there, Rosie.

Q Your friend Rosie? A Yes, sir. va
Q Did you ever live -- there with her? A Ho, sir.

$ Did you ever live in that house? A Ho, sir.
BY THE COURT:

Q Were you evar engaged to-Ros- ie? A "Ho. sir '
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BY MR. ELLISON:
t H9a

j WKtTt night of. the "week was this that you went to thiB mv.
Hotel at. 116th street? A On a Saturday night, m I

' '

o Viil you give me Ro3ie's.last name, "by the way? A No, sir,
I don't- - know her last name, I only know her by the name of Rosie.

. '

O Til d Minnie over co ud to Roaie'a? A One Qundav.
--W'.'

Q Was she ever there more than once? A Ho, sir.
Q, Do you know Weintraub? A Ho, sir.
Q, You never met him in your, life? A Ho, sir.

Q, You know Cohen? A Yes, sir.
i How long have you known chen? A Since I was going with !3lBHi

my friend Minnie. ..She told me it was a cousin.
() Two years?' A Yes,' sir.
f Did- - you ever go around to 'Cohen' s . stable? A Ho, sir.

Q Don't you know that Vkintraube has been going around

to Cohen's stable? A Ho , sir, I have never seen him before.
Q Who first spokB to you about this night that you were

in the hotel with a girl that you are engaged to? Who- - asked

you about it? A Well, Mr Cohen.

', MR. SANDIER: The complaining witness may-I- - submit;,
t

the District, Attorney,, inputting the question, should

state the evidence in this case. The evidence does not .

state the evidence offered here by the witness that he

was in conjunction with the complaining witness in this
case and another man.

j: THE COURT.: - fcho first apoke to you about that night that



:

yau and these other people wont to that hotel? A Mr. 'Cohen;; v, '

"'BY MR. ELIIS01H ," . ...

". Q That is the cousin of the girl you are engaged to? A .:? J

'

Yea, sir, - , --

.- ,...-.- .

V4fT

Y i .ClIKP'

Q Yell, have you' old him you Bpent a night-i- n v'aRaines; Law
' .."'. .' ": ".

'
- .

'
-

' '. 'tV,
hotel with his cousin? A Hefcoiaes over - ' ffirw';'."'., . '

.
- a. .

. .w .'
Had-y- ou told, him that? A Yes, -- sir

Did he- - say anything when he heard that his cousin was im ' "P
a hotel with you all night? A No, .sir. She told him that she

'

.

'j T

likes me. ;- -. --

'

: -- v :

-

4. '.:,"
Q And he did not say anything about it? A No, sir, not that4. lr.,.1

&,
.:

I know of. '.; " !

Q And yo;u continued going with her? A Yes, sir. ;

Q And seeing Mr. Cohen? A 'Not Mr. Cohen I continued

going with her.
Q But you have told us that you have seen Mr. Cohen during

the last two years, her cousin? A No, I only seen him lately,

that's all. I seen: some Cohen lately.
Q --Did you ever go up"tothe house and see the girl Minnie

Smith at the Cohen' b? A No, sir.
Q You Have net seen Minnie up there in the last six

months, have you, at Cohen's? A Bo, sir.

RE-DIRE- CT .EX-ifliIAa?i- O. BY HB. SANDER:.

. Q Bid you gyjir mt th defendant here,; in the last twa

yturs? a JJa, air.
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Q Is this the f irsx time you have; selmhim?r-A-,Y- es flir.- -

" j

HA RRY . G 0 HE N,.. called ao a witness in behalf of defend-

ant,

'
;

Til

being first duly sworn, .testifies ao follows:
"Mfc.

DIRECT- - EXAMIIJATIOH BY MR. SA1IDLER: ., '
.

(The witness states his address to be 314 East 122nd street.)
MR. SAKDLER: This witness is. being off ered as a . .

-

character witness f or-th'e-de-
fen dant.- -

MR. ELUSOH:, I object to any limitation, your

Honor 4'. ;
'

'
'-

-. ...," .

'
.'

' , . .

1IHE GQDRT':. '. He has a' right to.-ca-
ll him-fo-r whatever

XW WSJ

?w
purpose he sees fit. It is perfectly proper to question!

Mi

a person' as a character witness i. Q What is your f.ull name? A Harry Cohen, --v. -

Q Where do you live? A 314 East 122nd street.
Q What line of business are you engaged in?, A livery stable.

(I Vho are you in business with? A My father.
- Q How long have you been in that business? A Five years.

. Q do you know. the def aidant at !the bar, Charles Weintroub?

A Yes , -- sir.
Q Bow long do you know him? A. It is about six years.

Q: Do you know others that know him? A Yes, sir.
'.. - BHQ Have you had occasion to ireet him in the. last five or six

years? A Yes, air. '

Q Of ten? A Oh., about tliree or four times a week, som-

etimes
'

very Tjf. -.-- t'
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.

--, ti .Whatsis the dcf aidant' a reputation for honesty ana peace k ..&
in the community? A Good. , r r -

THE COURT: well,-h- e Is' not on .trial for his honesty .,.

or peace and quiet. He is not charged wifh an offense of i 'I

'& violence, or with; an offense such as larceny,
'--

,.-.' , JtIR.,,.SAUDLRF: Well, that is-th- e general reputation. '

'MSu "3tI
-- THE COURT f well, you have not asked that V you have :

'

' asked as to-peac- e and quiet, and honesty -"--
. . ct i.3gag & ' "'"Ail

Q What is his' general reputation in the community? A Good.'
.

tj Good or bad? A Good.

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, ELUSON: :

Q Are you a married man? A Yes, sir.
Q What is the nsme of your Wife ?- -

Objected to. Objection overruled. ;

A This is ixiL. .ate rial.
Q Vhat is your wife's name? A. Becky Cohen. -.-

-

Q. Vhat was her name before she was married? -- A Becky Bramo-wit- z.

Q Was she also known under the name of Becky Greeni and Becky

Horowitz? A Ho. "'- -.

Q What? A Becky Green. '.

Q; Your -- wife was convicted up in Boston, 'wasn't she?
'

A No, sir,
--

-- .':
'

. ..' j-..,- ; .-
--.-

Ohjeatedvto. Objection sustained.
;. MR. SABDIER: Thii.is entirely unfair,
' '

.V-'-- M - - ' -

COuBT: "The conviction of this witness1? wife, can
v-Trfm-

'Mf''

, not impch -- ii-i. wito.. ., i
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MR.. ELItfSOH: No. I thlnkM 'have the rgHt"'t'oBli6w ?Wi ME

1 Jifl P
the relatives of hip family, the diff erent things about v.,'.' , tt

them. He is appearing here as a character witness, and the
1

rJ I

Jury have never seen him before and I vsant to show his sur-- " prWHMHlMtaMiM

roun&ings.
'4&SIL

--THE COURT; You can bririg out anything on cross exam- i-

.'... .

nation that iiiipeachas thisAvitnesBs character. .
-- :12111B

t'l You have stolen horses oyer in Kings County, haven't you?ft T1

' ' '',.MR'. SANDIER; Objected to as wholly incompetent and

unfair. '
. .

THE COURT; He can be asked whether he has committed

crime '

..".
.

,v

A 6b as far. as you like. .

Q (Question repeated) A Ho', sir. That is all right. I .''

am willing to answer.

Q Is Ulnnie" Smith your cousin? A Yes; sir. . .'...'
Q, How long has she been in this country? A I gueBB about

three and a half years or so.

q What has she been doing' for a living for the last six
months? .

:' ' '.'
MR. SHDIER: Objected to on the ground that there

has been r nothing br ought out on direct examination that
would entitle -- the District Attorney to go into the character

of Minnie smith or any other witness in this case; This

witness he. been offered as a character-witness- .

:m n.) 7RT: .
.vfe 11, he makes, the witness hie own witness.
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defendant's character, but, not as to any collateral mat-te- rs

, or the character of-an- y other witness who appeared

In this case, 1- -

''
- '..' .

THE COURT: He is how asking about another witness, f
I

m

. v
:

'
- ,

' .... .
' '

.

'
..'

'..''"-'- .
' "A

Minnie Smith'. He makes this witness, his own witness for ,
-- 4'....' -

i

' ." .,

that purpose and he is hound by his answers. ,

Q What has she been doing for the ..last sixmonthsr A Wofk-'- -f Bb :

ing. . .,". '"".; -- "' '

MR. SANDIER: -- If he knows. These witnesses are .not

very intelligent witnesses. ,
'

.--

'.' ..,' . '. .

,'

THE COURT: What is your objection?

MR.. SANDLER: ' To-t- he form of. the question. He Bhould

ask if he knows --vhat she has been dicing. .

' '
i.

TIIE' COURT: If he does not know, he can state. Objec

tion overruled.

Q Where -- was she working? A I don't know, sir.
' ' :i

' '
' ' ' '''.'''Q, Was she working for you for thlTlast . six months'? A No, sir,,

. Q Where has she been living the last six months? A : Dbwn-tow- n,

some place. .

Q, Wiere downtown,, Kr. Cohen? A I -- don1 tyknow. '

Q Are you on good terms with your cousin? A No, sir.
. Whjat? A Ho., sir.

Q ,How long havent you been on. good terms with her aid have

no.t sen her?
' r"3'"i&

MB... 8A1EEBR: vViwtbdJ-tbtoaterla- li
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in i. i. i . A I-havfl-ooon-Iicr- -ae.v.hral.timeg.tbrut Ineycr talk to her.
A-- 1

IHRP

Q' Do you know Frank-Ross- , the witness here? A Ho, sir,
-- a

Sift

IT Q You don't know him? A I know him by sight.
Q Did you ever .speak to him? A I spoke in regard to this

.case, what I have seen, arid that i s" about all, the first time, x i -- ;a"iai'i d ." -

Q When did 'you see him end talk. to him about thiB case?
"'. . .

A I seen him Saturday -- - Monday, I guess. '.

Q last Monday, was that the firsts time you' have spoken to . .
'',

'

. .
'

' ' '
.. .'.''.'' --': - &jfl

him in your life? A Yes, sir '.'.. i

o
'

, . . .- -'.-. '
.'

Q What did you say to .him and what did he say to. you?'

MR. SANDIER: Objected to as incompetent irrelevant .

. 'and imruater-ial-;
' .'...'

THE. COtJRT.: How is that competent. . .
--4m -.-- 'St''l -

' $
MR. EIJJSON: Your Honor-wil- l recall the testimony of T -

Ross as to a conversation that is alleged to have taken

place between, this witness and. Ross it i& true," not
'''' ''"'-- .

Monday, but a year or- - so ago , but he says it was last
Monday, and I tvant to get the conversation end.. find--pu- t

.

what was said about the caoe,

. TBI COURT: Suppose you were calling this witness as

your own in-rebutta- l, I think that would be a collateral
.matter, as to what the other witness said. I will sustain.

'
V'-it.--

.-

r v
H t-

- .V H" 'k '.Hw l

MR. BLlilSOB: Very well, I won't press it.
Q Can you tell the jury with whom Minnie smith' has been

living for the last six roonths? With whom she has been living?
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A I couldn't say, I "donrtknowf beoauBeohGwao-living-dow- n
i 'fllliWHlilwl

"

T.OVVH, ailu wxiu one nau xiviiig vaw j. uuir u jvnun ;

Q Don't you know she was living with her cousin downtown?

MR. SAIIDLER:' Objected to. The. witness answered the
3SJlj!s"I

District' Attorney's answer 'and he is bound by that
answer. He is-tryin- g to impeach his own witness.

&

Objection overruled. Exception.
'&

!?
.nt-.1- - .- -

A Downtown I know, but I don't know whether it was a relation
or not. I never knew.

BY TEEOOiiRT;

0, Have you got any cousins downtown? A Ho, sir.
&&i

Q, Have you got any cousins that live on Monroe street?
A Some' relation of my wife. - 1

t M

-
Q What relation?' A "I don't know whether it "is ,a' cousin or

something. " "I I

Q I asked, you whether you had a cousin or relation. Have

you any that live in Monroe street? A Well, that is from me,,

I have jiot.
Q You say your wife has relations that live in Monroe street?

A Yes.

Q Do you know the number? A I couldn't say, noj, sir.
BY kB . EILI SOU :

Q What is the name? , I don't know.

v Do you uave any business transactions with Weimtraub?

A Yes, sir.
.:e deals . th ; u, msBn't he? l A. Yes,,sir.
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, years, five years-- .

ft; He is a' customer 'of yours? A Y,es,'
,--

'.

.1 , 4 .;"..'-- . i slf-'SffR- il f"i ".' Kg " ' "

RE-DIRE- CT EXAMINATION. BTf MR. SANDLER:
.'"'. 4.'

-- What he, of A horses f' igff fQ, -- kind -- of a customer is yours? Hiring
, '?.. .:&' sa &e. i. .'w.-an-

a

and wagtihsl

What does. he: do for a living? A Peddling,

ft Of what? A Pruit and -- fruit,
ft Have you had much business dealings with him in the last

few years? A Yes, sir. --
.

ft Did he call on you at your home? A. Yes, sir.
"

ft With friends of his? A Yes --- no.
:.

Q Met your wife? A Yes.

ft And father? A Yes."
lit

0 H A R L E S WEI II T B A.u'b, the defendant herein, called''' . ..--
-' i

"

in his own behalf, being first duly 'sworn-- , testifies as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SANDIER: 'V
Q Where do you live? A 143 West 100th street.

Q How old are you? A Twenty-fou- r.

''." -

ft., How long have you been in the United states? A Nine

years. :. '
--'- ': .

'

ft What line of work have you been engaged in in the last
year? A tfruit business for oiyself'..

ft Where have you.-b- e en since November 27th, 1913?? "A. Since

November 27 th, i91J2i2jjeif TorJs-- ."
'

.
" ' "

,

" '" -- j.
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Q. Where? A. UpTn HarierffTT"keptB tor e-- j 1-1-9 th-e- fc e et - '?"- -

-- Q November 27th j 1913, do you remember thai day? November
ffmifjfir I- -

is last year, 1913 - do you remember where you were that day? 'bBR Hhbu
.-.-

...

.
r-- 'i

A (Ho answer) .
J - ' S GT?WMafMiMaw

'.'Q When were you arrested? A I was; arrested, I remember

a day bef ore Thanks giving. ' "
,

Q Where have you been since the day. of your arrest? , A Mii?j lC33flyJR9BvK

. '- '.
the Tombs.

'
.

:'

(I City Prison? A Yes, sir.
Q And this is the first time you are on the stand' to tell

your story? A Yes, sir. !

fj. You are charged here with seduction on the promise of mar,4S PS -

riage? A Yea, sir. ,
' ... .

-
. --.j

. Q - D yu know the complaining witness, Frieda Smilovitz?

A Yes, sir..
Q, How long do you know Frieda Smilovitz? A 'About five or

4six ju-ont-
hs.

' -

--Q Where for the first; time did you meet .the complaining wit-

ness in this case? A In Classon Point.
Q where is Classon point? A lit i,s a little amusement place

p -

up near the Bronx - near Westchester, at least. t

Q, Under what circumstances "did you, meet the complaining

witness at Classon Point? A I was
.

.sitting in a bathing suit",.. .

on the grass: and Mrs. Weiner, the complainant's witness, was

there, and when thiB girl came over also in a bathing suit and

say, "Charlie, thieda my sister, she i,s a jolly girl, I will
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' put you next to her,"
T Q Mrs. Weinor is the married oister of the complaining .

witness? A Yes, sir. ' ,

Q Who else was present at that time? A Mrs. Weiner and
' r

f

her husband,- - Mr, Vfeiner.- - and Mr. and Mrs. Cohen, and Izzie

Cohen, Mr. Harry '
Cohen1 s father'; a fellow by the name' of Mr.

Harry Rosen and al don't remember exactly'--- - it was a big

like a Sunday party a lot of people around.

Q Did you get the introduction? A Yes; come over and she

says, "Charlie, meet my sister, Fri.eda."

Q Vhat did Frieda say to you and what did you say to her?

A I didn't say nothing. I went in bathing and she went in also

with her -- sister. .

Q After yuu got .through bathing, what did you do? A Then

she came over to me with her sister and I hardly recognized her.
Q, You mean she looked different in her street clothes? A'

Yes, being she was dark complected and she was powdered; after-

wards when used to her I did recognize her..

Q What did you. do after you did recognize her? "A We went to-geth- er,

all of- - us in the party, and then she had met a felldw

and she left me standing there.
.

Q, Vhen you say "she" use a name. A Frieda met a fellow

across the way. .

Q, Across the way from where? A From us, -- where xie were walk-

ing; and aha ran over to him and left me stand, and I kind of

flt ayaalf and I walked ahead. Then after Frieda-cam- e over
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for me with her sister and' to aid j "I know I have made a riiotakcr"

leaving you, "but I didn't mean nothing by it. Come oh.", we

will walk again." . .And so I did, ,
' t i

i Where did you go? A Well,, walked around all kind of amuse- - "?j
3S?E

ment places, like in a Bummer place, I don't know boat rides

with her' sister,- - and a lot of people, friends of hers and of minef;
ifl

f 3 t

also. .
'

i

Q, Vhat time did you leave the amusement places? A You mean

left Olasson's Pcrint altogether?

Q Yes. A Around half past nine or ten. o! clock i
-- M

Q, How did the party break up?, A I took' them in my carriage; yj
."

.at least, of the carriages with Mr. Cohen. I had a single ,

seated carriage and Mr. Cohen had a double seated.

Q You hired a carriage from Cohen? A I had a single seated,

but I changed with Mr. Cohen going home, and I took Mr. Weiner
-

and Mrs. Cohen, and a lady by the name of Mrs.' FeAnberg -- -- they

were sitting in the back seat, and Frieda was sitting along-

side of me as I was driving them home.

Q Yhere did you drive them home? A Drove them home to Harlem.

Q Where di d Frieda .go, and where ,did you go? A,. I took Mrs

Weiner home with, the carriage and Frieda got off in 122nd

street in front of the house llo. 314.

Q What did Frieda say to you and what did you say to "her?
i

't
A When I come up to Mr. Cohen and we had v a b.dtt " all-togeth- er,

we had a bit there and then Mrs. Feinberg invited. us upstairs.
--: her dd Mrs. Weinberg live what floor? A ' 314.
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CT"TrtoTFeinberg-njingleor-married?A-Sho-i!smai!ried,- "

thlnkj but she don't livewith her husband, ,-

-.

. "
i f- c- r --

in hwi I,, lit t

Q How nany'rooms did Mrs. Feinberg have in that apartment? J; JSjMi it

A Three. '..Q Did you go up there with the girl Frieda? A Tea, sir, I-we- nt

up With Frieda.

Q Yhat time of the night was this? A It was after (eleven. fv " f&BLAM

Q Tell the. 'jury what, happened after you got up there? A -- And "t'I' '

we were sitting there for a while.
- ,51

Q, When you s.ay "we", tell the jury who? A Frieda, Mrs.

Feinberg arid a gentleman by the name of Sol, and a fellow by

the name of Hymie, Steinberg, I think, and Mr. Cohen.-- ' They

all went down except I .and Miss Frieda and Mrs. Feinberg re-

mained, and I said, "I will remain, say about another hour, and

then I will go down on the market", being I used to go down at

night in the market. And Mrs. Feinbergmade a bed with. Frieda .

in the middle room. -
.

Q, How many beds were there? A One little couch.. .She made

a beu for herself n the last bedroom, and I and Frieda were
BBV BiBBBb

left in the kitchen When Mrs. Feinberg went to sleep Frieda bby sbbbbb
aKaWJaailowered the gas therewui wetst in "th g b eji ro om r and undfes-ae- d and

' avaaaaBaaaaal

took off her corset and came in without a waist and bare arms,,

and ctodft 11 without shoes and stockings and started hugging me.

Of aourse t admit she did kiss me and than she said, "Come on,

vs will lay 4ea on the couch, and you will take a nap for an hour

and thsas yos. A ?z 'jir"; mi4 I !? with her till about four
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q Wow . ;'v

MR. EIUSOH: Why donft you let him finlBhj?
A

MR. SJWDLER: I object. The witness aan becross .. '. lgrW$gt Mil. M I II
?

--. ? MP J'--H r 1 fata--

f "3, RfflWMfflKr
examined. He is on the stand,

i (Witness continuing) Pour o'clock in the morning Frieda I
said, "I will go in Mrs. JFpinberg' a "bed a while, for an hour;" -- -

"

You tell her you --were-VBlclcifcand you sl-ept- , .and --!Lalept with herV$3 SB. ''

""'' y,"fj'n3( . . . ...
l You had sexual connections with FrJLecla milovitz that.

night? A Yes, sir.
Q Did you force your attentions on her? A -J--

Bo-, sir,l
Q, Dp you know whether or not Frieda Smilovitz that night --

after Vou kad- - connection with her had been a good girl - did ' f

you ask her that? A She told me' that she was not. She told me

that she used to go with a fellow-- , Charlie Hirsh, -- and used to

sleep with him, and stayed out nights, and also witha fellow

Joe, but I didn't pay any attention to it, it didn't bother me,

i What time did you get up from the couch? Aj.&:oundhalf

past six. ,

-- 5-

CI What time did Frieda get up? A --.Frieda' woke me up, and

she was lying alongside of me, come back from Mrs, Feinberg,

and Mrs. Feinberg wasn't there then, and as I dressed and I
was goln to o out, and she said, ' ."So: ybu say good bye to

me"; I acdd, "Yes", and I kissed her good bye, and she asked
--ue for small ?cuige, ahe said she is going down in an employ-.ue- t.t

jfL"i.a lu lawJc for a job, r and I gave her seventy-iv- e cents.
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she" workTng--at that"Ttitte tHv"1"!! o-p- -s ir)IUU EU1U IIUlCiXJH, UU VllCVL. H11UOI iV " OX ?'v r ' " I "Him,

Q Was she wbrking for aosby s at that time? " A Hot yet, "-

-,

"
--.

" -- gjSfi It
Q Did she tell ,y uu what employment office she was going to? ,-

-

' ''
A Ho, sir. . ' '

Q After you left her where did you go? A I went down to' ther

Market.

Q, With your horse aid wagon? A .Ho, without a horse and wagon.' 9H :

I' went on an auction market I know1 on Pier 20, on the Erie.
Q Do you go there very often? A Very often.

.M 'j
Q, And "buy fruit? -- A- Twice a week. I don't buy .exactly;

I have a broker buys for me, Jb"e"ingI duu' t buy myself.

Q When next did you see the complaining witness after that
night? A About two days after. !

(J Where 'did you meet her? A I was stenxiing on the-corh- er

of 122nd street and she came over with two fellows.
Q, Do you know tijeir names? A One 'fellow I know by the name

of to. Katz. - "

-

.! Do --you know whether that is the one she is engaged to.

marry?. A I don't know if she: is engaged, but I know I met the

man after in her si ater ' sTrougypltrB . U usgbaum - she was
b

living there.
Q A boarder? Yes, sir.

When ;, f.-- u oaw her there with the two men what conversation

ensued oetiveen all of you? a" nothing at all, only she1 introduced
rap tc her t ri nde md I. iflfent from her andI. left her. She said

&h& w$e going, ap ta Mrs. Ffcinberg's and I went away.
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li Do you.krtdw when oho was going to start in work for tEi

'.'.'. , .
.

Cosby1 s? A About two. or three weeks after I met her" up. in
Mrs. 'Weinberg's house , or maybe a week I don't rem'ember exadtil?- -

Q When next did you go-ou- t wiTili the complaining witness? ifijjjfig
N

A Take her out" all by myself? On a day afterwards.
'

. fffl .
. ...

; HJ, Coming down, to the night did you ever call on Mrs,

Weiner, her sister? A Yes, air, .

VigB" - 'r'.:
Q" When did you call-on- . her with the complaining witness7

A Once on a Saturday I called Off'Irff; Weiner and I met the

complaining witness Fri-eo7-a' there. '

..

CI Who vas-tlTere- r other than Mrs Weiner? A I don't remember

exactly. I know it- - was more people than us. there, I don't
remember exactly.

,
--f$3T Did you ever spend a night at Mrs. Weiner' s house --with

Prida? A Yes, sir.
" - JwlB- :

Q Which night was that? .Was... that before October 28th,
1913 ? """AesTiTfway before. i K"

Q What day of the week was it? A If I am not mistaken it
was Tuesday. 1 don't remember exactly, Tuesday or Wednesday.

rf8p

Was Mrs, Weiner" s. husband home that night? A No.
. x, ,

q
. Is that th Mght he vas away? -T- Jrsr-Weiner and Frieda

Smilovitz came over rc 122ncfVfcreet; and invited me and Solly
to take them home. '

. H F? . IB

Q Solly, who? A Hfi3hnick. Invited us two to take, them;home ,

'bfeihg they were living kf 130th or 131st street and Lexington

avenue - I don t khyw exactly what strst. As I walked with
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t"henrto"129 thro tr e q .t-nh-
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and .they were walking with them in the. street, eating. an

O Who H. .
A von bnv them from? "A Off n nlntform. ntnnriinr? 3

v
.-

-

from the platform of the cars. They were eating in the street, '10
i . ... r--

I was really ashamed to go out With 'them, and I went -- up to the . .1
house with them, and we all played cards" in the front room, and j m
Mrs. Weiner.. went in the "bed room and enclosed herself and .put

.

'
. .' : ..-

'- .-

- " ...
on a wrap, and she remained in the kitchen with Solly; She took'

. . - TmIeIcI
wvoznaa

off hflr rnrnRt.fl' inat; u ,wrmiriBr. " -.-
:-' "V&

.
" "

'Ml, - -
-- fc

Q Did she have a. nightgown? A-- A red wrapper with white

stripes. '"'"'". ' ''

Q What did Frieda do? Arriel&"undressed and laid down on

tne couch, and I was sitting alongside, . J
Q, What did she .take off? A Entirely. ;undressed.

Q What did she have on? A; Apetticoat, that is .about all.
Q And did she expose her body or breast to you? A She

took her corsets off, and she was bare-arm- ed again.

Q Did hejiave a chemise on? A Sir? --

- Q Did she have a light shirt? A A light shirt.
.. Q fh-er- e was Mrs. Weiner then? A At the time in the bedroom

with Solly. .; '';.,. "

Q And. Mrs. Weiner s husband was not home?. A Ho. ibIQ Where was the child of Mrs. veiner? A Sleeping.' ' '
' '''' :.' ..

;

'

.-

-'" .

;
.

I.
.-

-

. 'Q Was there any light in the place where ydu were? A Ho, i
-- ,ivin

.

the front room they made out the light after we got through
j "

with t-h.i-- j .sard game. --
.
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Q, What time' did the card game break .up? A Around one

JjW' ll .
i , ,

- im ntkii 1 nil... J

o'clock. '
WmtMk

i .
Q ' Did you lie on the couch there with Frieda? A 'Yes," sir,

a mQ, Did you have aexual connection with her? A Connection,

with her once,

Q Did she resist you? Di you force your .attentions ont
1 - " - k

" ""-

--JLher? A Wo, sir. l. t ui'llMl

0 What' conversation ensued between you and her before you
" - ' , Mv V, Pjli99B r

A'' ,a i

committed t'heact of "sexual intercourse? A .Just jollying 'f sftaiH

along,

Q Did you have to struggle with her? A No, sir,
Q Did she express any. desire for" the act? A Sir?

Q Did she tell you that she. desired to have an act of sexual

intercourse? A She told me she. is very passionate, 1--
-:

Q What time did you leave the house? A Around five 'o'clock
f jin the morning,

Q Did y'ou leave Frieda there? A Yes,, sir,
Q, --Was she working- - at that time, if yotfknow? A I couldn't

v

say for sure, but I d,on''t thinkrsd. r

Q Did you have a talk withlfrs. Weiner when you left the

house? A JJust good bye,
1?

Q' What -- became of Vishnick? A Mrs. 'Weiner told mei not to

tell anybody that I was up to 'her room that night.
Q What became of Wishnick? A He went, with me,

Q Did you see him leave,, xWishnick, 40 you remember? A Well,

I was sitting in the front parlor. Ho, I was at Frieda's crouch,
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and Mr. WiBhnick and Mrs. Weiner woke me up and iwentroutithl
Hi

him together ' ..
. .,-- . SMK I .

Q DO you know whether Mrs. Weiner, and her husband were liyingP j '

happily' at that time? A Well, I couldn't say.
' ' -- - : ; .'..'"v.,... .""'.; ''.:' ,

Q Do you know whether she wanted to run away with a certain

man? A I found that out a couple of weeks .after. v "'an
Q What is his name? A His first name is Abie.

MR.' ELLISON: objected to as incompetent, immaterial1

' 5 " '

irrelevant knd hearsay. ' "

Objection -- sustained. Exception.

Q, Did. you ever have a talk with Mrs . weiner ab out some

-- other man she-wa- s going to run away with? A Never told me, ..

but I heard it off the man- .- "
MB. ELLISON: Never mind that. v

Q: Did you ever meet
'

--that
-

liian
-

in her
'

apartment?
- ,

" ,,.""'THE COURT: There is no evidence as to the man.

Q Did you ever meet any --other man in that apartment except

Solly Wishnick?

MR. ELLISON: That is objected to as immaterial to

this issue. .- -'..-

.t -

(Question withdrawn.)
Sr- -

'MR. ELLISON: Get down to' the engagement.

MRt SANDLER; Now, I don't require any assistance

i'roffl th District Attorney as to how to try my case.

TBI GOURT: Proceed. ' - " . .

,;
.-il-

ex ;. ao'y'n after this incident did yau meet Frieda Smilovitz?



if f
" . :W.pfcr rV v - v. -- .' 167

B.'.. '.' "' ' r
:A Airmitt7o-waoic- Dv

fs 15t.
r-'-

ir'

Q After the night- - you spent at Mrs. Weiner1 s'housb? A About "'

Ilr,: . two weeks after.
Q Where did you meet her?' A In Mr... Cohen' a house.

, Q That , was vthe witness who preceded you on the stand?

A Yes, sir,,314 East 122nd street, with her sister. .. - "V

Q What is her sister's name? A Katie Weiner. r'iMm
4-.W- H9I

""-

- '.; .j-- i

Q So Mrs. Weiner; and Prieda' called on the Cohens? A Yes,;'

3ir, met' than at the hoU3e. "

If' --- ! '

,

' V- -

Q And you called:.. there, also --y- ou were there calling?1 -
.'A Yes,, sir. ''

Qv When, for the first time di-d- " you talk marriage to the

complaining. witness? A That was that night. vl rf

Q What night? A The same night when I went away ip there --

in Mr. Cohen's house.

Q Can you remember the night? A I know it was on a sunday

night. .
--

.

'
,

.-

-
.

"' "-:'"-

"'"' .' ''';.' : -
.-

-."i,.

--

.

- .'..- - '.

Q How long prior to October 28th? A About a week before
Q Under what circumstances was the question of marriage

broached that night? How did they come to talk about the

marriage? A She. was telling me, what I think about her? And
,p

she knew I. knew she was not an innocent girl,, and I jsaid, "That

don't make any difference, I think I will like you good enough

and I will marry" you", being, that I wanted to have a home, I
. . . .' '..: '' '. -- '' .

""' '

'
'

-
' '.

'

wanted to get married.- - ."'.'. ' 5 "' : ,

f And Frieda" aailovlts knos-M- r .ohan'a wife? A Yes,, sir.
i ; '. :- --- .. .

'
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' ft The one known as Green r- - the Phi.ladolphi n. w'omnn?

, ui I
1

. ,

- JIR.ELHSON; Boston.

Q The Boston woman, with a record?' A I doht know nothing
;-- about Boston; ,1 know Mrs. Cohen from New York.

Q And Mr. Cohen is married to the lady, his present wife is
Green, from Bo3.ton, or Philadelphia? A I don't know her "by the
name of Green; it is Cohen.

O Whfit. c A Wl1(:Hn -- oi'i jlV. - --f4- J.V. . x.Tl- - i --i. ti . . j imt, ..- -. .-.- .y,Jfc.. w t oejr- - --.itiiu,i tu'ow one uaxii. ao out. tne wea-- -- "m,
' VsJ

ding? Di.d you make any time when you. were to be married? .A
r,A&M

"H6a?J

Ho.
'mm

Well, now, this charge here by the People is that on Octo- - Jl
ber tne 28th, 1913, at 143 West 100th street, you seduced,

that is you raped the complaining witness of her virginity, and

that she was of previous good, chaste character, that jrou had

sexual connection with her under promise of marriage; did you

have connection with her that night, on October 28th? A Yes. sir.9

ft At 143 West 100th street? A Yes, sir.
Q Under what circumstances did you have sexual intercourse

with her that night? A I don't understand you, very well.- - Will
you please explain

Q How did you come to go 'to 143 West 100th street with her?
wtf

A That Sunday night when I see her at Mr. Qohen's house, that
.. 74, ..

, Sunday night .IwgnJwith her in the College Inn, at 125th street,
and then the gil-aske- d me to take 4rer home to the Bronx, and I
did take her home, when I got to the Bronx with her, we got

out' of he Subway, and then she told me she is sick and tired
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leading her lTf e nrnBtranehcjaoefland-thQrQ-iD-a-young- Tf el-lo- w

about fourteen or fifteen - ' .. .'

Q, Was "she working in Cosby s? A Yes, and she said there

is a young fellow, fourteen or fifteen named Bennie.

I Q Bennie Cosby? A I don't know if it is Bennie, but I know

it is Cosby' s son. She explained it that way, that he bothers

zier every hikut; wiien sue comes norae xaxe . xnax. ne usea. t;o come i--

in the bed with her whereshe was sleeping. She had a separate i

room for herself, and she even told me that 'she scolded him--

, " -- othtfconce in front of his father, and then she told me that her month
CH

is up tomorrow and I should actually come. over and help her re- -
---

4-

move to her sister's house, and I promised,

Monday when I was around in "the stable I came in in the

evening, and they told me there was a telephone from Frieda,

asked for me, and Xdidn't pay any attention to it, and about

half an hour after I was called up again and Frieda asked me to

'jf'come over and help her-nro- ve to-h- er si-ster- -; and. I hired acar"
?--'-

sttnflt riage of Mr. Cohen, and I went over to prospect avenue and stood

outside, didn't go in.
She came out, and a fellow and girl, she helped to carry

her valise and they placed the valise in the carriage, and the

TPrl7"I think that was Miss Cosby asked me" "Where are you going

with her?" And I said, "I am going over to the west side."
He sister was living, I think, on the wast side at ttie fimeT '

and vhen I- - took her I was gbingto drive her through the drive.i . .- -.

nadison ar Xexingtoh avenue bridge, and she told me, "Drive
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thrmighrWirii'B avenue-Bridge-sp- 11-

I said it was a rough way to drive" this way t ahdehe '

mtkj

made me drive the other way, and she told me she don't care any

more." I said, "I cannot take you up" in my house . I was

living at the time in 123rd street with a lady named Liver-wit- z. r I

Q, You were a "boarder there? A Yes, sir. So she says, .
'

& 'idSM
hi

" . ". &i I1UJMHI

where, are you going to leave me to-nig- ht? I said-,- - "Go up to

Mrs. Weinberg's, she is a good friend of yours; you slept t

T5 A

there more than .one n i ght , " She said "Uot" I drove over, in
f T

100th street, near Columbus afcenue , and I took her. out there,

and asked the friend if he has any room for her over night
Q, What is the name of the. friend? A. Philip Kaston. And he

said, "Only for one night", he says he could', an,d she said she

will go to Brooklyn tomorrow, she has got a position, a-lad-
y

from the same house wher.e Mrs. Cosby ,was living moved out to

Brooklyn, and she offerecUher about four or five dollars a month

more, and she would rather go to Brooklyn to work.

Well, Mr. Philip Kast on allowed us to stay-1;he- r e for the

night. I left her in the restaurant and I took the carriage

baok in th-stable- , and I oame back in about an hour after,
and they all went upstairs and they made a bed , with Frieda

on th couch, and I said "Good night", and I went home,

Q Did you hav sexual intercourse with her that night?.

Ho , 1 di dn ! t atay there. I came home the , next morning,
-- JJ"-

came t. the restaurant, and Frieda was there and 1 said, "Didnt
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you go tlDrooklyrtct?,lAntt-Bhe-aid,,I-wrote-iny-ois- te

' al card that' I went to Brooklyn. You knbwj-to-mak- e my sister t fkAhSC

believe I was in Brooklyn.." ...;..',' r.'JffiB
'MEM

I said "That .is foolish. " .She saidj"! don't want to go "IM gjjgKEIZ:
M1

'to Brooklyn. " Get a room and vje. will stay together. " I said,.... .-'- "-. ..,. - '.''':' ' '

"No." '

I went back in 122nd street, and the old
.

man, Mr. Izzie
t r

Cohen, the father of Mr. Harry Cohen, told me , "There 'is a lady

called up on the phone and asked for " me "about three times,

and we were talking and the telephone ring again, and that was 3J

Mrs. Weiner', and she said "Whci --is that?". I said that was me.

She. did not believe and then I had to get somebody to make sure
... . ' ' ''

that was me. She said "Where is Frieda?" I said, "I don't know.

She said, "T heard you took her away." I said "I didn't take

her away. Don't-tal- k over the phone. I am going right over to

your house,"

And I went over to 207 West 144th street, on the ground

floor, that w as Mrs. Weiner. She said, "Do you know where Frieda

is?" And I said, "I don't know.. ' And I was leaving. She

said, "I received a postal card from Frida this morning that,

she is in Brooklyn, but I seethe post aboard was mailed in
J

Hew York" , and she started 1 worrying. I said, "What are youworry-in- g

over?" ghe said, "I don't, know wherd she is." I said,
"Would you like tpsee me get' married to Frida?" She said, "I

woulda't object. "so ihe says, "Bring Frieda here."

I wt6t dofi ipthe .restaurant and 'I told FridQ that I
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was over by her sister and she is wanted home by 'her sister. f

She'says, "I will not go." I says, "It would not be right fjMi&.r

you not to go; and"7 the second thing, I know your sister, so -- hmm?m
you will disgust .your sister?"' She said, "I don't care, I

. . . r

won't go." She said, "Come on, and get-- a room for me." '

Well. I got a room with her. She stood about a week. V

and she wouldn't go to her sister. Then' Iwanted her to go to

her sister. I seen her sister almost every day and she was -

crying for me, she said, "Bring her home. Maybe she is there

because she married you. I forgive her everything."

Well, she says, "Come on, we will get married." I said ' -- lipr

"I can't get married, being I am in a bad condition -- 7 I.aint i

got enough money." .

She said, "Come on down, we will take a license and show

them we are really going to get married."

We went to city Hall and I got the license, and the

clerk asked when I intended to-ufarr-
y, and the 'two of us de-

cided to marry January 1st, dnd the clerk told her with a smile

it would be a good. day to remember the wedding day, and she

took the license and was going out and went to work and bought--

Q Was she asked her age? A Yes, sir.
Q What age did' she give? A Twenty-on- e.

Q, Did you tell her to say she waB twenty-on- e? A Ho, sir.
Q Did he ever tell you how old she was? A No, sir. I

rally took her for a girl twenty one.



173 ja
jBfp-'V"'-

' Q, How orddrdslie t"el"lyou-Dhewao?--A She-told-me-- she-

was aJULttle ovortwenty. . . --: mtif -

Q Did you tell her it was necessary to say "she weCb tWehtyorfB,,s;

in order to obtain the license? A Absolutely not. '

mmfmm-
& After you got the license, what did you do? A - She

'

bought a marriage ring and she went over, to her sister' and

saicTwe were married.

Q Who bought the wedding ring? A. Herself , there at the time
- --i 'fs.-a-d

Q Do you know where she bought ,i,t? A Ho; .som.ewheres.jLn

Columbus avenue.

Q Vhen did she tell you about -- the wedding ring? A She

bought the wedding ring two days before I had the license.
Q What happened after that?' A When I came in her sister's

house her sister started the crying.
Q, What sister? A GusBie Weiner was crying. She said, "We

are married", and I was laughing. So she said "Show me". 1

said, "Here is the license, we are going to get married."

She lookedatthe license and sjaidjAll right, I am

satisfied." . id I vas invited up to Paula Nussbaum's, another,

sister of her, and she wanted to see the license and she- - asked

me, "why, you1 se ain't married." I said, "I didn't say I was

married, but I will be on January ls,t."
And she said, "I know you ain't married, you ought to pa

nave a stamp the way my license, is stamped." And she invited
me up separate and of fared to make good a Jewish ,c,eremony the

jntning Sundnyand'l Mid I didn't car, "I shpll not spend any
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-on- -expenses-until- Januarylst r and Frieda' shall remain with--

Hrs. Weiner." so MrovWeJner invited me tootay. witherieda
t

in Her bedroom until January lotjand'l didn't want jTo",'' arid a it

Frieda did not.
Q She offered you a room in her house that you should stay

here with Frieda? A Yes,' and I was invited almost every night ( iM

to supper, to Mrs. Hussbaum's.' 1 used to meet hor every night-- -

by Mrs. Weiner. and from Mrs. Weiner' we went up almost every
9night to have supper to Mrs. Hussbaum's.

t-

-
,

-- '

O VV10 'liroro irnn r r A tir ' Vi ni 't.lmp an "Per1 nn vnnr hunlnflflfl Vfflfl ' "

concerned? A Peddling.

Q Every day? A Ho, three or four times a week.
sB

Q On October 28th, 1913, in 143 West l(30th street", did you tc?1

hire rooms there? A I hired rooms on the top floor, hut then

JFrieda hired rooms a week afterwards on the first floor, which

she had paid the rent.
. yjrieda siilovitz testified here - that-on-t- hat night you

ruined her? A Ho, sir.
Q "Murdered" her? A no, sir.
Q She says she bled very profusely; did you see any blood

there thtt night? A Ko, sir.
f, She says that your nightgown A She didn't have no

nihto vn on,

io-- a
--vaa she dressed tnat night when you had sexual con- -

t ,

1 c t C"' i A i .
i r not --express that.

, t. -
,. -- ry, it 1 all right. A 'In a chimmy, a
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' short. shirt.- -

ml??- - '

Q Did oho have any underwear on? A Ho, not that nighty v-th-
e

two of us didn't have any underwear on. .

1111
Q Aid this sexual connection that you had that night, was

'that forced "by you? A Ho, sir..
..

Q- - Did you.use force' oh her? A Ho,, sir.
Q, What conversation ensued before you had this connection? ;

with her? What talk 'did you have? A Talking about all .kinds rj$&$
.

"
'w ii ' -
.

:

Well, we didri-'- t talk much" but she" 'B'aT'wi!arer-;we.pJ.ns---tQ.gf.t- ; .'" '
t'

.
'--

-r.'"

'
M ..."-:- -' .- -' ;;- - frM1 -

married tomorrowT" . and X. said "Positive not. only I am going-t- o .
, ,

'aT

get a license. .'
'

''.: - ' 'V
Q, Did yqu promise to marry her that night when she claims

you ruined her? A Ho.
?

Q When for the first time did --you hear anything agai'nst

you, that there was any objection"-"trrro- ar marrying this. girl?
A The day before Thanksgiving.

Q That was the 26th of Hovember, or Tthe 25th of Hovember?
'

A yes, sir. :' '.'.
Q What happened then? A I met her in Mr. Philip Kaston's

restaurant, I was trying to get a job, peddling was not very

kgood, I was in 'bankruptcy, and I went to look for a job in

the Mutual Milk rjoiopany, in 148th street, and i left word

there in case they vill have a job they should write 'tb'lirs.
Hussbaum, or Mrs. Weiner; in the afternoon I went over tb

Mrs. Weiner, and expected' a postal card from the Mutual company,

and I aetprieda there and Prleda said there is no mail for me.
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I ottid, "Shall I call for yotT tonight or vill you" come home

i ouroe'lf?" She ould, "Yes, I vill come home about six o'clock 9 HB
I went 'to 122nd street and: remained there until about half past

, ' a

five, then I went over in the restaurant, to Mr. Philip Kaston'.s.Jjgi
S

I met her in the kitchen helping Mrs. Kaston making some kind of

cake and a policeman came in and asked me, "Who is that girl?"

I suid, "Well, she is a girl, a woman, we are going to get
: 4:

, M, . JK

marriea January jlst." ne saia, "wnere aoes sne iivey" x saiu

"She lives with --me. I have got a marriage license out with
5 "?f

her."
"Hav--e you got it with you?" "No-- , up in the place." I

or 3
went with hiiu to the room to show him" the marriage license. So

this policeman gave me over to a detective, and the de-

tective

1

says, "Are you Charley Weinberg?" "Xes." "Are you .

the guy that broke a window today in this and this place?" I f -
Ti

said, "I don't break no windows." And he took me in the station

house'", in the back, and Mrs. Gussie Weiner and Miss Liverwitz

r made a complaint that I. sent her out doing white slavery,

: sent her out on. the streets? A And telling her that I
had a gun, which I never had,

- c Q Did you ever have a gun? A Bo, sir.
ir Q Did --you ever point a gun at her? A Ho, sir.

Q Old you ever send her out on the streets?. A" Ho, sir.
Q Did you ever tell her you would bring men up to her? A I r

. ;

never had any conversation like that with any one, --

"VfC
3S

--ft frrea the tiae yon met hr up to the time that you were
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c onst'antly ln.tbuch"Tit'h her two o 1 st erfl.?X-Y- e o .-s- i-xv-y e ry-g-o o'd- '-
. .H.(,',. '"Hum n ii ,''''- -

'
. .

- A i i
SJ?' '

Q Eating? 'A Yesj .sir. ; ,; .'. ' w?s ft
Q And talking with them every day? A : Yes, sir, very good. 1F

gift '

Q Arid they received you there in cood comDanv? A Yea.' air. ' 1 MfafMH""1"111"

' ffv Vvery good. ..: ,. , ;
- ..'.- - t .

. .

'

.

Q So you were 'charged with, seduction? You know what se-

duction Mennn... don' t. vnn?..
A Yao n ...',.- -- - , ,aa

Q. Did. you seduce this girl "under promise of marriage, that
she was a pure girl? .' When did you firt hear about that? A When

:' - 4I was here about;' sixty-eig- ht days. The deputy .sheriff with two

men came up in front of mycell and asked me if I was married. "3
'

.' . jj. . .-

-. .'' --

. --
' -

'.- .- ' M
'--

ffland I said no '.., and.
on

. the next dnv T wnn r'"nrt dnoi.. --d . ..t .,- - - -- . w w , - hh

where I heard I was indicted for seduction under promise of
marriage. " V

.--

,.;

-- .; .
' v

q You were" laying in the Tombs sixty-eig- ht --days before --

jrf(

you were indicted? A Yes', sir I

Q Did you know this girl Minnie Smith who. testified here?
A Hot to talk to. her very go od Ju3t about "Hello".

Q Did you know Frank Ross? A Ho, sir, I never seen him.
Q Were you ever convicted of a crime in your life? A Never.;

Q Will you name some of the firms you have done business
with, that you have bought fruit f rom? A Yes , sir

Q Name them? A Jack Boss, 192 Reade street, H. Heller &

"
rjompany.

Q. Can you state any reason to this jury' why this girl should

charg--e you with seduction? A Well, I think that thia girl,
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SSBiPM ,. etar;ted-going-with-me-0he-heard-of-iny-ba- nkrup

"' ' ' '"'" . .

' 'R j ;

idea of money and she went with me. end when sherfound out'I --W' ii'

.

.
'-

-''"' 'VIA... I

didrt't have no money, she was always telling me ehejwae eorxy,.

she loved Charlie Hirsch. .

'
, -!- r"-v """""""'

r Q That is thean she is going with now? A lib, sir. .

Q Well, she testified to that?
MR.; ELLISOIJ: Objected to; she said- - Katz.

Q Well, Katz, then? A Charlie. Hirsch, also Mr. Katz. iillisH
'wSSir

Q, Were some ladies "brought down to look you over yesterday.'v1

while you were in the pen? A Yes, sir. . .

Q, do you know who the ladies are? A. If I see them again
'

'-

-.' ' ' ' ' ' '' -- fcli&iSB
i- - ; ; ' :

'
.

'

I will. v-- J
-- vsS

Q po you see them in the court? A Well, I can't see from

far, - I am near sighted. ".,"

2R0SS EXAiailATION BY MR. ElitSOH;

q Do you want to add anything to what you have said "before

I cross examine yuu? Have you left anything unsaid?

:.MR.' SANDLER: Objected to. "

THE COURT: You c-a-n ask him whether he wants to say
' anything mor

. ,

;

, V

, Q Do you want t'o --say anything more before I cross examine

you? Is there anything else you want: to tell then jury? A No,

I am willing to answer anything you ask. .. -- Jj .

Q You ceme to the United States in the year 1903, didn't you?

''A Yea,;' sir.'. , , r
' :

-- . .''. -r-

---
----- :.: '

-
"--

TWt car"d'
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Q Elefycriy oiro-ag- o -- you'-c airieher.e-el&yen- -y ear o-- ago ,dldnl.t r ;, far,
Bwi

you? Av'velL,
'&.'

I think it is nine yearo. X didn't keep no track ft
.of it; M d I took out my first paper about three years ago,

i
before. I Went with Frieda.

1 Q You came Mere in 1903? A 'I think
'

.

so.
.

I think i.t was
)I

" '

.

' ' ' , " ..,.. . , t

'1904, I didn't keep no track of it. V
" . ," ', '

Q, Oh, roughly in the year 1903, - don't you remember that?,tv7&9lH
':it

A No, I don't remember it. . ' ..

Q Didn't you say, you had been living in flew York over ten

years when youweije in the police .court? A (No answer)

Q Well t we won' t was-- e any time with that. Have you beem

living in Hew York for the last ten or eleven years since you
TV.

have got here? A Well, I have been living most of the time in :

New York. .
' t

.

Q You have been doing business around New York? A Peddled-th- at

is the only business t was ever in. ' ,':
Q You talk and understand English, don't you? AY.es, sir.

Q You say that the firs tnight 'that you met this girl --

dovn in "6 las eon Point you "slept, with her and had intercourse

with her? A I met her in the. day tlme and slept with her at

night. '
--

"

";."

Q The 'first ' time' you met her you slept with her aid had in
tercourse with hex2--ArTB87''s-

iir'

Q And you never knew her before in yourJ.ife, before that
day? A No.

After you slept with herbavirm' ft her the first time,'
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nr", ': -did you consider that oho

,
vjqg

.

a decent
,

girl
,

,

or not?
,

' '! ImmmP
3fifc2r- -

MR. SANDLER:, Objected to ao calling for a conclusion.'
... SR

y I r- - f..
-- ,1,1

r aS

Objection overruled. Exception.
dtfa

A She was not.

ri Q That she was not? A Yes, sir. -- ,"".
f C-- P niSnxno rnii r.rriiT1 n n . ovnoftt o?r m'nrnan irnn r mil H 'moot- -. ,,V, V tWU.bUW J- -" w V M-U- M. IW W--V V W4JT "ll J- -" V-- VJ.. w, - r

iTMUMW
tixe first tHae ancT sleep wi-t- h her vjslb a very decent worn'mV

would yuu? A Exactly.

Q ut you then continued to call oh her? A No. "

mm
Q, Yftien did you see her next? A About two or three days

after.
Q, And of course the first time you didn't have any trouble

?

in having intercourse with her, did you? A No, sir.
Q In fact she forced you to do it, didn't she? A She did

l .

,no t force --iae.
. -

Q, I mean to say she was the one that proposed, it', wasn't

she?

MB. SANDIER: Objected to. No such testimony.

MR. ELUSOH: I am cross examining him.

THE COURT: Well, do not get excited; I sin ruling.

I say he can askv her who proposed this act "of inte recourse.

Q Did she propose it or did you the first time? A I

couldn't remember that. I don't think- - any young man would remem-

ber - - .tha.t. . -

Q Well, she came into your room, didn't she? A The two of us

went into the room together.
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j5 Well, the first night you1 -- were at lire. FeTnb e rg ' s ? A
, fHr

i

Yea, oir. , - ,

"

Q She and Mrs. Feinberg hifd a room together, didn't they?

A Ho, Mrs. Feinberg wao cleeping in, the last room,
Sff&u'mtir i

l And, didn't she come into the piece that you were from Mrs. '

Feinberg's room? A No, sir.
. r'-isi-

SM

Q Didn't you tell the Jury' that she went into Mrs. Feinberg'sj
9 it's 3sb

room, and after Mrs. Feinberg- - went to sleep she came into your

room? A No, she went to Mrs. Feinberg's room after I had

connections with her.
Q Then Mrs. Feinberg was awake, is that so, while she was in

t

having intercourse with you? A I don't know if she was or not;

she was in the last room.

MR. .ELLISON: Will you sand for Mrs. Feinberg, please. .
1J 1

Q Well, Mrs. Feinberg was there that night? A In the last
room.

Q, Well, how soon was it after you got in the room that you

saw Mrs. Feinberg? A Abtfut two .hours, maybe an hour and a half .

iQ When you saw her three days afterwards did you have inter-cours- e

01rtitlfher that- - time? A No, sir.
Q, When was the next time that you had intercourse vith her?1

A In her sister's house.

Q, And how long was that after the night you had intercourse
' witlTher in Mrs Feinberg' s house? Was it a weekor' two weeks

lHBrniiiiijwwMmi in irti

.gr a acnth?. ... A X dojij t rejfcamber exactly..
C Well, give uji some idea? I don' "U remember exadtly.'' ' '' .
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$ Well, wao it a month or to months? A I couldn't- -

E- -

hi
'

ii . - .. ., --- --,..,. r ..... .,.. . ....-- .,jl . .,., ,- -,. .- -, . ,- - , - ,. , i ..
,

.,
, ., ,

i

'

, . , . . ... ,. .......l.,..-- , ,,,, .,..., ,i. , ,. . .. , . . ., ..,. , -I.-
.:,.-.,

say.
, .

It
k . fy Well, you have' a pretty good wemory, haven1 1 you, .for things:

that happened in this case? A ljot' very good.
-- . - "'." "

-- ., ... .

' ' i "

Q Well, can you tell the jury whether it was a month or.
.

' ' ' "

" ";' '.c two months after you had intercourse witlr her the first time,

that you had the connect! on .with her the next timeTA- - I couldn't
say, being I don't t want to tell no lie. I don' t reraembef'i't

.exactly. : '
-- i:.---

r-'-'
; ...

. . --- ,-.

Q Well,1 was it a week? A Well, you force me to tell you I
don1 1 remember. "... '

,

imm

Q I want to. know whether it was a week or three months?

A I don't. remember.
a

BY THE COURT:

ri --jry 3K5SI

Q How long was it before y out o ok her" from Miss Cosby' s'."'.' ''' '--'-' '

-- 'Y.-. . '

house in a carriage? A About a we.ek.

BY MR. ELUSOH:

Q SO:jrou met her 'at' ClasBon Point on August,. 24th,...which Ilk
the date conceded in this case, and had intercourse with her

that night, and then didn't have intercourse with her afeain

until the latter part of october, is that so? A Yes, sir.
Q And during all that time you were seeing her, weren't

fcjr 'y,ou? A Ho, not all the time.

Q, But you were seeing her twice or three times a week, weren't

you? A Ho . .

Q How often did you see her? A After she started up to work

I seen; her once a wegk or once in two weeks;
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Q And you went out with her? A Once to the College Inn.
Lmk " ' i

! , f .

fists? Q Io that the only time you had her out of Cosby1 a house,
Sfr,H, -p .

once between August 24th and the night an (L -- the week .before
is f

she .left Cosby's, did you only see her once? A I seen -- her onoe

T more on a aturday afternoon, she. c.ame over to my wagon where

I was-peddlin-
g, with her sister, lire-- . Guasi'e"Weiner andMrstr

Cohen, on the corner of 123rd street and Third avenue.

Q So you tell the jury that betveen the first time you met"

her and the time that she left Cosby's,-yo- u saw her one Satur-- -- fj

day afternoon, is that 'so? One Saturday in .the evening, -- is that J
so? a' Yes.

Q Twice? A Well, I think that
Q And once that you saw her at-Mr- s. Weiner's, is that bo?

A (No answer).

Q Is' that so? A Well, maybe I seen her a" couple of times

more. I didn't mark that down to remember it exactly.

Q You probably saw her a good many times more, didn't you?

A J'Qjt very muh. T"

Q And yo-- u went out withvlifer evenings you took her out?

A Io, not often.

Q But you did take her out evenings? A Once to College Inn.
M

Q That night you did not have intercourse with her? A Ho,

sir. -

Q, 7hy were you continuing to go with her, if you thought

th t tue rirst night you met her and you had' intercourse with

her, that Bhe was i-
- - ', a deceit girljwhy cLlDd y.ou keep going with
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S&!BW"li"iiHi'".'. ! " ! her 7 I dtdn 't--c are ,

;

BR? ' '

Q Wao the idea to go with her, to continue having sexual M
iff"

intercourse with her, or to marry her, which? A Well, I was

going to marry her,'

f Q So although you, a stranger who had intercourse with her

the first time you met her, thought she was not a decent
i' 'I BUB

girl, you made up your mind you were going to marry her-- , is that?

so? A Yes, sir, ,

Q, When did you tell her that, that you were going to marry

her, for the firsftime? A I don't remember --that exactly.
is

Q, Is this the Mrs. Feinberg, in whose house you'say you had'

intercourse with this girl (indicating Mrs. Feinberg, who" has

been brought into the court room, and who now leaves the

court room)? .A Yes, sir.
Q You cannot tell the jury about how long before she left

Cosby' s you promised to marry her the first time, can you?

Q, Was it a month?

--.
BY THE --

COURT : ,

9, On your direct examination, didn't you say that about -- a

week before, when you took her to 100th street, youjnet her at
0

Cohen's and that that was the first time marriage was dis-

cussed? A Well, yes, sir.
Q That is what I understood you to say, that the first time

marriage was discussed was at ths Cohen's, about a week before

yolt took her there? Well, X' undarstood tlie District Attorney
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Q No, he asked you when was the first time yeu asked her .to mi
marry you? . .'

BY MR." ELUSOW: . . .'
,

,

"?.- - Q I' said, when did you ask. her to marry you for the first
time? That "girl Frieda? A About a week before;

.

I was with her ,
e i

in 143.
- ' "".BY THE COURT:

..''''"''" 1

Q You hove stated at the time you had connection with her'

at Mrs. Weinerrs was ab out a week before you took her to 143;

now how long was it after you had. connection, with her at' Mrs,
' ' Mi

Weiner's that you asked her to marry you? A About 'three or four

weeks.

Q We llypunsaid that both of those things came" about a iwrg&Bi
Kip

week before? A Well, I don't know exactly the dates, 1 cannot

give a fair statement, being I do. not remember exactly the

dates.
, ..

Q Did you have connection with her at Mrs. Vfeiner's before

you asked her to marry you? A Yes, sir, positive,
Q And it was after that that you asked her to marry you?

A Yes.

BY MR. EXLISOR: ' " .',
Q Hadn't you had intercourse with her twice before you

.asked her to aarry you? A Yes. '

Q The second tims you had intercourse with her, -- did you

still, consider that she waa & decent girl? A -- Sir? .'..'
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Q Thesed ond-tJjiionlioiiy-Oulia-

iJiriterc ouraewLthheratMrs. .!
IIP' Weiner's, when you hud connection with her, did you think ahe

was a decent girl then?. ' ,
'

!

MR. SANDIER: I object to, hat -h- -Hh aught,
fSm'0A.--JL- i Zi

Objection overruled. Exception, "

: ' ,

A Well, 1 didn't have such ideas in my head at the time,.
5H

Q No, that di-d- ri t make much difference to you? A Well, I '

V:tldidnt think of it at all.'.
Q, What did you tell Hiss Cosby when you left there that

night? A Miss Oosby asked me where I was going with her and I

told her. "I am going over to the West side with her,"
Q, Didyou hear Miss Cosby, testify .here yesterday? Tou saw

Miss Cosby? A Yes, sir.
Q That is the young lady? A Yes, "sir. ,

Q Did you hear her testify on the stand that she said to

you, "You are taking Frieda away, Bhe is a good girl, marry i

her and give her a good home?" And did you hear her further
say that you said, "Well, I will marry her and give her a good

home?" Did you or did you not say that to Miss C-osb-
y?

A Yes, sir.
Q So you intended then to marry her and give her a good

t
home, is that right? A Yes, I intended to marry her, sure.

Q You have never married her, have you? A No, I was never

married.

You then went down and.got' the marriage license, didn't

m? A About a week" after' that. .

ss
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Q And you engaged the "rooms in Ve at 100th street? A' Yesi "W r

Q And you -- told Mrs Mahoney that that wisjujwif e, jlidn1 1
"'-- .' '' ' -

you? A.' I 'don't remember exactly The firsYtime Idiiirit
hire the rooms exactly from .Mrs. Mahoney, only from the janitor.

Q You heard Mrs. Mahoney testify on the .stand yesterday,

didn't you? A Well, I didn't know Mrs . Mahoney till I moved

dom o"nHthef irstfToor; ' 'that was a week afterwards. .-

- ( .

Q, You aayyou heard Mrs. Mahoney testify .here yesterday,,
' ij

didn't you? A --Yes-, Mr.

Q DO you remember this question and answer being put to

Mrs. Mahoney yesterday: "What if ..anything did this defendant

say to you at that-.time- ? A He just asked for a furnished
r't

room for himself and his wife. Q And did you see the girl

Frida? A Yes; "'.' "-- fl

"Q And he was with her? A Yes, sir.
"Q He said it was his vife? A Yes, sir." Did you tell

Mrs.- - Mahoney that Prida was your wife when you engaged the

apartment? A I don't remember at all.
o That-yo- u have-forgotten- ?. A-- Do-yo- ti meahthe second time

when I moved down?

0,'Mrs. Mahoney, whether .it is the first or the thirtieth
time, did you tell that to Mrs. Mahoney, that she. was your wife?

t I dont4&ink I did.

0, Did you see Mrs, Cornell down in 100th street? A Yes, sir.
q Did you tell Mrs. Cornell that Freida was your wife? A Wo.

'.'. "Steve fs .d .ier either timt that was your wife? k Ho, sir.
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Q Wao she the j an i tress ofthjj aparfffient? A-T-
es, sir 1 . 1

--L.1tA t
" -- --.. :. - .v '. --

, '." .'.- - P1
'Q- - You we re, .living there as man and, wife with Frieda, weren't' i' fell

ft r

you? A-- Yes, ' ' .'.",'
'

i i

. Q I mean living in the game place and the same bed

sleeping with her? A Yes sir. .
1

"
,

"
.

' f
t

m

"

Q, Do I understand you to say that the "reason that she has
.i ':Mmm

.made this charge against you is because she found out you had: no .&iBm

money f a ies, .
- " sa

" i

Q She expected to marry a very wealthy man when she mar-- i

' ' ' '' '

. '.' "..-.- :

v";---- l

ried you, is that so? A I don't know her thoughts. --

.
''''; ' '

.
i

.
. .

.

"'
,

.-

-
.

MP. SANDIER: Objected tb. -
rtm

. , V ' -.-1, . . .
I'.
.. " " .. ' '' "- -''

--.1 ,

THE COURT In view of his explanation. I will allow j fg

him t.o interrogate him. ' -
1 f

Q TH ri ,,v hn t.fill. Vifi-- r vrHn-- h.., vntr Vptpi. fni he wh'pri vmi ...wp.rfi rrolnc , --"?--- - v ,7- -" - o --- -- , 0 o ,j -

with her?A She knew.it.
- Q During October and November, you say you were not floing

very much for a living, were you? A No.

Q, And did you' tell her that things "wer-cromi- ng pretty hard

and she had to get busy and do some kind of. work? A No, sir.
BY THE COURT : ,; '

.
; '

, ,

Q Did you gt fifty dollars from Mrs . Wiener? A No, sir.
Q Did you get any money from Mrs. Weiner, or Mrs. Nussbaum?'

A 80, sir, . . . ".

Q They didn't lend you any money? A No, sir, not me.

BY SIR. BLUSON:

v, Don't you know that, Fritda paid Mrs. Mahonay th rnt
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TTotllB"las'trthre o-- we eka ?- -A With-Eionoy-whi- chI have-giv- en

Nil
Q Money which' you -- gaye while you were not working, is that m

so? A-- Well, I was working a couple of days a week, I was" m
never a week out of work. . " ' HBHIEaESEi

r Q How muoh money were you making those couple of days you
i

were working? A About twelve dollars or thirteen dollars.
Q Do you mean 3ix dollars a day? A Yes, sir sometimes

morq, sometimes less. ,!
V

(I HowJLong had you been making that amount of money? A

Vell, I have los-- t a lot of money during the holidays I lost
over " 500 also in the fruit business.

4 t

J

Q, During what holidays? A During the Jewish holidays.
M

Q And when were they during the year 1912 or 1913? A

1913,. .

4
Q, Iflhat month were the Jewish holidays? A I don't remember

the month, but I know I lost that and I had to go in bankruptcy.

Q How long was it before Frieda left Cosby' s one month,

two months or three montha? A About two weeks, I think.

Q, Two weeks before, and in spite of the fact -- that you had

had this big loss, and that you were pretty hard up and r

that you did not have any money, that was the time that you
W

selected .to take Frieda out of that house, or to go away with
4

her from Cosby' s, is that so?

MR. SA1TDLER: Objected to. That is not so; the

witness testified she asked him to take her away.

--M1.00TOT: Wail, put it, is that the time'she didgo
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ra'way? .
, ' V

Q Is that .the time- - she went avay. fromlfoTDyrs"withrou. to

get .married, right after you had this lost? ' . .7 r -- -

Objection overruled, exception. , .

Q About, .two weeks after. ,
T

'.
- ... I

Q, Did Mrs Nussbaum read this paper that you, took up to her
sSSgm ;

house when you went up there?. A. X 'don't know whether, she 'read 'r

'."iSrTm

it. She looked at it and asked me why if ain't stamped (People' sia
Exhibit 1). iral

A Ttnvi I 4- - tr n lri-- i rtiir Vio' 4-- Vi o v ur'na a o onm Aivi V10 rOTray V a - --n4

you showed her -- - ah official stamp? A Did I know?
? A

Q Yes. On the paper that you got, don't you know-tha- t there 'vsfj

"1
was a stamp.? A. Ho, I didn't-loo- k at. it. .

'

Q, I show you People's Exhibit 1. and ask you whether' there ;

was not the same kind of a stamp on that paper that there is on

that? A I have not looked at the paper very good.

Q, Viho did read it? A Idon't know. I' know Mrs. Nussbaum;

'looked : at it good and asked me why.it ain't stamped.

Q, Was there anything- - at all said by you before you went to
,

the Olty.olerk's office anything at all said about age? A

Vho? , Between me and who?
.

..
..-.- .

.
-

.
.-.-

-..-.'

$ Between you and Frieda, about her age? A No.

Q nothing at all? A No. .

- ,.

Q Then do yeu know why did she say she was twenty-on- e' inr

stead of eighteen, if nothing was said about that? A I'don.'t

know.
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IIP: .
'

1

donit you, she cannot get married vithout her parent's consent??'
-

A I don't know. . ' K

Q Or guardian's consent? A I' don't know.
WScS5?5

Q You didn't' know that? A No.- -

Q Aid you knew, didn't you, that if a gi-r-l is under eighteen! rmrf
and you were living with her and not married you would he

guilty of rape, didn't you know that?
Objected to. Objection overruled, Exception.

A I didn't know that.
Q Didn't you know that if this girl was under eighteen

i

years of age and you went with her, and whether you got this

certificate or not, and didn't actually marry her, you would be

guilty of rape? A I didn't know.

Q You cannot give this jury any reason, can you, why this
girl should say she is twenty --one instead of eighteen? A I

cannot give a reason for what she done.

Q And that thing was never discussed with you, the question

of age? A I?o.

Q Never talked ab-ou- t at all? A No, no. El
Q Did youhsar Frieda testify yesterday that on the night

that you got this certificate that you went home and you said
to her, "How, Frieda, I want to ask you a favor. I said,' B F 11

What is it', and he says, 'You know business is very bad, and

I want you to help ma out in business.'" Did you tell her

buin83o was very bad? A He.
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her about it. ' f ': ,
3fl

Q No, but you .say that your business was very bad at that
r

time, wasn't it? A (No answer), .

n Q, It-w- a3 "bad, wasn't it? A Of bourse it was not' as good
i

as it vas in the summer. .
'

.
" k
VA, 'mB

Q You told the JuryJthat you lost your $500, and then yuj
, ." - ,'

were only working a couple of days a week? A Yes. H --t - -- . vfcJr05BaiSlMi

.
Q Did you tell her- - it was bad? A No.

Q Did she say to you, "Well, I can get a position in a family -- M

fo-rfiv- e dollars or six dollars a week, and I will make my owm

living."? Did she say that? A No. ' '

v0M ,

Q About your friend living in the rest'aurant, what is his

name? A Philip Kaston.

Q Just spell that? A I don't know how he spells it -- .'1

Q, How long have you known Minnie Smith? A Two years.

Q What? A About teo years; maybe "more --- I don't remember

exactly how long.

Q, And she is a cousin of Cohen's the Btable man? A I think

she is a relative- - of Mrs. Cohen.

Q, Vhere did you use to see her? A All over the Btreet, in

front of the step.

Q And did you use to see her agood deal? A Not very often,
Q, Well, give the jury some idea of-how-of- ten you saw her?

I don't remember exactly how often-- I saw her, v

t Would you see her oncea w? -- A- ellT:yes,
JEZ. v
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at Coney Island.
Q You mean outside of eight weeks you were in Coney Island,,

. . i '.. ',."
have you seen her pretty nearly" once a week for the last two

'years? A No. ' '- -

Q, How often? 'A I have- - seen her one evening, jvhich Frieda"

was talkingto her from afar, but I : didn't go near.
"1!

' .:.:$
Q Vflien was that? A. Some, week, some night, I don t remember

' .'.'"'exactly, when, but i. seen her from far: I didn't, go hear.
.

'

Q And she knew you were going with Frieda, didn't she? A I

don't know if she did or not. ..

Q Didn't you ever tell that to her? A No.

Q, Well, she knew Frieda, didnVt she? A Well, I don't know.

'Q, You didn't know that she knew Frieda? A No.

Q, vhen was the first --time that -y-mu-fqund out that she knew

Frieda? A I think-- i Frieda was telling me that she knew her.
'. ..."'' '"'. ' ' '.'.'"'''

dl Frieda told you she. knew her? A yes.

": Q Vhen-- , y 6 u saw her. did you ever -- speak-to '"Tier" WolrttFrie da? Mm
A Noj I have not seen .her.

.

,

'
-- .

'g
q, .Vhen was the first time you found out Frieda slept in a

hotel with, a fellow and Minnie Sith and another, fellow were

. along? AWell,-I-idon- 't know they were sleeping in-- a hotel,
but Frieda was telling me that Minnie was hot as good as she.

looked. .'-- .'':

Vr- -
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Mar ' QWhendi di.youLfindo,utth esfJ.EB.tt ime that she ma up in. ft

. Mx
J "Si&

hotel in 116th-.stree- t? A Yesterday, I heard.it here. i k :nLr

TtQ? Yesterday was the'first time? A When I heard it here?

Q Your lawyer never told you. that he found out anything about i
? JWHpKRBEIsit at all? A Ho.

Q And yesterday was the first time that you knew it?
, - - il1 r i

A Yes. ' '. -

Q Aid that "is --"as --4; rue as everything else you have said in '? ' flil
this case? A Yes;'' - . '31'

RE-DIRE- OT EXAMINATION BY MR. SANDLER:

Q, Vhen did you see the lawyer for the first time to talk about JSH
j&bb

your defense? Wien did you see him for the first time? A -- The,;
-

"day "before the trial.
t I

Q .That ma" the day before yesterday? . A Yes, sir. '."

Q When I walked down in the pen" here? A Yes, sir
( Did you ever see me before tha't day? A No, sir.

Q Who was your lawyer before' I stepped into the'case?
A K. Henry Rosenberg, which he took money from me and ain't
done anything f o r me. - - - - ?

RE-CRO- SS EXAMINATION BY MR. ELLISON:
Slw

Q, Have you seen Mr. Cohen over in the Tombs? A Once.

V When? A A 'few weeks ago, four or five weeks ago, maybe

jiore

i Did he tell you anything about Minnie smith? A No nothing

.t all.
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ft" --Have you seen Minnie Smith over In the Tombs? AHo

ft Have you oeen Frank Robs? A jjOi u.:-'-.

Q Do you know Frank Ross? A No.

Q When was the first time you eve"r saw Frank Ross? A Here
''--' iMBi.'-- m

r.WBBnnff:but I could not say - .

7
ft Who had charge of your case outside? Mr. Sandler says he. .

came in yesterday -- - who was it that was looking after' your

witnesses? A I 'don't know. I wa in here. I' don't know who -- ;Ji

had charge outside --i. if " ia ' '!
m

Q You don't know who had anything to do with 'it. is that so? , .j
. A '3" j tiT 1

a i e s

MAX GURIEN, .called as a witness in behalf of def en dant fa
being first duly sworn, testifies as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY 'MR. SANDLER :.'
4

ft What line of business are -- you in? A Trucking business.

Are you married? A Yes, sir. ,

ft Where do you reside with your family? A "314 East 122n:d

street.
ft Do you know the defendant at the Bar Charles Weintraube?

Yes , dL r.
ft How long have you known him? A For the last six years.w

ft Do you know others that know him? A Yes, a lot' of

people know him on the block.,r,

ft And you know those people? A I know those people too.

Has the defendant ever had any buainess with you? A Yes.

j A'tat business fcao ne hud with you? "A I'used to help him
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Ibylehding h'im.money.,.. r'VW ( ;v.
Mil5ff"SS.-- L V

Q . How iauoh money, did you loan to the defendant at any one i

,' M
time? A The highest I loaned him was $310. 4 m

1

Q , Did he return it $o you? A Qertainiy.
"j IBHIplKPiifIP

Q Did you have money transactions with him, with chedks?-- A

Yes, I gave' him all in checks. '
..''.. '

... "Y.flfl8&.
Q 'What is the total amount of money transactions you had

bllMUl

with this defendant in the last year? " rVC

MR.. ELLISON: Objected to as immaterial.

MR.vSAUDIER:' .Well, you.pr actio ally charge
' this mam

V '

..-.- " .

with trying to take advantage of this girl.,
THE' COURT: How is the amount of money transactions

had with thiJgTman material? 4

MR.. SANDLER: To show this man to tea "business man,.

Q Well, what is t,e defendant' s reputation in the community
-

. . - ;.-...'-
-'

or amongst the people that know you? A I know him as a good

honest fellow. :

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. ELLISON:

Q, Do you know Mr. aohen? A Yes j sir. J

Q Where is his stable with reference to 314 East 122nd
. " "'

.-

-

- '
.

"T

street? A 313 East 122nd street .V
Q Right across the street from "you? A Yes , sir.
Q, Are, you an Italian? A : No, I- - am a Jew.

BY THE COURT: . .
.

" ''

Y

3 Does not Mr. Cohen live in . t&e. same house with you?

A . With Jin, yea, sir. . .
..
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. , - Ci. a22nd "stre et? A Yeaj air; same house, first fTdor.
mst-- -

? ' ""' ' '

. BY MR. ELLISOli: "

,

Q, do you'know a girl named Minnie Smith? A Yes,, I know
' ' W ; '; ,-

- ,.,., ' '

r
'

' ' '..'.'her, but not well acquainted with her,

Q Hoes she live there too? A' If she lives there? No,.'

Q, Have you seen her living, around .there in the last .six

months? A I seen her. come around; that a a cousin there.
O Have vou seen her with' Mr. Cohen? A I have seen her in Go-- 23

, ' '.''''."' ''; '. -

hen's house once or twice. ,
- ,

Q In the last six months? A I' couldn't say that, hut I- - saw "mpspH -

her last 'summer or the summer before.

Q Do you know a man by the none of Prank Ross? A No, sir.
FV1

Q
f

Do yt)u; know a woman named Rosie? A o, sir.
s

.
,

"'

..'.. , ',.' '" " ."

RE-DIRE- CT EXAMINATION BY MR. SAlpIER:

Q Do you know Mrs. Weiner, the sister of Frlda? A I know her

from far away.

Q .Did you ever see her in Cohen's house? A I. see her of teua,

" "yes.

Q You know Frieda Smilovitz, don't you? A No, I dohtt

know her; I see her once by the stable but never, speak to
' '

ker. ".'

Q, pi d you hire the lawyer to defend the man in" this case?

, A Did I pay a lawyer?

Did you hire a man to defend Weintraub? jA No, I did not

4 Do you know who did? A Harry Cohen..
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' .r .CSHKOT'- - BLi

defendant, being first duly sworn, .testifies as follows:
v j iMHjlf! I

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SAHDIER: ' '
i'-i:ai-

Bl
. Lm- -

..' ;?1aMB bmm

Q Where do you live? A 405 East 101st "street
':.;-- . fS$3ME BBMBBMBJB3BMH

" n j SVSMSJBHPSRP:tp?,Mapit6d?. -- .A Yes, sir.
- ; :, , I'mW

Q Wife and children? A, Yes, sir."
Q Do you know the defendant at the Bar? A Yes, sir.n

'S'-SsB-
B "'IIIsKhIbBBBBBBBJ '

ij How long do you know him? A Well, about "four years. ' -- Mi .

... J
Q What line of "business are y ou in? A' I have a livery

"stable. ;.-- ' .
.

." '.. ; .

Q Under what circumstances did you become acquainted with
'SBM .

the defendant? A Well; once in a while he used to hire a horse
., :,--

.

. ''.'.-- "
.

'
.

off me or so, working.

Q Do-yo- u know other people, that know him? A Yes. several

people I know that knows him. 7. --"ffM,

Q Businesspe.op.le? A Yes. "

SBbMMSSJBJBJ
Q Well, now, have you ever discussed this defendant.1 s charact-

er
BB' -- Hk Sh I

with those people? A Yes.
' ".''.Q What is his reputation in the- - community good or bad?

.A Well,' . . ''.,'.'- -

'

BBBBBS- -

bbbbbbV
"-

-

iSBW.'H'

WbbbbbH
bbbbbbm1

MR. ELLISON: Good or bad?

SSf MR. SA1TDLER; I object to the interruption;
MR ELLISOU; I. ask for ananswer .. gbod-jo- r bad to that.

A Good.

CROSS EXAEIHATIOIl BY MR. ELLIS0I?: , ;

."iT; " '"" '"-- '''. : '
:. - ..'''.' .'..- -

vtBeeu toot Mr. Oohw in the livery business? A Yes
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Q How long have you known him? A , Twelve years.
Q, A very good friend 'of his, aren't you? A A very good

p "friend of him.
'

MR. SANDLER: Defendant 'rests. .
M

IWWHBhH?!!?
(The.,.Court now declares a recess till .2 .--

p. m. , , firs,
duly admonishing the jury in accordance, with law.)

After Recess. Trial Resumed.9

J&HSji$

FRIEDA' 'SMI 10 VI T'Z, the complainant herein recalled

"by the People in rebuttan, testifies as follows; ""if.

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. ELLISON:

Q, Frieda, do you know a man by the name of Joe? A No, sir.
Q. Did you ever know such a mm? A No, sir."

Q Did you ever go to a hotel at 116th street and Eighth

avenUe with a man by the name of Joe and stay there with him
H

until two or three o1 clock in the morning? A No, sir.
Q Did you ever go to such a hotel in company with a woman

' by the name of Minnie gmith, ahd a man by the none of Frank Ross?

A I went vd th that company, but I don't know anybody by the
name of Joe. ' .-- -A .

Q Did you ever go to" alT5'tel with any uch company? A No,

air, I have been never in a hotel.

, CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. SANDLER": ,
V

'

Q Do you know Minnie Smith? A Yes, sir.
Q .Row long do you know Minnie Smith? A Three years.
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' 'ft Do you tfffe her' very bfteft? A ,Ko
,-
- airT

,

HP-- . - Q How often do you oee her?. A About
'-- - She uaeato'lve

flfaf I '

next door to .my olstcr - onoo In a while, f , "
" ' Ej1ll

Q You went to Gl&aaojn. Point with her? A 'Once.

f9 Q Aid was not Prank Roes, her fellow there with you? A

Yes, sir. ' " '
,

Q Did you ever hare ohop suey with them? A No, sir. i 'itJSsSHBSEJ

Q You eat chop suey, dontt you? A Ho, sir, I 'don't know

what that is.
Q Did you ever eat chop suey with Mr.'Weintrauh? A No, sir.
Q When you were keeping company with him? A No, sir.
Q Did yoa ever hear of a chop suey place? A I never eat

chop suey. -- ,

--lQ But yo u know what a chop suey place is? A Yes.

q Who run the chop suey places? A I used to see it written
down.

Q Vhat kind of people run chop suey restaurants? A I couldn't
tell you.

Q, Are they negroes? A II;donttIknow.
q Are they ohinamen? A I don't know.

Q Did you ever see a chop suey sign? A Yes, sir.
W

-- Q, Did you ever look at it? A Yes, sir.
Q Where? A I was oncewith him in a chop suey house.
q That is what I 'asked you a few minutes ago. A I never

iad chop suey.
t

k t
,Q But you, went in a chop suy iaoa. didn't you? a With

htm
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fcf iiME?? fmm
Q -- Chop suey is s one thing very bad, ain it? A fcton't "SHE WM4

'- - -

know. -.'"'.. "--:---

-,

.' .'" y
Mr.

Q. Don't you know Joe? A Ho, sir.. "

' ? it"'i'"'-- '
TS4To w now oitt you ever go to jjoew.p. tneatre witn liinnie smitn m'' VtfB"' ': " . ' - if

and -- Frank Rosa? A Ho. sir, 1 r,i - pjj
-

'''' f( :
Q, Did you ever go to any the coir e with them? A No, sir;

..
-- x

pictures.--moving
1 rEM

Q How ofteh did you go to moving pictures with them? A Once PmHjt
:--

?..-.
i.

--jbm

Q Do you know what Minnie smith was doing for a living?
'A No, sir. '-t- e-:ro-

" " ;'
'

Q, Did you ever ask her? A Ho, sir.
Q Did she ever tell you? A Ho,, sir. -- ...

' Q do you know whether she was a prostitute? A I coulj dh't

tell you. , '

Q, Well, is she a prostitute? A I don't know,
. ..-

--

.

Q Is she a good girl? A I don't know.

Well,' you were a good girl, weren't you? A 'Yes, sir.
-

fcv.jit- -''Q, -- And .you didn't care whom you went Yith? A I didn't
-

.
1- - . . TT . "

.- -.'

kiiow JJC- - she was good' or not. -

Q Xou didn't care which it vjds? A Oh, I did care, hut I
never seen anything wrong about her.

Q 'Wall, -- she had been keeping company with Prank Ross for

about over two years, hasn't she? A 1 don't know.

Q. Was ohtekeopinjg crompany with Prank Ross then when ;ycu knew

her? A 1 don't knor.
! Didn',t..y j?ii say a few minutes ago that you want to moving
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ing-- oomparijr with him. . , . .

"

Q Yell,, he was herfellow, wasn't he? A I don't know.

CI Well, was he her fellow? A I don't know.

Q 'Didnrtyou say yesterday that Frank Ross was her .fellow?
' " '.'. ....."' '

.

A ", She told me he was herjhusband, but later around- -

. Q When did she tell you that? A' Wellj rjustup to her, up.,

onre In' qentembe'r. ti5e 11th.
.

on Raturdav afternoon. I was uu
, - u- - ' i w : -- y. . -- r-

, .
l?!EiBB

to see her arid she called me up I should come down to the house'
'..-,.- .

in 118th street, she is living there", she is living there with

a woman. . .

0 What was. the name of the woman? A I couldn't tell, you.
.

.
...

.-

-

t. v0 Wftfl H. Pnn9 A T noii"MVit. f.pll von.' 'v

, I

Q, Did Rosie run a disorderly house there? A I couldn't tell
you. I came up to the house and I was looking around for the

woman, she was lioring with, and I went in the. bedroom and she

introduced-m- e to her husband, Ross, -- Frank.
'. .

.

Q Who did? A Minnie smith. And another fellow she intro-

duced me. to too and she tpld me I should keep company "with

that fellow. -- So I begged, her not to force me if I don't want im' '
..

' "

-
' .- w '"'.. 9

to, and that was the first and last time I have been up inw
her--hous- e. ""

, .

Q Whatf ellbw did Minnie Smith ask you to keep company

with? A I don't remember him.

Q' Can you describe him to the jury? How big was he, how

tall? A I don't remember him any more; I didn't pay no. attention
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. .
'

'-- !'. ' .''- .a " - '.
t ' - V

Q' You did --not like hi a --face? A I did.jiot, because I did . Wpip
.' .

'"'' ' '.'.''..
"not like him because I amr a Jewish girl, and he has been an

Italian, and I didn't want to pay no attention to no Italian
'

fellows..
'-

-

'

-- . ;'
' " '.--

.

-- Mi
Q You only kept company with Jewish fellows, is that

right? A Yes, sir,! never wenVout with no. Italian fellows.
CJ whfin riin MlnnlP-R- m th 'nnlf von t.o nmiifi im t.Q Honifi'R nlRfe'!'.f

"over on 118th street?A September 11th, on Saturday after
'

.
.

. '.-.- .

noon, ' .,
.

' ;.'.
' ' ' '' '.-- ' ''..' '

Q, Where d,id she meet you? A She gave me' her address, she was
fcSHI

living in 118th street, I couldn't tell you the number,-bu- t
wfarQaBp

"'
.

-- : i
r

"$3apartment 21, on the fourth floor. ; '',".'
:-

-

Q Did she ever call you up on the telephone? A Yes, s.r. $

Q And ask you to. come up to her apartment? A Yes, sir.
Q Did y.ou ever do anything up in that apartment? A' No, sir.
Q How. long did you stay there? A Two hours

t Q Jhat were you doing there for two hours? A Talking;

, she was telling me that she has a baby .-Th-

en I asked her where

the baby ,is, if she had it. So she said -- -- she didn't answer HI
me where the baby was, only she was telling me that. He treats her

.

r" -- ,
" '...' '

mean, that1 slie has to go and-picku- p mem, and that Rosie was

smoking cigarettes there. I. didn't like the idea and I took
it- -

my hat and coat and I went out.

"'.Q Di d y ou .-.s- moke any Qigare.t;bes. there? '
A Ho, fir, I never

.v.. .... '

.,t-":-
.

I,. do" things like that .
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Q Did' you ever nave a tlfikrttipR o s Iq-nip'-iiTt-

hat-r o on
JfM'b

--
1

there? A --Ho., siri ... : ';
.

'

. .'
" '''.''Q, Did Rosie come in there? ... A -- No. sir, jt

Q How many men were there when you were there? A Two -- -
i ''J.'Kiiii-fi.ii- l "

Frank Ross and another, --F- rank Ross, or whatever his--nam- e is,
.

'
.

' ' '..,. ." .'.,
and another fellow, --

'

9

Q, You know hiB name is Frank Ross, don't you?

MR.- - ELLISON; I object to. the continual .repetition;
she said so. We are starting all over again in the case

.1
3

A

Q Did you ever smoke cigarettes? A No, sir,
Q Did you ever smoke cigarettes in Mr. Weintrauhe s room?

A Ho , sir, ,

: - ;,$?- -

s&9l
Q Sure of that? A Sure. .

. 1r... . v.,.:...T.: -::-
..--, -- J.. ;-

-r

Q Did you ever', see hinr smoke cigarettes? A Yes, siri
Q Did you ever smoke his cigarettes? A No, sir, ,

' -- - Did he ever off er you a cigarette? A Ho, sir',

THE COURT: Well, it is immaterial whether she did' --

' or. not. I do not know that a wcmari who smokes cigarettes

Is more likely, to be seduced than anybody. else.
MR. 'HANDLER: I do not say that it is a crime, i

ft Did you ever go -- to your apartment again? A What apart-men- t?

'

' rm
4 Where Minnie Smith lived? . A lib, sir.

.
' Did you ever get any money from Minnie smith? A No, sir.

- . .

' '
-- '.' .-- .

Q, Did you ask Minnie Smith how she ioake's allving? A She told.
-

.- A

a her nuwuind supports her. '
.

'



204r)
& Shetold-yoii-BheKoeBQutwlthJn-

eJr9 A No. sir. ,
-

'-

-- .,. w

Q Did oho tell you-he-r husband sends her out? A She told me

she war married and her husband supports her, and I stood there
two hours and I went away and I did not like the way the other BS

0
9o women went she took out of her pocket cigars and she was

smoking.'

Q, Tou saw a woman take something out of her stockings?
A nl ravn l r ifiiitiflliB

aHB
Q Cigars? A Cigarettes and cigars and she was giving &he

other fellows too.

Q You never went there more than once? A No, sir,
CJf Did anybody try to ruin you there? A Ho, sir. 1iflt

(4 Did anybody ask you to stay there? A Yes, sir.
Q, Who? A Frank Rosb. .

4 I

Q Was Weintraub there? A Ho, sir.
Q, Did you ever tell that to "anybody? A Ho, --sir.
0, Did you tell it to your sister? A" Yes, sir
q Vhen did you tell, it to your sisteir? A Well, I didn't

If &

tell her exactly everything. I just told her a cou&Lq of

words, that I have --beeli up, and 8he begged me that I 'should

not keep company 'witbTKa?rTtaa-iah- f ellow. ThaT'i s""all" 2E tl'd
my sister.

Q You told your sister that Minnie ,Smith asked you to keep
"company with the Italian fellow? A Yes.

Q Did your sister say "Don't go any more with Minnie smiTth"?

A Sue wcud I daan't.go 4. th Minnie Smith; because she heard
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very bad -- about 'liar', and 'as soon as I .heard that Minnie SmifclT S
i

:
.

Ml
has Been leading a fast life I dropped going, with her andI

haven t seen her after.
Q, "iihd you are only eighteen years og age? A Yes, sir.

r Q What is- - a fast life? A Well, I heard ,that is what the
(

1

gentleman was leading me, that is what they call' a faBt life. i
If you go and pick up men,, that is what she said. Made up his --

J

mind to-- lead only a fast life, that is what he jwanted me for,.. .

' '"Si
he told me. '

.

Q So you have been asked to lead a fast life by another

man outside of this defendant, is that riglrE?--A' No, air. He ' ZM,

jnM3B

(the defendant,) told me what it meant, he explained ,'l't to me,

He was my husband. , .
' ' - .

r

Q Did this other man, Wank Ross, while you were up in

Rosie's apartment ask you to marry him? A To marry who?

Q To marry Prank Ros?
MR. EL1IS0W: She didn't say that.

Q, Did the man in RoBie's apartment ask you to lead a fast

life? A No, .sir, Frank Ross told me that I should keep company
'i

with that Italian man, with the other man that was sitting ini

the bedroom, and that he will marry me and he will work for me

And before you went up, there you didn't know vhere you were

going to, did you? A lib, sir, I thought I ras going to a woman

where Minnie was living'.

', Were you looking for a job?A I was working.

. Wfcare? A, By Mrs. OoBby.
f--
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iiST" ' " : Q Vhat-time-in-tho-day-did-y-ou-eo-up-to-thio-plac- o?-JL-TJUlt3r

noon,

Q How didJyou feet off from Mrs. Cosby1 s? A Weli, it was my

day off, .l v!

Q So on your "day off you went up there? A Yes,. sir,
Q Where- - did you go on ryur- - day off? A My other day off I ii

met this gentleman ftfillHlHBraHH
.,i;-jlHB-

B

-M- R-,-ELLISON: Call him the defendant, or else counselit ?. "- - tfyjs&M
' . ;r , aw

will mix -- you up,'
Q, I want to direct your memory to the Christmas of 1912, fa

MR.' ELLISON: I object to'this.
THE COURT: This girl was called in rebuttal,
MR. S MIDLER : All right, your Honor.

BY MR. ELLISON: "" '

Q, Have you got those underclothes here? A Yes, sir,
Q Will you bring than in? A Yes, sir,

!- --

MR. ELLISON: Mr. gandler wants to .see them,

MR. SANDLER: I object' to that and I do not care to

see them, and I object to the statement "in front of th
jury.

A!R. ELLISON: ,G Quits el requested three times that they

be brought here yesterday; now he can have them for what-

ever they are worth.

LEU A WEINBERG, called as a witness by the People in
rebuttal, being first duly sworn, testifies as follows:
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,. (The witneos states that ahe reoldoo at 13110 East 225th street.

z '
' '"i , '. r

MR-r-KLLPS- ON : There are'oertain witnesses in the court
HBLf

rrom-p-tha- t 1 would like to have excluded, and I ask all
the witnesses in this case to step out of the court' room

''?0ljEZTZnr (Witnesses excluded.)

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. ELLISON:

Q, Are you a married lady? A Yes, sir.
Q, Where do you live? A Before I lived 122nd street.
Q, What number .on 122nd street? A '314.
Q Have you any children? A No,r

Q Were you subpoenaed here" as a witness by Mr. Sandler, as a ,4W
";

witness for the defense? A I don't, .can't talk so good English.
!mBmB

t Question repeated through interpreter.) ". M

4

mt SANDLER: I object on the ground that it is in-

competent.) .

THE --COURT: Objection overruled.

MRr SANDLER: The District Attorney is calling this
lady as a witness.

-- THE COURT: Either side has'a right to ask if the

witness has not been subpoenaed by the other.
A Mrs. Cohen brought me the summons the night before yesterday.

Q You mean the wife of Harry Cohen? A "Yes.

, Q Do you know this defendant Weintraub? A Yes, through

Mrs Cohen I kn6w him. "
-- v

" - And you know Erieda Smilovlttf? A Yes, sir.
Q Do you r.emajnbor one night Erieda Smllovits and this de- -
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flendantcoming-to-yoiahQmo?---A-- HI aoked-hor-to-oome-to-m- eyto 'jMg
,.niy houoe. -

'

.., ,'': .
. mt

Q And. did the defendant come with her? A Mrs. Cohen came' A E33

and the defendant came,
.,

,
--

j
......

Q And did Frieda come? A-Yes-
.. .'...'. -

. :'

Q Who stayed there that night all night? A 'Frieda.
Q, Did this defendant stay there, did he, yes or no?. A Yes

--ysfzGrrvirvawb&lUm
" ' tKZ'SpmmislHM

"sir, '.' v .--

'".'" .,'.. ..''

Q Wh"erie"Bl'Frieda stay that night, with whom did she sleep '""" sill'".," J ..'''"
A With me, in bed.- - '. ,, ySiB '

-

Q And where dl,d this defendant stay? A In the dining room. 21illM

CROSS, EXAHINATI OK BY MR. SANDIER; V

Q What time did you go to "bed?. A Two o'clock.
Q Was there anybody in bed with you when you fell-asleep- ?

A I didn't fall asleepr until Ffieda came to sleep with me.

Q. How long after you got into your bed did Frieda come up to

your bed. How many hours? A I don't remember how many hours.

Q Did you ever tell Frieda Smilovlts how to take care of

herself so she should not become pregnant after she had inter- -

course with a man? A No, no. . '

''' '

''-'.'-

.
'''' '

--

:

Q Well, Frieda; Smilpvitz said so yesterd.ay.
,.

.-

-. " ,
"' '.''-.-- . --f .

THE COURT : She did hot say anything about being

pregnant. . ,

r No, but how to take care of herself after she stayed with

a man? A No.
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"
Q How do ycu support

.
yourself? A I am working. v

'.' F.

Q You understand English, don't you? A Not oo much.

Q Well, how long is your husband dead? A My husband i&- -?

not dead, he is living. , . .

Q Where is he? A He is, away from the city. I 'am married
. ,

'
.

' ' '

' ' '', t "
V '

about twenty years. .
J

." 9

Q, Don't you know where he is? A Now I dont know it.,? 'The
SmflHHK -

--

.

. '..-.- .

first of May he was here in New York.'

Q When did you see your husband last? A The 1st of May.
. '' :' '

:

. .".-.- '

Q, How do you support yourself? A He leaves me' a couple of jSj,

dollars and I work myseif .

.
Q Do you know Sam Goldberg? A ;Ye3, he wasin my house ; t fji ....

living. .

Q Who is Sam Goldberg? A He-wa- s a boarder in my house. j-- "

Q, Did you ever,have s.exual in terc o urse wi th S amuel G o 1 db e rg

in your house? A No.

Q, Did you Bee Sara Goldberg outside? A Where?

Q Here, in this court? A Now, 'no.".

M Did you see him out in the hall? A Not now.

Q Did you seehim in --the forenoon? A Yesterday. I saw

him, --riot to-da- y. . ;".'.

Q Give me the name of the other boarder that you had? A It
was Solly. They were together, Sam with Solly together.

4 What is Solly's last name? A 1 donVt know. ,

Q Wishnick? A I don't know. It is a friend to Sam and to

Charley. .......:
' ''' V--

V -- .' - '".' ',- - ;..;
. A '
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Q Were-- y ou-f-- o ro ed-to-movo-from-.that-

-houso-.l3ec auG0yjcLUrana4S

di,sorderlyhouse? A t moved because it waa too far for me to

go to .work. lam working in 103rd Btreet and tfirst avenue.

Q- - Do you know Max Gurien? A I knowJiimjEUr''a tenant in ,

ihSteggi
i9 j '

wnjnanwify-yjinigr- ii i

that house- - that I live.
Q, That is the man that was in court" this morning.. Did you' J,

see him - a big, tall man? A No. ,.

Q Well, anyway, Max Gurien .was a tenant in the same house $5
. iv iS 5

t' ' --if".you lived? A A short man 7'

Q' Wasn't he a tenant in the house where 'you lived? A Gurierii- - t

yes. I don't know whether his first name ,is Max, but Gurien
" ps

was a tenant in the same house.

Q Did not this man make a complaint against you, that you ran

a disorderly house? A Never.

Q And didn't you move after that? A Never.'

Q You say you never ran a disorderly house? A I never' have

something with somebody-ye- t -- -
,

I never had any arguments with
v

any of the tenants. .

Q Do you have 'many visitors' to your house of the male sex?'

. MR. ELLISON: I do not know how that is material.
THE COURT: Objection overruled..

A No man came to my house.

Q, Give me the name and address of the firm you work

for? A 103rd street, I don't know the number -- - Ratner a

white goods factory. .

Iheh Ud you ork lauvt? A I worked 'yesterday half a day,
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" " 0 Will yoii oay that you never: had sexual intercourse wiitn ,

WsMmt
' ' .

Sam Goldberg in your house? A Ho. . .

'

(
I

MR. ELLISON: Objected to as immaterial and alueady
. '..' ' ;

. '.' .
'

. ,.
.

"
'. .'.... :'

. ,

asked and answered. "

THE COURT: It has already been asked" and answered;
. ..

. '.'.'
objection sustained.

RE-DIRE- CT. EXAMINATION BY MR.ELLI SOU:.

'
Q, Did Mr. Cohen have a talk with you in the corridor? .

MR." SANDLER: Objected to as not proper re-dir- ect

examination.

THE COURT: Answer yes or no;

A Yes. ,'.

Q What did Mr. Cohen tell you that, you should say when you ;
-

took the Btand? --- ',.,- "

. " -

MR. SANDIER: Objected to .--

as irrelevant, immaterial,,

incompetent and unfair.Ji
:

THE COURT': Objection sustained.

Q, Whs.t did Mr. Cohen say to you out in the corridor?' . . :. : .;. . .. .''
Objected to 'as incompetent. Objection sustained.

Q After Mr. Cohen began to talk to you you were not- - called

as a witness by Mr. Sandler? v

.. Objected to as incompetent.; '

THE COURT: Well, she has not been called as a

witness by'Mr.
, Sandler before or after the talk; -- abjectioHi

sustained.

MR. LLISQHi:
,
Do eo your Honor hold, that tji at is..
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inadmissible because I did not ask MfTiJblierrnnfhathe-Bai'- d
Em- - -

to her?
Jim. fTHE COURT: , It io an immaterial matter and anything

which Cohen said io not hinding on this defendant.

, MR. ELLISON: Your Honor will recall that. counsel

brought out that CoheiL engaged a lawyer-- , and he seems -- to

be the whole ,
t

THE COURT: Well, you cannot bind this defendant that
4

sari
way.

BY THE FOREMAN OP THE JURY;

Q Were you in court yesterday? A In the hall.
Q Bid you hav6 any conversational th the witnesses in the hai

t

A No.

MR. ELLISON: She' started to say that she said some- -

thing to some witness. Ask her again if she said some- -

thing' to the witness.

BY MR. ELLISON:

Q DO you know who the witnesses are in this case?' '

Objected to as immaterial. Objection overruled.

Exception.

A Ho.

Q Welljiid you talk to any people-i- n the hall?'
MR. SANDLER: Objected to as immaterial.

THE COURT: Objection sustained. ghe has already
,t -

said' that' she had a talk with Cohen.- -

i

MR. ELLISON; Your Honor, $he question was asked by
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Y ' Sub

the juror wKe'ther she talked with any of the witneoseo.
IBN '

She aaid no. I then asked if
'

she knew who the witnesses m
IBS
I'- -

m
i were. So evidently she does not know, whether a person is

&.
.a witness; or not. . .

&aLl

J THE COURT: She does not Know, who has been called aB '
f

a witness, and who had not.
BY THE FOREMAN OP THE JURY: V

Q Did you talk with anybody, in the hall about the case?!
'

A With Mr. Cohen.
f

THE FOREMAN: I asked this witness if sie had talked
- to any pf the witnesses and now she says she talked to Mr

Cohen'.- - , .''"THE COURT: She said she didn't know who were wit-ness- es,

she- - knows what a witness is, but not being in the

court room she does not know who haye been witnesses and!
who have not been witnesses. She knows what a witness is

but does not know the 'people who Have been called as wit-

nesses. '"'
MR. EIUSOII : People fest

SAMUEL GOLDBERG, called as a witness in hehalf of

defendant, is duly sworn.tjr
HE COURT; What is this?"-- "

MR. SANDIER: I am going t6 attaak the credibility
of the last witness, that she never had sexual intercourse.

,?il OOURT: ' Xou knew perfectly will t5',t tbt ts a
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o ollateral matter on which you areOundand-you-- a anno tr--

go into collateral matters by which you are bound,

MR. .SANDLER: . Very well, your Honor, r H2 '

F R I E D; A S H I L 6 VI T Z, te complainant herein, re- - iBimwipw9
..''.'.' '.' ...' ' ' j ' ' '

. ..

called by the People, 'testifies as follows:
' ' ' ' "'' " '"' " ' '"'. '

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. ELLISON: -

Q The lawyer for the defendant asked you to produce your

underclothes here that you had on the first night' that you

had intercourse, with this defendant; have y;pu produced them
. i

here? A Yes, sir.
Q Are they in that package? A Yes, sir, they are in that

package, anybody can see them. v .
-

" '";, . "''".' '' 't. - ..'

im. ELLISON -- X offer thedn evidence.

MR. SANDLER:- - Objected to, unless they-are-p- r per ly--

identified. .
.

; . . '',"..
' ' " '' " "- --- --

'
:

. -
THE COURT: She has stated ihat they are the under- -

clothes.
MR . S ANDLER : We 11 , I wo uld like to se e them .'

MR. ELLISON: All right. Go over and handle. them.
i

.-.-

'"'

THF COURT: Is there any objection?.

MR. SANDLER: There is, on the ground that it has not

been proven that the underclothes hich are offered in
V- -

' ',:' " '

..

' :

.

evidence are the underclothes which this def end ant wore.

BY THE COURT": nv
''

.

:;v:: ..-.- . sJ '
.

$ Havs you stn the contents of that package? Do you know
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EFT- - whats-in-that-jr- ac kage ?rA -I--

supjjo a 3?rifc 'W-okan- S6 d--i twhi-l-o E?
H- .-

I they took it.
Q Have you opened the package and do you know what is in-

side? 1

A I put it in there rayself this morning.
"

Q And what did you put in the package this morning? A My

shirt that I wore the time when he ruined me, the- - 28th of October. ' 1

THE GOURT: Objection overruled.
i.M

juk. smuiikK : xour Honor does not. however. reneWa : . z
--:

the underclothes in evidence. '
Now I have aright to

question her on that.
.Received in evidence and marked People's Exhibit 3.'

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. SANDLER:
'

Q What clothes did you have on that night when you" say he
1

ruined you? A I had on a shirt.
A What else? Did you have a nightgown? A . No , sir.
Q Did you have drawers? A No, sir.
Q Didn't you say yesterday that you had drawers? A I didn't

say so.

- Q Well, open "that package."
MMR. ELLISON:- - Well, jiow, --Iobject to the dictatorial

manner of Mr. sandier.
A Wiiy, any doctor can examine that. I suppose the doctoj

knows tjw difference.1

MR. SANDLER: Willyour Honor direct the witness
to open it.
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' THE COURT: If you wish it qponod,- - you may open it. -

Anybody that want o it opened can open it.
Q You had on an undershirt" is that right? A Yes, sir. mi

Q, Will you describe to the iury -,--
r did you suffer any pain? JN

-- M

A Certainly. y .

--
.

: ,

(J Tell the''
jury what happened to you ihe night you s.ay -

'

. .'..,.- - '.'.'' . :;.'.

THE COURT: I will ,np.t allow that-t- o be all gone .into' "

'.- - '

' ' '..'' ' ';''
. again.

MR. SMDIER: The authorities hold thaf I can. ques- -
f''.' w

tion tjhiswitness on everything that heppened, even as to
VJH

, y her f eeTingj'presumaW being a virgin.
J"SI

THE COURT: You can question her about those under-

clothes and ! the, idehtiiy of them and where they have been- -

kept. If you attack the identity of the underolo-the- s you

can question her-o- n that.
Q -- After-this-ffight that you say you were ruined what did

you do wi.th that shirt? A .Well, I kept it..
Q Did you take it to Mrs . Katz1 s house? A No,' I kept it

under the mattresB where - the mat treasher erne ruined me. T ''

.:. ' '
'.

.
, i- -

.-

-
Q You kept it under ,th-6mattres-

s? A Yea, sir, 'till a couple
i 1 3

of days later.- - , --,

Q And what did ycni do with it? A And then November 4th I
rm'gave it to my -- sister,, because . the third ofKovembejcJae told me

that-- he married --me. for-tha- t purpose, to go and hustle, pick up

men,; so I showed it to my si3ter. .
"

,

' From the timf, you' gave it to your;, sister did you have it'-i- m
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your possession? A" r mwi"tTtfny"tiineoT

Q 'How often did you 'see it since 'November 4th? A I saw it
iuuny uxiueu

- v
A'

(J vHp3v many ime s? A Well, I used to see it about three
v i i

or four times during the week, .
Mi, t

Q Did you always look at it? A I always went to my sister to i yHH

eat -- - he used to starve me, he never gave me more than ten

cents, so when I should go up,,-- --
,

Q Whenever you went there yqu took a look at your underwear?'

iSRm ELLISON: I object to that as insulting and sug-gesti- ng.

Q Everytime you went to your sister, to eat, you said... "Let, me

take a look atTtiie shirt"? A Ho," sir,
Q When did you' look at the shirt? A Whenever I went over

to the drawer. I didn't have-m- y trunk "there.

Q How long was it in the drawer? A I didn'tTiave him ar--

rested --- '- when I had him arrested I had the trunk, and then .I
put it in the trunk.

Q Whose trunk havey,oii got?j A His trunk."..Q, ou have stolen his trunk? A Yes, sir." He took my moneys

" "away. -

I

Q With all his papers? A, Yes, sir.
QAnd all his underwear? A I don't, know, with all his

papers.

You have ot'his property today, haven't -- you? ' You have

'wt tungB in.in-- ; tj t&i dftf tndunt? A Yes, .sir.
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Q Did you over off er, to, return, the trunk to him? A Well, .

gig

f riobody asked. rae to. , .

fl
I

q,y You didn't think it worth while to give it back to him)

is that right? A I was over to the 100th street polioo statiom' ?

t 7 and" I asked the-polic- e at the Detective Bureau!
f

O Til H --V nil VAr nffor - ronrvi V10 wmlr 4- - n 4-- Vi 4 n In-- P ifi 0"V j- - -- n w.w ---- .w ww a vuj.lt WiiW Ul UUil. ww W1XD U.GJL BlUtUIUf t

A I didjt know who to. off er
1 j

1.
Q WIie"re was the shirt-afte- r it left your sisterfs house?

- ftA In my trunk - in his trunk.
Q AfTdThow long was it in" the trunk? A All the time.

Q, Was that trunk .under lock and key? A Yes, sir, I have
1

got the key right here, .;

Q' You kept the key to it? A All the time.
Q, 'Anybody else go to that trunk? A Ho, sir. In the place

I worked I kept the key with me, and here I have got the key

, right .here. My sister never dared to look at my trunk.
Q, How was-th- e defendant dressed that night.? -

MR. ELLIgOH:-- , Objected to as immaterial 7 notproper
ffZ X

" cross examination.

.
'"

A

--''THE QgUHT: His underclothes are not produced here.
-

X- - .
W- -

HMMHMNMNmimiMtwrtMMHiniiititm .Objection sustained.
m

" MR. SAIIDEER: , Exception.

Q Did you get up" out qfed that night at all?
t .. v .

MR..-ELUS- 0II: Objeted""fco as irrelevant, immaterial

and inaorapetent, not proper cross examination.

. '. TKg COURT: ObectiffustSTned.. .
" J ;
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"Q Didou-havothe-8hir-lh-he-polioo-cour.tYhenyQ.u-

niado.

the chargo against this man? A No, sir; .4&M' r
v

, Q Why not? A Because I didn't want to see it,
Q Did you offer it? A Oh, well, they didn't ask me, to

Vsee ity.

Q Did you tell them there that you had a shirt? A Tes, sir,.;.
P3ratauhM

'
v. Q And p.b one cared to see it? A No,' sir.

'

Q Didn't the judge aBk to aee it? A What Judge?;" '
.

Q The judge in the police court? A No, sir.
Q Did you tell them about the shirt? A Well, I told them

I got it, but they didn"t want to seelt. They said it ain't 1

I

their duty to see' it. -

?!Q Did District Atto-rne- y Ellison ask to see it? m

MR. ELLIISON: No. I concede thatMr. Sandler' is' the

only one in the whole case that wanted to see it.
A Anybody 'that wants to see it may see it. --

.

MR. SANDLER: I will renew my objection onthe ground

that it is not properly identified.
THE COURT: Objection overruled, and exhibit ad--

mitted.
MR. S'ANDLER; Exception.

V
MR. ELLISON: People rest. "

MR. SANDLER; I respectfully renew the motions made

.at the clo.se of the People's case. Wi3--1 irour Honor '

h
A

direct,t the- - jury to take from their consideration the counrtfc

charging seduction, on the ground, the People have failed



I

to-6tabliBha-criTae-ao-chareeU-

ln-the-indiotmeht-'by

satisfactory legal proof? '
. mt

There are two el orients in seduction which the people m4 O

must prove three elements: One is the promise; second, .

the taking, and, third, that the complaining witness was

of chaste character; and the burden of proof of that

proposition is an the People, The People have failed 'to
prove the burden upon them that' this complaining wtiness

sS

was of previous chaste character as charged in the in-dictm- ent.

The People have failed to corroborate the story of the

complaining witness as required by the statute -- as to the

taking. The proof as submitted, the uncorroborated story

of this complaining witness Ts that the taking occurred om

October 28th, the date charged in the indictment. The

people have failed to meet the proof that this complain--

ing witness had sexual- - intercourse with this defendant at

prior times, and furthermore had sexual connection, with a

stranger a long time prior to the alleged seduction, .

And as to the promise, there is very little corrobor- -
'

tion. V

And on all the grounds set forth I aak your Honor to
- .

take from the jury -- the indictment,

THE COURT: The def aidant .has admitted the promise,
' MR, SAtinEER; The only one element left is the promise. M

I THB COURT: I say th defendant 'has. admitted ttiat he
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lr7 promised"to marry-tleiTl7Tbut-
"-;he

says-he-had-interco-
urse :

is

SB4' previous, '

Be r

MR.. SAIIDIER: The statute requires both.
THE COURT: I know, but you have not . only the-testimon-

y

fwmpsffff???
of the sloters as to the premise , but the defendant

has admi.tted that on the 28th day of October he had pre-viou- sly

promised to marry this girl, but he states that ho
1

states that hehad previous to that had intercourse. IB

MR. SANDLER: Yes; I agree1 on that promise and I
?

t t

admit that is the only element in-t- he case, but the other
elements required are lacking here.

Motion denied. Exception., '
.

? 'Mm

MR. SAIIDLER: How I ask that you take ttie case from

,the jury and direct an acquittal on the ground that the
. "V f

9

People have failed to prove the charge- - set forth in the

indie tiaent. - .

Mqti'on denied. Exception.

tCounSelf now close to the jury.)
The Court now charges the jury.
The jury now retire'1ro--dlibera4erupon'-B--v-eidic- 't

U and upon the"ir return render a verdict finding the defend-

ant guilty of the crime, 'of seduction under promise of

marri age

MR. SAIIDLER: I move to set .aside the verfliot om

the ground that the .verdict is .against the evidence,
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andwLaga itffl ther-w- e ight of--:e vi'dericeand-oontrax- y to-JLa-

wt.

arid I move for an arrest of judgment.
IK' '

Motion denied. Exception.

(Defendant remanded to March 1, 19, for sentenco.)

1- -'

'
' J

1

I

-- .4

x. -

V'T

u
Stewart liddell,

Official Stenographer.
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